# RISK AND ADAPTATION BEHAVIOUR TO SEA-LEVEL RISE IN COASTAL RURAL COMMUNITIES IN GHANA

BY

## ADADE, Richard

### (PhD/SPS/FT/2019/11124)

## WEST AFRICAN SCIENCE SERVICE CENTRE ON CLIMATE CHANGE AND ADAPTED LAND USE (WASCAL)

## FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY MINNA

JANUARY, 2024

### **RISK AND ADAPTATION BEHAVIOUR TO SEA-LEVEL RISE IN COASTAL**

### **RURAL COMMUNITIES IN GHANA**

BY

### ADADE, Richard

### (PhD/SPS/FT/2019/11124)

### THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY, MINNA, NIGERIA IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (PhD) IN CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN HABITAT

JANUARY, 2024

### **DECLARATION**

I hereby declare that this thesis **"Risk and Adaptation Behaviour to Sea-Level Rise in Coastal Rural Communities in Ghana"** is a collection of my original research work and has not been presented for any other qualification anywhere. Information from other sources (published or unpublished has duly been acknowledged.

ADADE RICHARD (PhD/SPS/FT/2019/11124) FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY MINNA, NIGERIA

SIGNATURE/DATE

### CERTIFICATION

The thesis tiled "Risk and Adaptation Behaviour to Sea-Level Rise in Coastal Rural Communities in Ghana" by: ADADE, Richard (PhD/SPS/FT/2019/11124) meets the regulations governing the award of the degree of PhD of the Federal University of Technology, Minna and it is approved for its contribution to scientific knowledge and literary presentation.

PROF. JAIYE DUKIYA

MAJOR SUPERVISOR

PROF. N.A.B KLUTSE

**CO-SUPERVISOR** 

DR. MICHAEL THIEL

**CO-SUPERVISOR** 

PROF. A.A OKHIMAMHE

DIRECTOR OF WASCAL, CCHH

ENGR PROF. O.K ABUBAKRE DEAN OF POSTGRADUATE SCHOOL

Signature& Date

Signature & Date

Signature & Date

Signature & Date

.....

Signature & Date

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My sincere gratitude goes to the West African Services Centre for Climate Change and Adapted Land Use (WASCAL) for providing the necessary financial support to conduct this research. I also express profound gratitude to my supervisors, Prof. Dukiya Jaiye, Prof. Nana Ama Browne Klutse and Dr. Micheal Thiel, for their professional and scientific guidance, advice, encouragement, and the goodwill with which they guided this work. I am grateful to Prof. Appolonia Okhimamhe and the staff of WASCAL CC& HH for the support they offered to me in the course of this work. I am grateful to the Centre for Coastal Management, University of Cape Coast for providing me with data and material for the study. Special thanks to Mr. Bernard Ekumah for his expert contribution in structuring aspects of the work. The communities of Sawoma, Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman were very cooperative and supportive of this study. My appreciation goes to the leaders and members of these communities. I also appreciate Miss Harriet Quarshie, Miss Bernice Aikins, Mr. Kojo Agyenim-Boateng and Miss Adizatu Abass for their selfless assistance during the field data collection. I am grateful to my Heavenly Father for life and good health throughout the research period, and, to my family and friends for their unflinching support and encouragement throughout the period of conducting this research work.

### ABSTRACT

Most coastal rural communities in Ghana are particularly vulnerable to sea level rise because of poverty, remoteness and isolation from central planning agencies. Understanding future sea-level rise (SLR) risk levels and community adaptation behavior is critical in implementing climate change adaptation strategies. This study assessed the risk level of sea rise and adaptation behavior within three coastal rural communities in Ghana namely, Sawoma, Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman.

The study employed an innovative mixed-methods approach that combines spatial data (UAV and satellite imagery), questionnaire surveys, Focus Group Discussion (FGD) and expert knowledge. Data obtained from both primary and secondary were analysed to generate scores for each component of risk based on the IPPCC AR5 climate risk concept which was then aggregated to obtain risk level scores for each study community. The study utilized a multistage sampling technique to select household respondents and purposive sampling for participants for the Focus Group Discussion (FDG). Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to quantitatively describe and summarize the data collected. The Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM) was employed to simulate the effects of various sea level rise scenarios on rural coastal communities. Multinomial logistic regression was then employed to identify the factors that predict residents' intention to relocate.

Results from the study indicated that cumulative impacts resulting from both erosion/accretion and inundation, on average of about  $1.67 \pm 0.72$  km<sup>2</sup> of rural coastal community land will likely be impacted for up to 1.4 m SLR scenario for Sawoma (0.11  $\pm$ 0.03 km<sup>2</sup>), Anlo Beach (0.38  $\pm$  0.12 km<sup>2</sup>) and Glefe-wiaboman (0.18  $\pm$  0.56 km<sup>2</sup>). Socioecological vulnerability levels were high in areas where there were human settlements and critical ecosystems. The levels varied between 0.43 and 0.60, with Anlo Beach recording the highest score of 0.60, as anticipated due to its highest ecological vulnerability score. Sawoma and Glefe-wiaboman reported vulnerability scores of 0.43 and 0.49, respectively. In terms of risk to SLR, Glefe-wiaboman community will likely be at high-risk (0.75 - 1)whilst Anlo beach and Sawoma likely be at medium (0.25 - 0.49) and low-risk (0 - 0.24)levels respectively. The high SLR risk level in Glefe-wiaboman is exacerbated by its lowlying topography, high population density and beach sand mining. Also, the study revealed that cognitive and compositional factors (p-value < 0.05) are more important than contextual factors for predicting the relocation intention of coastal rural communities in Ghana. Thus, the study advocated for intensive education on the effects of future sea-level rise impacts on communities and the benefits of relocating vulnerable coastal rural communities.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

Cover Page	i
Title page	ii
Declaration	iii
Certification	iiv
Acknowledgments	v
Abstract	ivi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Plates	xv
List of Appendices	xivi
List of Abbreviations	xvii
CHAPTER ONE	1
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background To The Study	1
1.2 Statement Of The Research Problem	2
1.3 Research Questions	4
1.4 Aim And Objectives	5
1.5 Justification Of The Study	6
1.6 Description Of The Study Area	8
1.6.1 Geographical Location And Map Of Study	8
1.6.2 Climatic Condition Of The Area	11

1.6.3 Relief And Drainage Of The Area	11
1.6.4 Soil And Vegetation Of The Area	12
1.6.5 Socio-Economic Activities Of The Area	12
1.7 Scope Of The Study	13
1.8 Limitation Of The Study	13
CHAPTER TWO	15
2.1 Conceptual Framework	15
2.2 Theoretical Framework	18
2.2.1 IPCC AR5 Climate Risk Assessment Concept	18
2.2.2 Sustainable Livelihood Framework	21
2.2.3 Common International Classification Of Ecosystem Services (CICES)	23
2.2.4 Protection Motivation Theory	24
2.3 Review Of Related Studies	26
2.3.1 Global Overview Of Sea Level Rise Risk	26
2.3.2 Impacts Of Sea Level Rise On Socio-Ecological Systems	27
2.3.3 Responses To Sea Level Rise Risk	29
2.3.4 Concept Of Risk, Exposure And Vulnerability	32
2.3.5 Risk Experience, Perception, And Adaptive Behaviour Nexus	38
2.3.6 Sea Level Rise Modelling Approaches	40
2.3.6.1 Coastclim Sea-Level Simulator	40
2.3.6.2 The National Oceanic And Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Inundation Frequency Analysis Program	41
2.3.6.3 Coastal Storm Modeling System (Cosmos)	41
2.3.6.4 Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM)	42

2.4 Examples From Other Regions/Countries	43
2.5 Overview And Key Issues Of The Study	45
2.5.1 Overview Of Global And Regional Sea Level Measurements	45
2.5.2 Key Issues Of The Study	47
CHAPTER THREE	51
3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	51
3.1 Description Of Materials	51
3.1.1 Spatial Data	51
3.1.2 Non-Spatial Data	52
3.2 Methods Of Data Collection	54
3.2.1 Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Survey	55
3.2.1 Social Survey	57
3.3 Data Analysis	62
3.3.1 Analysis Of Shoreline Data	62
3.3.2 Generation Of Mosaicked Orthophoto And Digital Terrain Model	63
3.3.3 Land Use/Cover Mapping	63
3.3.4 Sea-Level Rise Risk Assessment	64
3.3.4.1 Sea-Level Rise Hazard Modelling	64
3.3.4.2 Mapping Elements Exposed To Sea Level Rise	66
3.3.4.3 Socio-Ecological Vulnerability Assessment	67
3.3.4.4 Sea- Level Rise Risk Level Assessment	70
3.3.5 Assessment Of Respondent's Relocation Intention	72
3.4 Method Of Data Presentation	74

CHAPTER FOUR	75
4.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	75
4.1 Results	75
4.1.1 Impacts Of Coastal Hazards On Rural Coastal Communities In Ghana	75
4.1.1.1 Shoreline Changes Between 1974 And 2021	75
4.1.1.2 Impact Of Different Sea Level Rise Scenarios On The Study Communities	80
4.1.2 Mapping Elements Exposure To Sea Level Rise Impacts	86
4.1.2.1 Land Use/Cover (LULC) In Study Communities Exposed To Different SLR	
Scenarios	86
4.1.2.2 People Likely To Be Exposed To Different SLR Scenarios	90
4.1.2.3 People With Experience Of Sea-Level Impacts	90
<ul> <li>4.1.3. Assessment Of Vulnerability Of The Rural Coastal Socio-Ecological Systems Sea-Level Rise (SLR) Impacts</li> <li>4.1.3.1 Socio-Economic Vulnerability Components</li> </ul>	To 91 92
4.1.3.2 Ecological Vulnerability	103
<ul> <li>4.1.4 Assessment Of Risk Levels Of The Rural Coastal Communities To Sea-Level F (SLR) Impacts</li> <li>4.1.4.1 Impacts Of Coastal Hazards On Study Communities</li> </ul>	₹ise 106 107
4.1.4.2 Community Exposure To SLR	107
4.1.4.3 Socio-Ecological Vulnerability Of The Study Communities	107
4.1.4.4 SLR Risk Levels In The Study Communities	108
<ul><li>4.1.5. Factors Influencing Household's Relocation Intention In Response To Anticipa Of Sea-Level Rise</li><li>4.1.5.1 Descriptive Statistics Of Variables Used In The Study</li></ul>	ation 108 108
4.1.5.2 Measures Of Association Between Factors Considered In The Study	114
4.1.5.3 Factors Affecting Relocation Decision	116

4.2. Discussion Of Results	119
4.3. Summary Of Findings	127
CHAPTER FIVE	129
5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 129	
5.1 Conclusions	129
5.2 Recommendations	130
5.2.1 Recommendations On Policy Improvement	130
5.2.2 Recommendations On Performance Improvement	131
5.2.3. Sugestions For Further Research	132
5.3 Contributions To The Body Of Knowledge	133
REFERENCES	134
APPENDICES	149

## LIST OF TABLES

TablePage	e
Table 2.1: Description of the Various Categories of Ecosystem Services	23
Table 3.1: Summary of data types and sources for the study	54
Table 3.2: Equation for calculating risk components	71
<ul> <li>Table 3.3: Varimax-rotated component analysis factor matrix and Cronbach's α v for the cognitive variables</li> <li>Table 4.1: Proportion of land use/covers in study communities in 2021</li> </ul>	alues 73 87
Table 4.2: Characteristics of community sensitivity level	93
Table 4.3: Change in area (Km <sup>2</sup> ) coastal ecosystems induced by different SLR scenarios Table 4.4: Ecosystem service availability by habitat	104 105
Table 4.5: Cumulative ecological vulnerability index for the study communities	106
Table 4.6: Indices for hazard, exposure, vulnerability, and risk for the study communities Table 4.7: Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents	106 110
Table 4.8: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) results of Cognitive factors and relocation         Table 4.0: Distribution	tion 115
Table 4.9: Distribution of compositional and contextual variables by predictor variables.         Table 4.10: Ordered locistic recreasion model showing the relation between relations.	115
intention and household characteristics.	auon 117

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure   Pa	age
Figure 1.1: Map of southern Ghana showing the study communities in regional context.	9
Figure 1.2: Maps showing the locations of the study communities and their proximity major rivers.	to 10
Figure 2.1: Conceptual framework for the study	17
Figure 2.2: Fundamental concept of climate risk	21
Figure 2.3: Sustainable Livelihood Framework	22
Figure 2.4: Protection Motivation Theory	26
Figure 3.1: Sample grids for the three study communities.	59
Figure 3.2: Summary of the sampling procedure for selection of respondents for the study.	60
Figure 3.3: Methodological workflow for Sea-level rise impact modelling	66
Figure 3.4: Quadrant framework for ecological vulnerability assessment	69
Figure 3.5: Methodological workflow for socio-ecological vulnerability assessment	70
Figure 4.1: Shoreline change and trends in Sawoma community for the period 1974-2021	77
Figure 4.2: Shoreline change and trends in Anlo Beach community for the period 1974-2021	78
Figure 4.3: Shoreline change and trends in Glefe-wiaboman community for the period 1974-2021	79
Figure 4.4: Quantification of land area impacted by (a) Erosion (b) Inundation and (c) Cumulative hazard	82
Figure 4.5: Land area impacted by coastal erosion/inundation due to increased SLR in Sawoma	83
Figure 4.6: Land area impacted by coastal erosion/inundation due to increased SLR in Anlo Beach	84
Figure 4./: Land area impacted by coastal erosion/inundation due to increased SLR in Glefe-wiaboman	85
Sawoma (b) Anlo Beach and (c) Glefe-wiaboman	89
rigure 4.9. Number of people likely to be exposed to SLK impacts	90

Figure 4.10: Respondents' experience of sea-level impacts (Coastal erosion/flooding)	
in the study communities	91
Figure 4.11: Sensitivity levels of the study communities	96
Figure 4.12: Percentage of response for adaptive capacity indicator in (a) Sawoma	0.0
(b) Anlo Beach and (c) Glete-wiaboman	98
Figure 4.13: Adaptive capacity levels of the study communities	100
Figure 4.12: Socio-economic vulnerability levels of the study communities	102
Figure 4.15: Scored values of factors associated with (a) Threat Appraisal (TA) (b)	
Coping Appraisal (CA) and (c) Risk Perception (RP)	111
Figure 4.16: Respondents' experience of sea-level impacts (Coastal erosion/flooding)	
in the study communities	112
Figure 4.15: Respondents proximity to shoreline in the study communities	113

## LIST OF PLATES

Plate	Page
Plate 3.1: Micasense camera-equipped UAV used for aerial photography.	56
Plate 3.2: Measuring the geographic location of Ground Control Point (GCP)	56
Plate 3.3: Researcher facilitating focus group discussion session at Sawoma	61

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix		Page
А.	Questionnaire for household respondents	149
В.	Questionnaire for experts in coastal ecosystems	156
C.	Focus Group Discussion Guide	158
D.	LULC matrix in km <sup>2</sup> for different sea level scenarios in Study area	159
E.	Multiple Comparisons between compositional/contextual factors and cognitive factors	162

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	
AGL	Above Ground Level
CICES	Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services
CoSMos	Coastal Storm Modeling System
DEM	Digital Elevation Model
DRA	Disaster Risk Assessment
DRR	Disaster Risk Reduction
DSAS	Digital Shoreline Analysis Software
DTM	Digital Terrain Model
DSM	Digital Surface Model
EbA	Ecosystem-based Adaptation
EFA	Exploratory Factor Analysis
EPR	End Point Rate
ESA	Europe Space Agency
FGD	Focus Group Discussion
GCP	Ground Control Point
GIA	Glacial Isostatic Adjustment
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
GMSL	Global Mean Sea-level
GPS	Global Positioning System
GSS	Ghana Statistical service
HWL	High Water Line
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LRR	Linear Regression Rate
LULC	Land use/cover
NADMO	National Disaster Management Organization

NAPA	National Adaptation Programmes of Action
NDMI	Normalised Difference Moisture Index
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
NEP	National Environmental Policy
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
РМТ	Protection Motivation Theory
RCP	Representative Concentration Pathway
RS	Remote Sensing
SFM	Structure from Motion
SLAMM	Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model
SLF	Sustainable Livelihood Framework
SLR	Sea Level Rise
UAV	Unmanned Aerial Vehicle
UNDHA	United Nations Department of Humanitarian Affairs

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background to the study

The Earth's climate has undergone profound transformations in recent decades, emerging as a pressing global issue characterized by existential threats to humanity. This transformation is epitomized by the escalating global mean sea-level rise driven by thermal expansion caused by ocean warming, as well as the depletion of glaciers and ice sheets. Studies have shown a higher possibility of sea level rise in the 21st century if the Antarctic and Antarctica ice sheets sections were to collapse (Church et al., 2013; DeConto and Pollard, 2016; Nerem et al., 2018). Analysis of satellite altimetry data from 1993 to 2015, reveals that sea surface height increased nearly three times more than the previous years (Chen et al., 2017; Dieng et al., 2017). According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's fifth assessment report (AR5), the average global sea level will likely rise to between 28-68 cm and 52-98 cm by 2100 (RCP 2.6 and 8.5, respectively) based on process-based model projections (Church et al., 2013; Stocker et al., 2013). Changes in sea level rise have already impacted coastal communities by increasing the risk of flooding and/or erosion of beaches and infrastructure. The rise of sea level has resulted in detrimental effects on crucial marine environments with significant ecological and economic value, including productive estuaries, coastal wetlands, and coral reefs (Addo et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2014).

1.0

Coastal areas with low elevations face increasing susceptibility to the impacts of rising sea levels and the intensified frequency of extreme events, such as storms linked to climate change. Furthermore, these areas bear the burden of dense populations and rapid urbanization, amplifying their vulnerability to the multifaceted challenges posed by climate change (Neumann *et al.*, 2015). About 10 percent of the world's population, along with 13 percent of the world's urban inhabitants, reside in regions situated at an elevation of less than 10 meters above sea level. Remarkably, these areas account for merely 2 percent of the Earth's total land area. (McGranahan *et al.*, 2007). The substantial increase in coastal population has resulted in extensive transformation of natural coastal landscapes for agricultural, industrial, and residential purposes, rendering coastal areas as the most economically vibrant regions (Crossland *et al.*, 2005).

Increased sea-level are causing recurring and more serious coastal floods leading to forced migration in coastal areas. Sea level rise also contributes to the loss of lives, homes and infrastructure. For instance, between 1995 and 2000, floods and tidal waves in North Korea contributed to the relocation of 300,000-400,000 persons to China's urban centres. Furthermore, the devastation of both human lives and essential infrastructure in the northern Gulf of Mexico as a result of the 2005 Katrina and Rita hurricanes emphasizes the peril posed by rising sea levels to coastal regions. The tragic events of the 1970 Bhola cyclone, which claimed the lives of half a million people in Bangladesh, serve as a stark reminder of the potential for loss of life in vulnerable, low-lying coastal areas (Garrison, 2012).

The relationship between shoreline/beach changes and relative sea levels has been established in many locations. For example, at the Chao-Phraya Delta in Thailand (Uehara

*et al.*, 2010), the Niger Delta in Nigeria (Musa *et al.*, 2014), along the coast of the US (Ding *et al.*, 2013; Yin *et al.*, 2010) and the beaches of Morocco (Snoussi *et al.*, 2008) and in Europe (Yates and Le Cozannet, 2012). The environmental consequences of sea-level rise on coastal areas may not be limited to increased flooding and erosion, but also loss of vital coastal ecosystems such as mangroves. Mangrove ecosystems are resilient to an increase in sea level due to their land migration ability (Di Nitto *et al.*, 2014); however, they are among those intertidal that are highly vulnerable to sea level rise associated with climate change.

Using spatial techniques and ground surveys Ellison and Zouh (2012) established that over the past three decades, coastal edges of mangroves in Cameroon witnessed an annual dieback of more than two-thirds of the shoreline and a depletion of up to 89 percent on offshore mangrove island. Similarly, Lovelock et al., (2017) also monitored a mangrove forest in northwestern Australia for sixteen years and concluded that fluctuations in sea level have negative effects on some mangrove forests. Studies have shown that a large number of low-lying coastal areas in sub-Saharan African countries are exposed to the impacts of sea-level rise (Jongman et al., 2012; Dasgupta et al., 2009). Coastal erosion and floods in West Africa pose a significant threat to communities, livelihoods and investments. According to the World Bank report in 2017, at least 55 million Africans live in areas that are less than 10 meters above sea level and an average of 500 000 people who live on the coastline of West Africa are adversely affected by flooding, worsening coastal erosion annually. In some low-lying coastal areas, especially the eastern part of Ghana, the coastline is eroding by 20 metres or more per year (The World Bank, 2017). The vulnerability of West Africa's coast to the impacts of sea-level rise can be due to high economic and industrial growth concentrations, increased population and low adaptability due to chronic poverty, and weak planning (Dasgupta, *et al.*, 2009).

Climate risk hazards such as coastal erosion and inundation pose a significant threat to human lives, livelihoods, natural habitats and properties along Ghana's coastline. While Ghana's coastal region occupies only 7 percent of the nation's total land area, it accommodates roughly a quarter of the country's population and plays a crucial role by hosting approximately 75 percent of its major businesses and industries (Armah *et al.*, 1998; Ghana Statistical Service (GSS), 2013). Local sea level estimates suggest an accelerated sea-level rise by 2100. More recently, Evadzi *et al.*, (2017) revealed that considering various sea-level rise scenarios (2.6, 4.5, and 8.5 RCPs) and assuming that sea-level rise will account for 31 percent of future shoreline retreat, approximately 6.6, 4.7, and 5.8 meters of coastal terrain in Ghana, characterized by the lowest slope range (0–0.4 percent), is anticipated to become inundated by the year 2025. These increases are expected to grow to 19.8, 20.7 and 24.3 mm in 2050; 36.6, 51.6 and 83.9 mm by 2100 in the case of RCPs of 2, 6, 4.5 and 8.5 in 2050, respectively.

Since early 2000, several studies have been conducted in Ghana to assess rural coastal vulnerability to sea-level rise impacts. For instance, Addo *et al.*, (2018) used remote sensing techniques to determine sea-level rise impacts in the Fuveme community in the Volta Region of Ghana. The study revealed that the detrimental effects of rising sea levels had placed rural livelihoods and properties in jeopardy. Additionally, it came to light that over a span of 12 years (from 2005 to 2017), coastal erosion and flooding had obliterated over 77 homes, leaving more than 300 residents without shelter. Also, Osman *et al.* (2016) used ethnography and Geographic Information System (GIS) techniques to assess flood

risk within the Ankobra estuary. The finding of the study revealed that the majority of settlements were in the extreme to high-risk areas and recommended that residents in these areas should be relocated to low-risk zones.

Adaptation strategies to curb the risk of increasing sea level requires regulations, plans and measures to reduce risks and create resilience against rising sea level rise. The strategies include the protection of the coast, the accommodation of impacts of sea level rise, retreat from the coast, and Ecosystem-based Adaptation (EbA). Ghana has over the years implemented protective measures such as the construction of groynes and revetment to serve as barriers to sea waves in major cities and towns including Accra, Cape Coast and Takoradi to prevent sea erosion and flooding. These hard engineering measures cost the government of Ghana approximately US\$60-90 million for 10-25 km (The World Bank, 2017). Protection adaptation strategy has potential longevity but is costly to build and maintain (Tol *et al.*, 2005) and it can have adverse impacts, such as changing sediment dynamics in other areas (Jayson-Quashigah *et al.*, 2019). For vulnerable rural communities like Anlo Beach and Sawoma, planned retreat is often proposed; however, relocation costs are often underestimated as losses of future social and cultural value are not always adequately taken into account (The World Bank, 2017).

Rural coastal communities experience double jeopardy of direct risk to human lives and indirect risk to important ecosystem services due to the dire consequences of the sea-level rise (Addo *et al.*, 2018; Dasgupta *et al.*, 2015; Hino *et al.*, 2017; Kankam *et al.*, 2016; Osman *et al.*, 2016). A report by GSS (2013) established that rural areas in Ghana experience a 13.7 percent higher poverty headcount compared to the national average of 24.2 percent. The main contributors to rural poverty are low wages, limited savings,

inadequate education, and a heavy dependence on natural resources. In addition to these, the remoteness and isolation of coastal rural areas from central planning agencies make them more vulnerable to the impacts of sea-level rise (Bhattachan *et al.*, 2018).

Knowledge of future sea-level rise impacts provides the framework for risk level assessment, strategies for building resilience, urgent action assessment, reliability and cost-effectiveness evaluation of options, and stakeholder participation and empowerment in adaptive systems (Marshall *et al.*, 2013). An effective and sustainable solution to the impacts of sea-level rise requires a detailed mapping and understanding of the local sea-level dynamics as well as its impacts on socio-ecological systems. Hence, this study's main aim is to assess the sea level rise risk levels and adaptation behaviour in three rural coastal communities in Ghana.

#### **1.2 Statement of the Research Problem**

The heavy reliance of rural coastal communities on natural resources for their livelihoods, recreation, and settlements makes them highly vulnerable to the serious threat of climateinduced natural disasters (Field et al., 2014). Coastal rural communities in Ghana face various risks, including those stemming from rising sea levels, which lead to storm surges, floods, erosion, and flash floods from rivers. For decades, some of these rural communities have been experiencing excessive tidal inundation from both sea-level rise and river flash floods from the river, resulting in the loss of settlements and livelihood assets. Whereas indigenous knowledge had been used to predict the likelihood of floods in the past, climate change has rendered this ineffective as these disasters have become more erratic, thereby making these communities more vulnerable. For instance, the entire settlement in Anlo Beach has been at risk for several years of coastal erosion and sea-level rise. Twice a year, seawater floods the community for several weeks and destroys properties and obstructs economic development. During the flood in July 2009, 78 houses were demolished (Coastal Resources Centre, 2013). Similar incidences have also been noted in Fuveme between 2005 and 2017, where around 77 homes, about 42.0 percent of the total homes, were destroyed due to erosion in the Fuveme community. The destruction of the homes led to the displacement and resettlement of more than 300 residents within the community (Addo et al., 2018). In addition to mangrove harvesting for the sustenance of rural livelihoods, the decline of mangrove ecosystems in these areas has been significantly exacerbated by rising sea levels, resulting in the loss of coastal and intertidal habitats. Mangroves provide a multitude of ecological and socioeconomic benefits to both humans and various organisms. They serve as vital breeding habitats for fish, offering a numerous

supply of nutrients to support a diverse aquatic ecosystem (Benzeev *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, mangroves play a crucial role in safeguarding shorelines from powerful winds, erosion, and currents (Doughty *et al.*, 2019) among other essential functions. Moreover, these ecosystems contribute to various sectors, such as fisheries and tourism, generating products, income, and employment opportunities, as well as a diverse array of wood and non-wood forest products (Palacios and Cantera, 2017).

Although, the government's prioritization of adaptation strategies, there is insufficient understanding of individual-level adaptation, especially in the coastal rural areas. According to Amos et al., (2015), climate change adaptation strategies will be ineffective unless they are implemented in the context of households' perceptions of climate change risk and self-efficacy in hazard mitigation. Despite the fact that several studies have highlighted the factors that influence climate change adaptation efforts globally (Boyer-Villemaire et al., 2014; Fosu-Mensah et al., 2012; Gebrehiwot and Van Der Veen, 2013), nonetheless, there are few studies on people's attitudes toward sea-level rise risk and adaptation strategies (Song and Peng, 2017). More importantly, there are few studies linking behavioural aspects to adaptation to sea-level rise in Ghana. This study, therefore, employed an innovative mixed-methods approach that combined Geographic Information Systems (GIS), Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAV) technologies, household survey, modelled data and expert knowledge to assess the risk and adaptation behaviour to different scenarios of sea-level rise in Sawoma, Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman rural communities in Ghana. Drawing from the study, a good understanding of sea-level rise risk can provide the basis for policy and adaptation strategy improvement or formulation for rural coastal communities which are mostly neglected in climate change assessments.

### **1.3 Research Questions**

- 1. How will different sea level rise scenarios impact the study communities?
- 2. What socio-ecological systems in the study communities will likely be exposed to sea level rise impacts?
- 3. How vulnerable are the rural coastal socio-ecological systems to the impacts of projected sea-level rise?
- 4. What are the risk levels of the rural coastal communities to impacts of projected sea-level rise?
- 5. What factors influence the household intention to relocate in anticipation of sealevel rise?

### **1.4 Aim and Objectives**

The aim of the study is to assess the risk levels and adaptation behaviour of residents of selected coastal rural communities in anticipation of sea-level rise. The specific objectives area to:

- i. Model the impacts of different sea-level rise scenarios on study communities.
- Map the elements exposed to impacts of projected sea-level rise within the study communities.
- Assess the vulnerability of the rural coastal socio-ecological systems to impacts of projected sea-level rise.
- Assess the risk levels of the rural coastal communities under study to impacts of projected sea-level rise.
- v. Examine the factors influencing household's relocation intention in response to anticipation of sea-level rise.

### 1.5 Justification for the Study

(a) **Policy Improvement**: The study will provide vital information to the national data which is essential in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals; Sustainable Cities and Communities (Goal 11) and Climate Action (Goal 13). The study will also identify and generate a risk index for the rural socio-ecological systems in the three communities. This information will aid coastal managers in the district to plan a disaster response. This study will also provide the basis for policy and adaptation strategy improvement or formulation for other vulnerable rural coastal communities.

(b) **Performance Improvement**: It will also provide relevant information for various stakeholders and policymakers such as the District Assemblies and the National Disaster Management Organisation (NADMO) on a comprehensive approach for assessing the potential impacts and responses to sea-level change. It will highlight how to link social and remotely sensed data such as UAV images and high-resolution DTM for assessing sea-level rise impacts and adaptation strategies. The research aims to enhance the understanding of future consequences of sea-level rise within the study areas in terms of its spatial extent and intensity. Encompassing factors like spatial reach and severity. This information is vital and essential for land use mapping and adaptation planning in the locality.

(c) **Body of knowledge**: Although the impacts of sea-level rise and corresponding adaptation may be one of the most costly aspects of climate change (Margulis *et al.*, 2010), few studies have assessed this impact on rural socio-ecological systems globally (Bhattachan *et al.*, 2018; Genua-Olmedo *et al.*, 2016; Smart, 2019). In Ghana, most studies on risk, vulnerability and adaptation strategies of coastal areas to the impacts of sea-level

rise generally focused on either the entire country or coastal urban and peri-urban areas where great losses are envisaged, however, the rural coastal areas face unique adaptation challenges because of their dependence on natural resources (Addo, 2013;Addo, 2014, Addo, 2015; Addo *et al.*, 2008; Jonah *et al.*, 2016a; Yankson *et al.*, 2017). The few studies conducted in rural areas mostly considered flood risk to people but without assessment of sea-level rise risk on socio-ecological systems and its associated adaptation (Addo *et al.*, 2018; Jayson-Quashigah *et al.*, 2019; Osman *et al.*, 2016). These studies are also distinct from the socio-ecological datasets and the Digital Elevation Model (DEM) used for modelling SLR impacts. Few studies have explored all these dimensions together. This study will address these gaps by comprehensively assessing the impacts of increased coastal flooding and erosion on the rural population and their livelihood assets as well as adaptation strategies using different socio-economic and sea-level rise scenarios.

(d) **Further Research**: Lastly, the study has the potential to encourage further research on sea-level rise impacts and adaptation options in climate change studies.

### **1.6 Description of the Study Area**

### 1.6.1 Geographical location and map of study

The study was carried out in three rural coastal communities in the Greater Accra and Western Regions of Ghana (Figure 1.1). The three selected study rural communities, namely Sawoma (latitudes 4° 54' 08.925.3" N; 4° 54' 09.6" N and longitudes 2° 16' 14.1" E44.2" W; 2° 15' 54.4" W), Anlo Beach (latitudes 5° 14' 01' 42.8" N; 5.4" N;° 02' 16.6" N and longitudes 1° 36'37' 12.3" W; 1° 35' 28.9" W) and Glefe-wiboman (latitudes 5° 30' 59.1" N; 5° 31' 3.2" N; 20.2" N and longitudes 0° 17' 21.218' 16.1" W; 0° 16' 57.3" W) have been identified as coastal erosion and flooding hotspots with reports of loss of settlements and livelihood assets. The proximity to some major estuaries and wetlands of these three communities makes them highly susceptible to impacts from sea level rise. (Figure 1.2). These communities were selected based on certain criteria, namely rural areas, estuarine communities, and documented reports of frequent coastal flooding and erosion.



Figure 1.1: Southern Ghana showing the study communities in the regional context. Source: Author, 2023



Figure 1.2: Locations of the study communities and their proximity to major rivers. Source: Author, 2023

#### **1.6.2 Climatic condition of the area**

The study communities experience a dry equatorial climate characterized by two distinct peak rainfall periods. The primary rainy season spans from March to June, while the secondary season occurs from September through November. This is followed by a dry period extending from December to March. The coastal savannah region of Ghana maintains consistently high temperatures throughout the year, with an annual mean temperature of 26.5°C. Monthly temperatures range from 24.5°C in August to 28°C in March, while daytime temperatures average around 30°C in August. Humidity levels generally range from 65 percent to 95 percent, but they tend to decrease during the warmer months, notably in January when dry northeast harmattan winds prevail (Simmering and Perone, 2013).

#### 1.6.3 Relief and drainage of the area

The study communities lie within the low-lying part of the country with elevation in most parts less than 10 metres above sea level. These low-lying coastal plains, situated at the mouths of the Ankobra, Pra, and Densu rivers, are occasionally prone to flooding and are frequently affected by tidal waves, resulting in the displacement of residents. The study communities do experience periodic flooding due to the interplay of factors including sea level rise, discharge from the adjacent river, rainfall and the storage capacity of the wetland. The topographic settings of the wetlands and drainage characteristics of study areas do not permit the fast evacuation of flood water from the upstream tributaries, this often results in a more muted flood response. Main water sources are pipe-borne water, boreholes and hand-dug wells. However, Sawoma and Anlo beach communities still lag in the supply of potable water. They depend mostly on rainwater, and rivers which are mostly polluted by mining activities upstream. This has rendered these communities highly disadvantaged in terms of access to potable water.

#### **1.6.4 Soil and vegetation of the area**

The study communities are characterized by a combination of sandy and clay loamy soils, with a prevalence of alluvial soil. The vegetative landscape consists of coastal strands, mangroves, and freshwater vegetation. Along the estuaries, you can find mangroves from the genera Avicennia, Rhizophora, and Laguncularia lining the banks. In the adjacent marshlands, the predominant vegetation is the saltwater grass Paspalum vaginatum (Poaceae). Unfortunately, the mangrove trees are extensively exploited as the primary source of firewood for cooking and smoking fish in these communities, leading to the degradation of the mangrove forest. These low-lying coastal plains, situated at the mouths of the Ankobra, Pra, and Densu rivers, are occasionally prone to flooding and are frequently affected by tidal waves, resulting in the displacement of residents.

#### 1.6.5 Socio-economic activities of the area

Beach seining fishing and fish mongering serve as the primary sources of livelihood in the study communities, with this occupation being active from mid-July through late April. Typically, fishing is predominantly carried out by men, while women are primarily engaged in fish processing. Following April, subsistence farming becomes the prevailing occupation, lasting for approximately three months during the off-fishing season. The community then reverts to fishing around mid-July or early August for the main fishing season. In certain communities, a minority also partakes in agricultural activities, cultivating crops such as cowpeas, sweet potatoes, maize, okra, tomatoes, peppers, and more. Furthermore, a significant portion of the community's inhabitants are involved in livestock rearing, with cattle, sheep, goats, pigs, and poultry being commonly raised animals within the community.

### **1.7 Scope of the Study**

The scope of the study was delimited to three rural coastal communities in three coastal regions of Ghana. These communities were selected based on recent and past reports of loss of settlements and livelihood assets resulting from sea-level rise. Also, these communities' proximity to major estuaries and a wetland in Ghana makes them suitable for the study.

The SLR scenarios considered in this study were based on the projections AR5 IPCC RCP 8.5 up to 2090. Sea level rise risk modelling was conducted under four higher sea level scenarios – corresponding to the upper limit of projected levels for years 2030, 2050, 2070, and 2090 outlined in IPCC AR5, Additionally, a baseline scenario (2021) representing present-day conditions. Shoreline positions for the years 1975, 2005 and 2021 UAV imagery were considered due to data availability.

The heads of households were selected as respondents for the survey in the study communities. This is because they are the primary earners of various households in the communities and any impacts on their social and economic well-being will significantly affect the other members of their household.

### 1.8 Limitation of the Study

One of the major limitations of this study was the respondents' inability to quantify their lost properties to the impacts of sea-level rise level which has an effect on the quality of the damage loss assessment. However, the researcher study relied on literature to estimate these losses. Also, the coastal terrain posed a major challenge to the appropriateness of the Ground Control Points (GCP) for the UAV survey since wetlands and beaches cover most
areas in these communities. This was overcome by ensuring that the GCPs were well distributed throughout the study area before the flights. The study employed a "bathtub" modelling which did not include other physical processes such as wave actions, sedimentation and storm surges. However, it provides some guidance and raises awareness that SLR is a threat, and more data will be needed. Also, the adoption of global projection future SLR due to limited studies at a local scale may have the tendency to introduce uncertainties in the model.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

# 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

## **2.1 Conceptual Framework**

Following the uncertainties about climate change factors, the study focuses on the assessment impacts and responses to sea-level rise. In order to provide a good understanding risk of rising sea levels in a coastal rural socio-ecological system, the study adapted the IPCC AR5 risk concept (Field and Barros, 2014), Sustainable Livelihood Framework (SLF) (Ashley & Hussein 2000), The Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) (Haines-Young and Potschin-Young, 2018) and Protection Motivation Theory (Rogers, 1983) as the conceptual framework for the study (Figure 2.1). The model captures all the variables used in the study and, therefore, provides a useful framework within which all the objectives set for the study can be achieved. The four frameworks enabled the investigation of future sea-level risk to inform adaptation strategies that integrate community level, policies, and institutional priorities.

As proposed in its AR5 report by the IPCC, the conceptual framework indicates that climatic risk is a function of hazard, exposure, and vulnerability features (Field and Barros, 2014). The risk of sea level rise and its associated impacts are collectively calculated, in combination with exposure, hazard and vulnerability. The hazard, due to any factor, has a number of biogeophysical implications, for instance, increased coastal erosion, coastal floods and wave inundation. Exposure refers to "relevant elements of the socio-ecological system (e.g., people, livelihoods, infrastructure and coastal ecosystems) that could be adversely affected by hazards" (Field and Barros, 2014). Vulnerability looks at "certain attributes of exposed SES-elements that may increase (or decrease) the possible impacts of

sea-level rise. It includes two pertinent elements: sensitivity and adaptive capacity" (Field and Barros, 2014). The socio-economic and ecological systems can be defined by their sensitivity and ability to adapt to the increase in sea levels. Variables such as livelihood assets and transforming agents from the sustainable livelihood framework were used to ascertain the socio-economic system's sensitivity and adaptive capacity components. Under the ecological vulnerability assessment, key indicators from the CICES were used to identify and score ecosystem services derived from the selected coastal ecosystems in the study communities. The conceptual framework shows that rural household behaviour can influence a single adaptation strategy (protect, accommodate and managed retreat) that aims to mitigate the sea level rise risk by reducing vulnerability and, in certain cases, exposure. Factors that influence adaptation behaviour and predictor variables that will lead to the implementation of selected adaptation measures These factors were assessed using the Protection Motivation Theory by Rogers (1983). In addition to the traditional components, the extended version of the PMT used in the study includes three additional components that were identified through the literature review (see Figure 2.1). These include risk perception, compositional and contextual factors. Compositional factors were subdivided into biosocial factors (age, and sex) and socio-cultural factors (education, income, employment status, and years of hazard experience). Contextual factors include biophysical attributes (slope, elevation, distance to hazard-prone areas, etc.)





Source: Adapted from (Field and Barros, (2014); Ashley & Hussein (2000), Haines-Young and Potschin-Young, (2018), Poussin *et al.* (2014) and Rogers 1975).

#### **2.2 Theoretical Framework**

The study is based on the IPCC AR5 climate risk assessment concept, Sustainable Livelihood Framework (SLF) and Protection Motivation Theory (PMT). IPCC AR5 climate risk assessment concept explains climate risk as a combination of hazard, exposure and vulnerability. Sustainable Livelihood Framework (SLF) also explains the vulnerability and exposure context of livelihood assets as well as the processes through which capacity is built for sustainable outcomes in response to the hazard. The Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) also assesses the consequences of ecosystem change and its implications on human well-being. Protection Motivation Theory (PMT) explains the motivation of individuals to protect themselves from climate hazards. The combination of the three models can help in the understanding of future sea-level rise impacts on rural coastal socio-ecological systems and identify strategies to develop the capacity for building the community's resilience.

## 2.2.1 IPCC AR5 Climate Risk Assessment Concept

The IPCC AR5 climate risk assessment concept (Figure 2.2) published in 2014, introduced new concepts for identifying and evaluating risks of impacts resulting from climate change. It was adopted from the Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) community's principles and practices of risk assessment. The concept of climate risk enables the comprehensive incorporation of all components within a socio-ecological system, encompassing climate-related hazards, as well as factors related to social and ecosystem vulnerability and exposure, all of which collectively contribute to the assessment of risks. The framework shows how the interaction between the physical climate systems, exposure and vulnerability produce risk. The risk of impacts from climate change arises from climate-

related threats interacting with vulnerability and exposure to humans and natural systems. As Figure 2.2 shows, vulnerability and exposure are primarily the product of social and economic pathways. The main drivers of the components of risk stem from changes in both the climate system and socio-economic processes. Risk is defined as "the potential for consequences where something of value is at stake and where the outcome is uncertain." (Field and Barros, (2014), p. 40).

Risk in Disaster Risk Assessment (DRA) is considered a probability assessment where risk is represented as the product of the probability of the hazardous event occurring and the impact of the event. However, in the context of climate risk assessment, such a probabilistic approach is always impossible (Zebisch *et al.*, 2017). Thus, this study measured sea-level rise risk as a function of hazard, exposure and vulnerability. However, to make the probability and uncertainty clear where possible, particularly in selecting hazard indicators. Hazard is defined as "the potential occurrence of a natural or human-induced physical event or trend or physical impact that may cause loss of life, injury, or other health impacts, as well as damage and loss to property, infrastructure, livelihoods, service provision, ecosystems, and environmental resources" (Field and Barros, (2014), p. 40). IPCC also defines exposure as "the presence of people, livelihoods, species or ecosystems, environmental functions, services, and resources, infrastructure, or economic, social, or cultural assets in places and settings that could be adversely affected. Exposure, according to IPCC relates to specific exposed elements (or elements at risk), e.g., people, infrastructure, ecosystems and the degree of exposure can be expressed by absolute numbers, densities or proportions, etc. of the elements at risk (e.g., population density in an area affected by sea-level rise)." (Field and Barros, (2014), p. 40). The concept of vulnerability differs from the way it was used in the IPCC AR4 report. The IPCC AR5 reports define it as the propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected (Field and Barros, (2014), p. 40). It has two important components, namely sensitivity and capacity.

Sensitivity is "determined by those factors that directly affect the consequences of a hazard. It may include physical attributes of a system (e.g., building material of houses, type of soil on agriculture fields), social, economic and cultural attributes (e.g., age structure, income structure)" (Field and Barros, (2014), p. 40). The meaning of sensitivity remains therefore relatively unchanged from the AR4 concept. On the other hand, capacity "refers to societies and communities' ability to prepare for and respond to current and future climate impacts" It comprises of coping capacity (the ability of people, institutions, organizations, and systems, using available skills, values, beliefs, resources, and opportunities, to address, manage, and overcome adverse conditions in the short to medium term) and adaptive capacity (the ability of systems, institutions, humans and other organisms to adjust to potential damage, to take advantage of opportunities, or to respond to consequences)".



Figure 2.2: Fundamental concept of climate risk Source: Field and Barros, (2014)

# 2.2.2 Sustainable livelihood framework

Approaches for sustainable livelihoods are focused on developing thought about reducing poverty, how the poor live their lives and how important systemic and institutional problems are. The Sustainable Livelihood Framework (Figure 2.3) constitutes the basis of different Sustainable Livelihood Approaches and has been adapted by various development agencies such as the Department for International Development (Ashley & Hussein ,2000). The livelihoods framework brings together assets and activities and illustrates the interactions between them. The livelihood framework is an approach that helps us understand human societies' economic strategies. It explores the variety of practices people use to minimize risk, how people collaborate, and how human societies manage investments and resources to ensure well-being in the present and the future (Waddington, 2003).

The framework was used for the study to measure aspects of household socioeconomic vulnerability. From the framework, the coastal rural households' vulnerability context is the shocks, seasonality and trends are changes and occurrences of sea-level rise impacts (Coastal erosion, wave inundation and coastal flooding). These are generally beyond people's control and influence the human, natural, financial, physical, and social capital of the coastal rural households. These changes affecting livelihoods could influence the policies, institutions and processes (adaptation strategies), leading to livelihood strategies by coastal rural households and a livelihood outcome. These outcomes, however, in the long run, influence the assets of the coastal rural households being the human, natural, financial, physical and social capital.



Figure 2.3: Sustainable Livelihood Framework.

Source: Ashley & Hussein (2000)

#### 2.2.3 Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES)

The Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) (Table 2.1) proposed in 2009, provides a classification scheme that facilitates the measurement, accounting for, and assessing ecosystem services. Ecosystem services are contributions that ecosystems make to human well-being mostly through the interactions between biotic and abiotic processes. CICES classification seeks to provide a formal systematic definition of different ecosystem services, proposing a new standard of classification to aid in essay identification, thus creating typologies for describing ecosystem services. Additionally, CICES also help support and analysis any changes in the value of different kinds of goods generated by these identified ecosystem services.

Category of Ecosystem	Description
Provisioning services	Benefits people can extract from ecosystems, including food, fibre, energy, genetic materials, artificial and natural medicines
	and fresh water.
Regulating and Maintenance services	This category encompasses all the benefits that moderate the natural environment. It includes pollination, decomposition, water purification, erosion and flood control, and carbon storage.
Cultural	Cultural ecosystem services encompass the benefits individuals
services	derive from their engagements with various environmental settings, such as forests or recreational areas, as well as the activities, like hiking and biking, they undertake within the
	spaces

Table 2.1: Description of the Various Categories of Ecosystem Services

Source: Haines-Young and Potschin, (2018)

## **2.2.4 Protection motivation theory**

The protection motivation theory (PMT) was initially developed to explain how people are motivated to respond to the perceived health threat in a self-protective way. PMT was originally formulated by (Rogers, 1983) based on the work of (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984). It was first used in health threat and safety and later used beyond health-related issues to a more general theory to solve problems like political issues, environmental issues, injury prevention, and other social issues. The PMT suggests that individuals protect themselves based on their perception of the likelihood of an event happening, their perception of how severe the threat is, their belief in the effectiveness of suggested preventive actions, the efficacy of the recommended preventive behaviour, perceived self-efficacy and finally, the response cost (Floyd *et al.*, 2000). According to Rogers (1983), individuals weigh various risks and potential benefits, guided by their motivation to protect themselves against hazards like natural disasters, nuclear explosions, and climate change. As a result, PMT assumes that people's decisions to engage in risk-reducing behaviours are based on two cognitive processes; threat appraisal and coping appraisal.

Rogers (1983) stated that threat appraisal and coping appraisal mediate the effects of the components of fear appeals on attitudes by arousing individuals, motivation to protect (Figure 2.4). Threat appraisal is a cognitive process that refers to the perceived expectation of being exposed to a particular threat/risk. It has two key components: assessing the threat's perceived intensity and the likelihood of suffering negative consequences as a result of the threat (vulnerability). Perceived severity of the threat means the referred to the level of gravity of the potential damages that an individual perceives. Perceived vulnerability is the individual's belief that he is susceptible to an illness that is a potential health threat.

These perceptions of vulnerability, severity, and reward can motivate individuals to perform adaptation actions such as relocation in anticipation of sea-level rise. Coping appraisal evaluates a person's ability to engage in preventive actions against risks and has an impact on their motivation to protect themselves. It consists of two components: selfefficacy, which is a person's belief in their ability to carry out these actions, and response efficacy, which is how effective they perceive these recommended preventive measures to be. Coping strategies also take into account the response cost, which refers to the cost associated with carrying out the suggested behavior (Roger, 1983). The high cost associated with engaging in preventive actions could discourage individuals from participating in recommended behaviours.

Rogers (1983) asserts that coping appraisal arises from the combination of self-efficacy and response efficacy assessment, minus the costs associated with carrying out the suggested preventive action. PMT has been used by many researchers in natural hazards, disasters and pro-environmental behaviours. For instance, Reynaud *et al.*, (2013) carried out research in Vietnam using the Protection Motivation Theory as a conceptual framework to explore the factors influencing household flood preparedness measures and their perception of risk, utilizing information gathered from a survey conducted at the household level. Also, in 2013, Koerth *et al.*, (2013) conducted a study in Greece that focused on examining how households in coastal areas were adapting to the threat of flooding. They utilized the Protection Motivation Theory (PMT) to investigate current adaptation practices among coastal households, identify factors impacting their precautionary actions, and evaluate their intentions regarding future adaptation.



Figure 2.4: Protection Motivation Theory Source: Rogers, (1983)

## 2.3 Review of Related Studies

#### 2.3.1 Global overview of sea level rise risk

The general overview of sea-level rise is not uniform across the globe. Rising exposure, risk and impact defer globally (Field and Barros, 2014). The least developed countries and, most importantly, rural areas represent 11 percent of the global population exposed to rising sea levels leading to related flood hazards but account for 53 percent of casualties. On the other hand, developed countries represent 15 percent of human exposure to the impacts of sea level rise but account for only 1.8 percent of all casualties (Jongman *et al.*, 2012). The high losses in developing countries and most significantly rural areas are mainly driven by the low capacity of these countries and communities to adapt to the flood hazard resulting from sea-level rise; mainly due to poor or non-existent early warning systems and emergency response measures to these areas (Addo and Lamptey, 2012; The World Bank, 2017). The risk of sea-level rise in rural communities is expected to worsen as the sea level

is expected to rise by 1m or more by 2100 and is likely to result in greater exposure to coastal flooding (Neumann *et al.*, 2015).

## 2.3.2 Impacts of sea level rise on socio-ecological systems

Due to numerous complex interacting processes such as population growth and urbanization have caused significant changes in coastal settlement patterns in the 20th century and have further increased the exposure and vulnerability of these settlements to climate change and sea-level rise (Neumann et al., 2015). This has contributed to an increased number of people living in the low-lying coastal areas as well as infrastructure and properties. According to UN-Habitat, (2009), there are about 3,351 cities located in low-lying coastal zones and 13 out of 20 megacities worldwide are also located in lowlying coastal areas. Low-lying coastal areas are typically highly populated and developed areas, yet these areas are at risk of the adverse impacts of climate change and sea-level rise. Several studies have projected an increasing exposure of the coastal zone to the impacts of sea-level rise particularly in Africa and Asia. Sea level rise contributes to the intensity and frequency of some coastal hazards. A study by Nicholls and Klein, (2005), based on data from the year 2000, suggested that in the event of a one-meter rise in sea level, 131 million of the world's population will likely be exposed to inundation and 2,463,000 km<sup>2</sup> of land affected.

Sea level rise impacts affect farmers and their links to associated industries. The presence of saltwater in groundwater can have a substantial impact on crop yields and product quality (Moore and Joye, 2021). The impact of a rise in sea level on water resources will likely reduce freshwater suitability and that is salinity intrusion in both water and soil salinity along the coast. SLR can also cause severe damage to productive agricultural land and crops however, floods, in some local communities see coastal inundation as a positive phenomenon as they distribute fertile silt across the fields. Temperature increases and saline incursion always have an impact on aquaculture. Salinity intrusion might seriously harm the aquatic ecosystems in the area by promoting eutrophication and the establishment of algal blooms, which could be harmful to sensitive species (Nwankwegu *et al.*, 2019).

Numerous research have examined the effect of sea level rise on beaches, living organisms (plants and coastal species), and coastal surroundings. Sea level rise impact can be positive or negative. Research by (Griggs and Reguero, 2021), discovered that rising waters reduced the temperature near coral reefs, putting less stress on them and possibly providing them with a lifeline. Also, there has been a decrease in the mangrove ecosystem over the past decades, and other remaining habitats are suffering from these unsustainable practices. Despite the numerous benefits that are derived from mangroves such as coastal safeguard, habitat for wildlife and fishes, carbon sequestration, deposit, and pollution filtering (Ellison, 2015). The ability of organisms to keep up with the vertical rise of the water is largely what determines how sea level affects things like corals and mangroves (Wong et al., 2014). Similarly, Wong et al., (2014) explain how due to their sensitivity to these changes, plants such as mangroves and coastal wetlands may leak part of their stored chemicals, increasing the number of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. Mangroves pose an exposure variable that is independent of climate change, whereas the rise in sea level and lower precipitation are exposure mechanisms directly related to climate change, which may result in heightened sensitivity when stress levels rise (Ellison, 2015). Again, with the mangrove ecosystems, in a situation where the net vertical accretion cannot match up with the relative sea level rise then the adaptation measures will be through inland migration, they are dependent on the availability of suitable topography and area. (Ellison, 2015).

Globally, vegetative habitats and coastal wetlands have declined with a rise of rising in sea level. For example, in North America, the coastal vegetation is reacting to the rise in sea level and climate change through variations in composition and structure (Bhattachan, *et al.*, 2018). SLR will likely harm the mangrove ecosystem. It is very important to note how the mangrove ecosystem serves as a habitat for many species. Mangroves provide a serene breeding environment for most of the world's crabs, fishes, shrimp, shellfish, and other organisms. It also serves as a habitat for migratory birds. SLR impacts on mangrove species will harm the ecological activities that the ecosystem provides. Also, it is anticipated that ecological reactions to the rise in sea level and saltwater intrusion will have a substantial influence on the range as well as the abundance of many wildlife species (Bhattachan *et al.*, 2018).

#### 2.3.3 Responses to sea level rise risk

Coping with Sea-Level Rise (SLR) as a result of climate change is one of the biggest societal challenges of this century (Lebbe *et al.*, 2021). Sea-level rise adaptation strategies require regulations, plans, and measures that reduce risks and build resilience. The 5th Assessment Report (AR5) by the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) introduced a three-part strategy involving retreat (moving from coastal areas), protect (utilizing both structure and no-structural approaches), and accommodation (adjusting human activities and infrastructure). Abel *et al.*, (2011) stated that among the three basic categories of sealevel rise SLR risk reduction approaches (protection, accommodation, and retreat)

reviewed in the literature, managed retreat will likely be the only long-term adaptation approach in many flood-prone areas.

Managed retreat means rethinking coastal life and accepting that certain coastal infrastructures, neighbourhoods, or even cities will have to be completely relocated (Lebbe *et al.*, 2021). This adaptation response can be carried out at different scales and with varying degrees of complexity. It may involve the relocation of a few vulnerable homes, a community, or a large city. It can be even more complicated when it involves relocating inhabitants of an island to a new country. An important issue with relocation is the cooperation of the affected population, which is sometimes difficult. Relocation of low-lying areas is anticipated worldwide, especially in areas where sea-level rise causes flooding and coastal erosion, reduces arable land, depletes groundwater supplies, destroys infrastructure, and endangers human lives and well-being (Hino *et al.*, 2017; Wong *et al.*, 2014). Some countries such as Fiji, Mozambique and the Solomon Islands have developed and included planned relocation strategies as part of National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs) in their various countries (Mcadam and Ferris, 2015; Warner *et al.*, 2014).

Protection (Coastal defence) involves fortifying the shoreline with hard constructions like seawalls, rock revetments, ripraps, or levees in order to safeguard coastal communities, valuable infrastructure, and ecologically significant places (Watson *et al.*, 2015). Hard coastal protection measures are used all around the world, yet it is difficult to estimate how many people are affected. Currently, hard structures (including drainage) provide protection for at least 20 million people who reside below typical high tides around the world. In Ghana, for instance, these hard measures cost the government approximately US\$60-90 million for 10-25 km of tranches (The World Bank, 2017). Protection adaptation

strategy has potential longevity but is costly to build and maintain (Tol *et al.*, 2005) and it can have adverse impacts, such as changing sediment dynamics in other areas (Jayson-Quashigah *et al.*, 2019). Beach replenishment is one method for rehabilitating beaches that can significantly improve their tourist appeal (Houston, 2008). On the low relief, often barrier island-backed sandy shorelines of the U.S. Atlantic and Gulf coasts, beach nourishment has been practiced for decades. Since 1923, more than 1.35 billion m<sup>3</sup> of sand have been delivered to 475 American communities at a real cost of US\$10.8 billion in 2020 (Reguero *et al.*, 2021). The Netherlands' Spanjaards Duin is one of the earliest examples of artificial dunes being built to mimic natural dune ecosystems as a means of making up for port expansion. This initiative harnesses organic processes to shape the dunes by ensuring the right grain size for Aeolian dynamics and preserving groundwater levels to support vegetation. The U.S. Gulf Coast's experiences also show that protection in lowenergy conditions works well (Bridges, 2018).

Accommodation consists of alterations and modifications in existing structures and human behaviour, which allow land use to be sustained (Koerth *et al.*, 2014; Wong *et al.*, 2014) As a result, accommodating might be defined as "living with hazards". It refers to both community-based strategies like informal money pooling and collective workforce organization as well as top-down strategies like altering land use and building types. A study by (Bott and Braun, 2019) in the Semarang Bay region in northern Java revealed that communities' ability to self-organize and participate actively in their settings is crucial for surviving in unstable circumstances. One of the most important non-structural community efforts to lower flood hazards is through this response. In various regions of Ghana, local governments and communities have already implemented or are preparing to implement each of these practices. To adapt to a shifting shoreline and lessen the negative effects of sea level rise, however, some of the cases covered by this study are pioneering.

It is crucial to plan for sea level rise if coastal populations and ecosystems are to remain secure. Communities must be prepared throughout time and with a variety of strategies to deal with the effects of rising tides now and in the future. It is also important to have a platform for discussion that incorporates all stakeholders' needs and concerns throughout the planning, implementation, and maintenance stages. This is important because resilient communities are essential to combating the adverse effects of sea level rise. Providing the necessary forum to discuss, plan, and implement the appropriate planning approach is essential to crafting a planning strategy that is based on the community's needs. Additionally, it's critical to establish a forum for conversation that takes into account the demands and worries of each stakeholder during the stages of planning, execution, and upkeep. This is crucial because fighting the negative effects of sea level rise requires resilient communities. In order to develop a planning strategy that is based on the needs of the community, it is crucial to provide the necessary platform for discussing, planning, and implementing the proper planning approach.

# 2.3.4 Concept of risk, exposure and vulnerability

There are several definitions and frameworks that explain the concept of risk and, as a result, the concept has evolved over time. The multiple definitions of the concept of risk are due to its application to specific decision-maker needs. Wisner *et al.*, (2014) argued that risk has shifted from an early stage of matching it to hazards to a period where risk is described as hazard and vulnerability and then finally to hazard, vulnerability and coping capacity. Morgan *et al.* (1990) as cited in Brooks, (2003) defined risk as an "exposure to a

chance injury or loss. In 1992, the United Nations Department of Humanitarian Affairs (UNDHA) provided a definition for the term "risk" as the anticipated consequences, including loss of life, injuries, property damage, and disruptions to economic activity, resulting from a specific hazard within a specified area and timeframe.

Mathematically, risk is calculated as the product of hazard and vulnerability (United Nations Department of Humanitarian Affairs, 1992). According to Thywissen, (2006), risk is defined as "a function of the probability of the hazard of exposure to the hazard, and the vulnerability of receptors to the hazard." The United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR) characterizes disaster risk as the prospective losses resulting from disasters, encompassing factors like human lives, well-being, economic stability, possessions, and essential services, which may transpire within a specified timeframe for a specific community or society (UNISDR, 2009). As defined by several scholars and organizations, risk is considered a probability assessment where risk is represented as the product of the probability of the hazardous event occurring and its impact. However, in the context of climate risk assessment, such a probabilistic approach is always impossible (Zebisch *et al.*, 2017). Recent literature emphasized that risk arising from climate change is externally induced or a change in the climate system, resulting from complex interactions between communities, ecosystems, and hazards (Birkmann and Birkmann, 2011; Field, 2012). Therefore, the latest IPCC assessment report (AR5), published in 2014, and introduced the concept of climate risk that replaced the AR4 approach to vulnerability to climate change. The IPCC AR5 assessment report defines risk as "the potential for consequences where something of value is at stake and where the outcome is uncertain" (IPCC 2014, p. 40). From the report, risk results from the interaction of vulnerability,

exposure, and hazard but emphasizes the significant contribution of the system on these components. Climate change is not a risk per se; instead, climate change and associated hazards interact with changing vulnerability and the system's exposure, thereby determining the change in risk levels. The identification of key vulnerabilities enables the assessment of key risks in conjunction with climate change risk information. Thus, the IPCC AR5 approach to risk was used as the basis for measuring sea level rise risk in the selected coastal rural areas.

Although the term 'vulnerability' has gained popularity in the past few years, research into its various aspects has largely focused on understanding theories and descriptions (Adger, 2006; Alwang et al., 2001; Bohle, 2001; Gallopin, 2007). The concept of vulnerability evolved as people became more conscious of the relevance of society's structure and people's skills to tolerate and cope with the effects of disasters. Vulnerability has typically been defined in two ways: geographically, as being positioned in a location that exposes one to environmental risks, and by context, as "a state of increased exposure or sensitivity to environmental hazards as a result of socio-political limitation" according to O'Brien et al., (2004). According to Eisenhauer, (2014), vulnerability can be described as "a condition of health and stability," but it varies among diverse communities living in distinct environmental circumstances and dealing with intricate interplays of social norms, political structures, resource availability, technological advancements, and disparities. Cutter, (1996) recognized three themes in vulnerability research. The first is vulnerability as risk/hazard exposure and determines the spatial parameters of biological and physical or technical threats, the population affected, and the intensity of possible loss. The second is a social constructionist perspective, which emphasizes resilience as well as the historic,

cultural, and economic processes that shape an individual's capacity to deal with disasters. The third focus is place vulnerability- defined as a biophysical danger as well as a social response that is rooted in a specific location. Class, ethnicity, and immigration status have all been demonstrated to have an impact on people's capacity to deal with environmental risks (Peacock *et al.*, 2012). After Hurricane Katrina in 2005, it was discovered that socio-economic conditions including age, income and race determined which individuals resided in high-risk locations and which individuals had the ability to evacuate, resulting in varied levels of vulnerability and outcomes (survival and recovery) (Finch *et al.*, 2010). Thus, researching societies experiencing the immediate effects of sea level rise can reveal the characteristics of vulnerability, as well as the shortcomings, reactions, and implications of climate change adaptation.

In essence, vulnerability considers the intricacy of systems under evaluation, created by a large number of driving elements as well as multiple interconnections and responses among the various sections of the system. As a result, vulnerability assessments in recent years do not focus on individual aspects, but instead on the entire coupled socio-ecological system, including all of its interconnections and responses (Adger, 2006; Gallopin, 2007). Thus, there is a widespread inclination to divide vulnerability into two components. Bohle, (2001) combined these two elements into a framework, defining "exposure" as the external face of vulnerability and "coping" as the interior face. Unlike socio-economic fragility, Cardona, (2003) refers to it as "physical fragility" (exposure) and Adger *et al.* (2004) use the terms "biophysical" and "social vulnerability". Another widely acknowledged feature of vulnerability is its complexity, which stems from its multidimensionality, changing nature, and effects from many scales (Vogel and Karen O'Brien, 2004). The idea of

vulnerability expanded on the traditional impact-focused approach by shifting the attention to the individual. Putting the human at the heart of the research. Hence, different sorts of socio-economic, political, cultural, institutional, and ecological elements, and the interconnections and feedback between them, must be considered in any analysis to include all components that affect the susceptibility of coupled systems (Few, 2003; Thywissen, 2006).

On the other hand, simple approaches that concentrate on a single area of vulnerability have their own strengths, as they keep the study uncomplicated and could deliver speedy results with relatively little effort. Yet, because these methods do not take into account all relevant interconnections and feedback, they are unable to give a thorough vulnerability evaluation of coupled systems. A suitable technique to recognize the complexity of vulnerability and find underlying weaknesses that go beyond the hazard's immediate effects has been identified as analyzing signs quantitatively using the categories provided by an integrated vulnerability framework. Vulnerability assessments are a forward-looking approach that measures the possible implications of hazards that may harm the system in the future. Attempts to build "integrative" techniques that integrate the biophysical and social elements of disaster vulnerability have been made during the last two decades, and in spite of criticisms, this method remains very prominent (Rothman et al., 1997). The integrative technique has been employed in particular in analyzing vulnerability, assisted by advancements in the potential to map massive datasets. Cutter, (1996) created a hazards of place model that integrates biophysical and social characteristics to determine a community's vulnerability. The model involved indicators of physical hazard risk, which includes the probability of disaster and demography. These indicators were used to produce

an index of "overall hazard vulnerability" that changed over a local area, using GIS. A version of the model was released for Social Vulnerability Index for sea level rise.

However, the two-dimensional conceptual model has been criticized for being simplistic and failing to consider the root causes of antecedent social vulnerability, larger contexts, and post-disaster impact and recovery all of which are important factors to consider when the model is designed for measuring and eventually lowering emissions and reducing vulnerability (Eisenhauer, 2014). The integrated approach is often accompanied by the multi-scale characteristics of potential stressors and how they affect the system (Gallopin, 2007). In recent decades, efforts to study the impacts of hazards and related vulnerabilities have increased in response to observed and expected increases in risks and negative impacts. Natural risks have been acknowledged as not disasters in and of themselves, but only become such when they are combined with other factors (Kaplan, 2011). This has resulted in a shift in emphasis from the hazard itself and practical solutions to mitigate the effects of hazards to the interaction between the damaging event and a community's infrastructure, economy, and environment (Birkmann, 2006). Various disciplines and sectors address the notion of vulnerability differently, including academics, disaster management organizations, the community fighting climate change, and development organizations. Depending on the approach taken, this results in a variety of definitions for vulnerability and associated concepts such as exposure, and risk.

Aside from this wide viewpoint on vulnerability, the inclusion of many scales, and the coupled system as an element of analysis, the Turner framework (which is regularly adapted by researchers) has a number of other features that are particularly important. It is acknowledged that within a linked system, there is not just one vulnerability, but that

different vulnerabilities exist in different elements and subsystems that link the coupled system Connections between hazards demonstrate that hazards are a collection of varied disruptions and pressures that arise from several levels of influence, is another facet of relevance. They could also be influenced by the system, which is why they are classified as a hazard. The concept highlights the risks' complexity and nonlinearity, which arise from various interactions of interconnected factors at different scales. However, criticisms of the integrated models mentioned its failure to pinpoint the core reasons for vulnerability. O'Brien *et al.*, (2004), identified two perspectives on vulnerability that are diametrically opposed: a "scientific framework" in which vulnerability is viewed as a result or endpoint of adaptation, as well as a "human" vulnerability as an existing incapacity to cope with exterior forces or changes, as defined by security framework. The contextual approach indicates a concern for individual and group vulnerability, more than a standpoint of systems theory (Berkes, 2007), which ignores the varying impacts of disasters on individuals and communities in different parts of the system.

# 2.3.5 Risk experience, perception, and adaptive behaviour nexus

Literature has shown that several factors influence climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies. These include risk perception, hazard experience, distance to hazards, type of settlement and socio-demographic factors. An increasing body of literature examines individual responses to sea-level rise impacts such as flooding, storm surge, erosion and other related risks, with the majority focusing on determining the relationship between these factors and adaptation efforts. For example, several studies have shown that risk perception positively influences individual adaptation behaviour. A person with a high-risk perception is more likely to undertake adaptation measures (Poussin *et al.*, 2014;

Song and Peng, 2017; Wouter Botzen and Van Den Bergh, 2012; Zaalberg et al., 2009). However, Zheng and Dallimer, (2016), in their study on the factors that motivate rural households to adapt to climate change, established that adaptation appraisal rather than risk perception is a better predictor of climate change adaptation. In comparison to risk perception, the relationship between socio-demographic variables and protective behaviour adoption is significantly less clear. Notwithstanding, several studies have identified various socio-demographic factors related to climate change adaptation efforts such as educational level (Bryan et al., 2009), income (Poussin et al., 2014), age (Bryan et al., 2009; Song and Peng, 2017), gender (Silva et al., 2014) and location in terms of rural or urban setting (Mwinkom et al., 2021). Hazard experience is also considered to have a significant influence on risk recognition and appears to be a significant component in individual adaptation behaviour (Weinstein, 1989). For instance, Individual views of flooding resilience were explored in four communities in Birmingham and London by Soetanto et al., (2017), who found that people's social responsibility for adaptation measures was influenced by their experience with floods as well as other demographic factors. Ling et al., (2015) and Frondel et al., (2017) confirmed that hazard experience was positively associated with adaptation efforts in their respective studies. On the other hand, Lawrence et al. (2014) maintain that experiencing flood hazards did not motivate citizens to take more proactive adaptation measures. The capacity of human systems to adapt to a changing climate is linked to characteristics of the physical environment. Physical factors such as a lack of high elevation to relocate, for example, can limit relocation (Clark *et al.*, 2011). Also, proximity to hazards can also limit adaptation efforts. Studies have been conducted to assess the relationship between proximity to hazards and adaptation efforts. However,

their findings have been inconsistent; although some researchers have discovered a positive link, others have not. Bubeck *et al.*, (2013) discovered in their study about analysing risk perception and precautionary behaviour, that the distance to a river or waterbody had only a minor impact on people's current mitigation efforts whiles Kellens *et al.*, (2011) came out with contradictory findings.

# 2.3.6 Sea level rise modelling approaches

Various models have been developed to address the coastal impacts caused by Sea Level Rise (SLR). These models have the capability to predict changes in environmental processes due to sea level fluctuations, as well as evaluate the outcomes of different strategies for managing long-term ecosystem behavior (Costanza, 1997; FitzGerald *et al.*, 2008). They can be applied at local, regional, or global levels. Examples of such models include the CoastCLIM Sea-Level Simulator, the Coastal Storm Modeling System (CoSMos), the Inundation Frequency Analysis Program by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), and the Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM).

#### 2.3.6.1 CoastCLIM sea-level simulator

According to Doyle *et al.*, (2015), CoastCLIM is a database tool designed to forecast sealevel curvatures in coastal areas across the globe. It employs a comprehensive global database of regional cell grids to generate localized rates of sea-level change. These estimates are derived from downscaled projections of future sea-level rise and Carbon dioxide emissions, utilizing Global Climate Model data and various climate change scenarios. The tool encompasses six emission scenarios, enabling analysis of temperature fluctuations, impacts of ice melt, and CO2 concentrations, all based on predictions provided by the IPCC. CoastCLIM offers a user-friendly interface that allows users to select their area of interest within a global context.

# 2.3.6.2 The national oceanic and atmospheric administration (NOAA) inundation frequency analysis program

The NOAA Inundation Frequency Analysis Program proves to be an invaluable resource for coastal planners. By utilizing observed 6-minute water-level recordings from tidal gauges as input data, this application establishes connections between recorded high-water tide periods and their corresponding heights within a specified timeframe (Doyle *et al.*, 2015). Through this process, the application generates an Excel spreadsheet that computes the elevations and durations of inundation for each listed high tide, relative to the userprovided reference datum or maximum altitude above it, as well as any threshold elevations. Additionally, the program produces graphs, histograms, and statistical summaries, providing insights into the impact of various sea level rise scenarios.

## 2.3.6.3 Coastal Storm Modeling System (CoSMos)

The United States Geological Survey developed the Coastal Storm Modeling System (CoSMoS) to forecast coastal flooding, shoreline alteration, and the effects of rising sea levels and climate change-induced coastal storms. CoSMoS aids federal and state climate change advisories, local planning, and disaster response teams in understanding the vulnerability of coastal areas. According to Doyle *et al.*, (2015), the software generates comprehensive forecasts of storm-induced coastal floods, erosion, and cliff failures over large geographic scales. CoSMoS provides hindcast studies, operational applications, and future climate scenarios to emergency responders and coastal planners, enabling them to improve public safety, mitigate physical damage, and effectively allocate resources in

complex coastal settings. For example, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) District 4 utilized CoSMoS/OCOF data on flood extent, water surface elevation, and maximum wave height to assess the vulnerability of the road network in the San Francisco Bay Zone.

## 2.3.6.4 Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM)

The Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM) simulates the conversion of coastal land use and the alteration of shorelines over long-term scenarios of sea level rise (SLR). This map-based simulation software employs discrete time steps ranging from five to twenty-five years to assess the impact of various SLR scenarios on the coastal landscape. The different versions of the model primarily involve updates in data sources, software, and spatial resolution for specific site applications, rather than significant changes in design or functionality. The spatial resolution of input and output data ranges from 10m to 500m, while SLR is modeled as a static increase in predicted eustatic rise in sea level corresponding to the model's time step duration (Clough, 2010). For each time step (year), the model modifies the elevation of the study area cell by cell using inputs such as the Digital Elevation Model, land cover data, site environmental parameters (erosion and accretion rates, subsidence, and tidal range), and predicted sea level rise based on future climate change scenarios. The model simplifies the classification of cell conditions (eroded or inundated) based on the cell's context and highest fetch. Clough, et al., (2016) explained that the software employs a decision tree approach to determine wetland and other land cover types by adjusting the elevation of each cell based on the correlation between minimum elevation and various land cover types within the cell.

In this study, the Digital Elevation Model for the modeling communities was obtained from an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Digital Terrain Model generated through Structure-from-Motion techniques. Furthermore, land cover data for each study community were acquired from remote sensing Sentinel-2 satellites in 2021. These data were classified and transformed into SLAMM wetland categories. The modeling procedure did not include dikes since there were none present in the study communities. Additionally, the projected sea level rise under the climate change scenario from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change was utilized as the reference for sea level rise in this model.

SLAMM is an open-source software that offers user-friendly features in comparison to other models reviewed in this study. It provides detailed information on a local scale, making it particularly suitable for coastal rural communities. However, due to the datasets it employs, SLAMM is not well-suited for global-scale analysis or supporting international negotiations. Instead, it is more applicable for national governments in their efforts related to adaptation, mitigation, and policy development.

### 2.4 Examples from Other Regions/Countries

Since early 2000, several studies have been conducted globally to assess rural coastal vulnerability to sea-level rise impacts. For instance, Appeaning-Addo *et al.*, (2020) used remote sensing techniques to determine sea-level rise impacts in the Fuveme community in Ghana. The study revealed that rural livelihoods and properties had been endangered by the detrimental effects of rising sea levels. Furthermore, it was discovered that over a span of 12 years (2005-2017), more than 77 structures were destroyed by coastal erosion and flooding, leading to the displacement of over 300 residents. Using a socio-ecological system framework, Bhattachan *et al.*, (2018) conducted an investigation into the impacts

of sea level rise on the Albemarle-Pamlico Peninsula, a coastal region in eastern North Carolina known for its rural and low-lying characteristics. The findings of the study indicated that approximately 42 percent of the study area is vulnerable to flooding, and if the sea level were to rise by 100 cm, property losses could amount to a staggering 14 billion dollars. Using both qualitative and quantitative data, Shameem et al., (2014) explored the mechanism by which significant stresses and hazards shape the vulnerability of rural livelihoods in complex social/ecological environments in the southwest coastal area of Bangladesh. The study concluded that increasing sea level rise impacts (salinity intrusion, storm surge and land-use change) directly or indirectly affect access to livelihood assets at the household level, which undermines social well-being by seriously impacting food and water security. Drawing from these studies, an adequate comprehension of the risk posed by sea-level rise can serve as a foundation for enhancing or developing policies and adaptation strategies specifically tailored to rural coastal communities, which have largely been overlooked in climate change assessments. However, most of these studies focused on a single sea-level rise impact and did not assess its associated adaptation strategy to help improve policy in the area of study. Also, most of the studies used medium-resolution satellite imagery to detect changes in the rural coastal regions (Dereli and Tercan, 2020; Konko et al., 2018; Yasir et al., 2020). However, these images are affected by cloud cover, revisit time, pixel resolution and operation cost. Additionally, the acquisition of very highresolution satellite images capable of detecting subtle changes is a costly process that requires pre-ordering and programming, which is also similar to airborne photogrammetry (Díaz-Delgado et al., 2018).

#### 2.5 Overview and Key Issues of the Study

#### 2.5.1 Overview of global and regional sea level measurements

Over the last century, sea-level changes have been obtained from tide gauge measurements located at various coastlines worldwide. According to Cazenave and Cozannet, (2014), about ten (10) percent of tide gauge measurements can be used due to data gaps and the small number of available tide gauges. Vertical land movements also impact tide gauge data as they measure sea-level relative to the ground. Thus, in studying the climate-related component of sea-level rise, especially in areas where there are strong ground movements resulting from a natural cause or human activities, vertical land movements must be deleted from the measurements. Various analytical methods have been developed to give accurate historical time series based on measurements of the tide. For instance, Jevrejeva *et al.*, (2010) used over sixty (60) years of tidal gauge measurement from areas with stable tectonic activities and corrected the data for Glacial Isostatic Adjustment (GIA). The study predicted a 0.6-1.6m increase in Global Mean Sea-level (GMSL) based on a mathematical model driven by expected natural and anthropogenic forcing.

On the other hand, Church *et al.*, (2004) used reconstruction methods to fix over 50-year tide gauge records across several regions. The reconstruction was an effort to restrict existing large-scale estimates of sea-level rise, recognize any patterns of sea-level rise trends, and assess any sea-level variation over the period. The study estimated that the global average sea level rise is 1.8 to 0.3 mm per year. Dangendorf *et al.*, (2017) argued that tide gauge measurements give a poor representation of the global ocean and they are based in the northern hemisphere, particularly at the beginning of the 20th century. As a result, their study presented a reconstruction method that uses an area-weighting technique

that also that into account vertical land motion, ice melting and terrestrial, freshwater storage. The technique estimated  $1.1 \pm 0.3$  mm per year before 1990 falls below previous estimates, and an estimate of  $3.1 \pm 1.4$  mm per year from 1993 to 2012 was inconsistent with other 20<sup>th</sup>-century estimates.

Besides tide gauge measurements, sea level is also measured accurately by altimeter satellites. Examples of such satellite instruments include Topex/Poseidon (1992–2006), Jason-1 (2001–2013) and Jason-2 (2008– date) developed jointly by the United States and France. Others developed by the Europe Space Agency (ESA) also include Envisat (2002-2011) and Cryosat (2010-date). Satellite altimetry measures absolute fluctuations in sea levels in a geocentric reference system compared with tide gauges that provide sea-level measurements relative to the earth. Satellite altimetry measures sea level by basically measuring the distance from the satellite to the sea surface and the satellite-to-surface round-trip time of transmitted microwave radiation. However, these measurements sometimes interfere with electromagnetic scattering and atmosphere elements such as dust and water vapour. Church and White (2011) reported an increase in global mean sea level from satellite altimetry (1993-2009) and tidal gauge measurements (1880-200).

The approximate rate of increase after correction of glacial isostatic adjustment was  $2 \pm 0.4$  mm per year from the satellite data and  $2.8 \pm 0.8$  mm per year from the tidal gauge measurements. Watson *et al.*, (2015) also combined reprocessed ERS-2/Envisat altimetry data with a network of tidal gauges with GPS-based vertical land motion installed to estimate global mean rate sea-level. The results indicate an acceleration in sea-level rise compared to recent projections by Church *et al.*, (2013) and Stocker *et al.*, (2013). Dieng *et al.*, (2017) revisited the GMSL budget using six different altimetry-based GMSL data

(TOPEX/Poseidon, Jason-1 and Jason-2, and Envisat 1/2) CSIRO from January 1993 to December 2015. The study estimated a new GMSL rate of approximately 3.0 mm per year with an increase of 0.8 mm per year between 2004 and 2015.

## 2.5.2 Key issues of the study

The 1992 constitution of Ghana has made the government responsible to the people of Ghana. In chapter six, Article 36 (9), the constitution clearly, stipulates that "the State shall take appropriate measures needed to protect and safeguard the national environment for posterity; and shall seek cooperation with other states and bodies for purposes of protecting the wider international environment for mankind". Thus, protecting the people of Ghana from the adverse effects of sea-level rise is a constitutional right. In view of this, the country has also enacted several national policies and legislation to safeguard its environment and citizens from any adverse effects. These policies and legislation are spread all over old statutory books and policy documents. Though they are unable to address the problems related to climate change adequately, they offer a basis for the formulation of relevant legislation. Such policies and laws include the Environmental Protection Agency Act (1994), Management of Ozone Depleting Substances and Products Regulations (2005), Renewable Energy Act (2011), etc.

In addition, Ghana is also a signatory to several international agreements on climate change, such as the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement. Though Coastal zone Management originated from the Earth Summit at Rio Janeiro in 1992 as a management tool for managing and protecting coastal resources, Ghana has no specific policy regarding integrated coastal zone management. According to Boateng (2006), there is no holistic or integrated coastal erosion and flood management strategy or plan in Ghana that focuses on

how individuals, communities, and government respond to coastal erosion and flooding and other sea-level rise-related impacts. The present 2014 National Environmental Policy (NEP) does not provide specific plans of action but only considers the need to manage the coastal and marine resources. As a result, management of sea level-related impacts has remained conventional, site-specific and often dominated by hard engineering methods.

Several national and private institutions and organizations have different mandates and activities that address climate and climate change issues. Almost every branch of government is directly or indirectly affected by climate change, which influences the way the government response to climate change. In the area of sea-level rise risk, several ministries and their associated department and agencies are responsible for ensuring its mitigation. Some of these institutions include the Ministry of Environment, Ministry of Works and Housing, Coastal Development Authority, National Disaster Management Organization (NADMO), traditional chiefs, etc. However, these institutions face significant challenges in climate change information and data flow, including data quality, access to data and data collection, sharing, and translation.

Also, to meet national and international commitments, there is a need to build human and institution capacities to respond to the adverse effects of climate change. The government of Ghana and several civil society organizations have taken several actions to address national capacity gaps but still face institutional capability, strengths and interaction challenges. According to the National Climate Change Policy (2013), current institutional gaps include the challenge of translating complex science into simple messages that the general public will understand. The government has taken initial steps to build district capacity but needs support for capacity building in local communities' policy is

implemented. Again, Ghana can build on rich traditional knowledge that can be an effective asset in the face of climate change. However, many traditional reactions may increase vulnerability unintentionally. For instance, for decades, indigenous knowledge had been used to predict the likelihood of floods in the past, but climate change has rendered this ineffective as these disasters have become more erratic, thereby making this community much more vulnerable. Lastly, in order to preserve institutional memory and continuity, robust internal systems and incentives are required to ensure that Ghana does not lose its best in the so-called brain drain.

Coastal erosion and flooding are, however, not solely a result of sea-level rise. Anthropogenic activities (planned and ongoing activities both inland and along the coast) significantly impact the coastal morphology. For instance, Ly, (1980) argued that a significant increase in the coastal recession had taken place along the central to eastern shores of Ghana, following the construction of the Akosombo Dam, which had previously been replenished with sand from the Volta River. This was confirmed by (Collins and Evans, 1986), who also argued that the sand input in the coastal systems was reducing due to inland dam construction and irrigation. Several researchers have also argued that the cause of coastal erosion in Ghana is that coastal management strategies, both past and present, have primarily focused on hard protection measures at a specific location. These hard measures cost the government approximately US\$60-90 million for 10-25 km of tranches (The World Bank, 2017). Protection adaptation strategy has potential longevity but is costly to build and maintain (Tol et al., 2005) and it can have adverse impacts, such as changing sediment dynamics in other areas Jayson-Quashigah et al., (2019). For instance, Angnuureng, Addo, and Wiafe (2013) reported an increase in coastal erosion in
nearby coastal communities after the construction of the Keta Sea Defense. Similarly, using high-resolution satellite images, (Jayson-Quashigah *et al.*, 2013) also report that some sites near the Volta estuary and to the east of the Keta Sea defense project receded at a rate as high as 16 meters per year. Thus, there is a need for the government of Ghana to consider other solutions such as accommodating the impacts of sea-level rise, retreating from the coast, and ecosystem-based adaptation strategies.

## **CHAPTER THREE**

# 3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **3.1 Description of Materials**

The study employed an innovative mixed-methods approach which combined both spatial and non-spatial data that were obtained from primary and secondary sources. The data comprises remote sensing, ethnography, ecological data and expert knowledge.

## **3.1.1 Spatial data**

The spatial data were categorized into secondary and primary. Primary data collection primarily involved methods such as Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV), Global Positioning System (GPS) surveys participatory mapping and on-screen digitising. A DJI Phantom 4 Pro V2 multirotor quadcopter was employed to capture high-resolution aerial photographs within the three research areas. This helped to construct Digital Terrain Model (DTM) for the sea-level rise modelling. The UAV imagery was also employed in constructing rules for the classification of the satellite imagery and collecting true world points for validation of land use/cover classification results since most of the area was waterlogged. Also, a GPS survey was conducted using dual-frequency GPS with an accuracy of 2cm. Some of the GPS coordinates were used to map the Ground Control Points (GCP) during the UAV flights. Critical infrastructure such as hospitals, markets and schools within communities were also mapped. Through community participatory mapping, residents of the community were asked to identify the position of the shorelines in 10- and 20 years' time using different colour threads and stickers. This helped validate the risk map stimulated by the SLAMM model. Lastly, onscreen digitizing was carried out to map the building footprint and grid from an orthophoto,

In addition, secondary spatial data collected by individuals, government bodies, and various organizations. were also used in the study. The predominant method employed for acquiring this secondary data primarily involved downloading it from the internet. Sentinel-2 satellite images with a resolution of 10m were downloaded from the Copernicus datahub for each of the study communities. Historical orthophotos as well as topographic maps of the study communities were also obtained from the Centre for Coastal Management, University of Cape Coast (Table 3.1).

In addition, secondary spatial data collected by individuals, government bodies, and various organizations. The predominant method employed for acquiring this secondary data primarily involved downloading it from the internet. Sentinel-2 satellite images with a resolution of 10m were downloaded from the Copernicus datahub for each of the study communities. Historical orthophotos as well as topographic maps of the study communities were also obtained from the Centre for Coastal Management, University of Cape Coast (Table 3.1).

# 3.1.2 Non-spatial data

Non-spatial data were collected through Focus Group Discussion (FGD), interviews and observation. Questionnaires. Two questionnaires were used to solicit information from household heads and experts (Appendix A & B). Data collected using the first questionnaire included socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents, perception/experience of sea-level rise impacts and preferred adaptation options. The household survey was supplemented by information from focus group discussions as well

as key informant interviews. By means of Focus Group Discussion (FGD) (Appendix C). The second was a close-ended questionnaire, data which was used to solicit information on ecosystem availability for estimating the ecosystem and vulnerability of the selected coastal ecosystems in the rural coastal communities. The CICES system, known as the Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services, was employed to categorize services, facilitating a more straightforward and transparent assessment. Additionally, experts specializing in marine and wetland ecology, environmental chemistry, environmental sciences, and fisheries science were selected to participate in this assessment.

Category	Data Type	Data source	Use	
	UAV-based orthophoto (2021)	Fieldwork	Digital Terrain Model (DTM),	
Spatial			LULC mapping	
data	GPS Survey	Fieldwork	Ground Control Points	
			Land use mapping	
	Aerial orthophoto (1975 and 2005)	Centre for Coastal Mgt., UCC	Shoreline analysis	
	Sentinel satellite images (2021)	Copernicus Hub	LULC mapping	
Non- spatial data	Social survey (FGD, household survey, expert survey and Interviews)	Fieldwork	Risk assessment adaptation behaviour assessment	

 Table 3.1: Summary of data types and sources for the study

Source: Author (2023)

#### **3.2 Methods of Data Collection**

#### 3.2.1 Unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) survey

A multirotor quadcopter DJI Phantom 4 Pro V2 (Plate 3.1), was used to collect highresolution aerials in the three-study area. The UAV was equipped with a 1-inch 20megapixel RGB 1" CMOS camera mounted with a mechanical shutter. Rotary-wing UAVs have been largely used for DTM generation because of their low speed, point cloud improvement and cost-effectiveness (Adade et al., 2021; Ruggles et al., 2016). The monitoring of the UAV and establishment of flight paths were facilitated by the employment of Pix4D capture software. Images were taken from directly above the ground every 3.5 seconds while the UAV was flying at a height of 120 meters Above Ground Level (AGL). These images were captured with an 80 percent overlap in the frontal direction and a 70 percent overlap in the side direction. These parameters were chosen based on studies demonstrating their effectiveness in generating high-quality UAV DTMs (Adade et al., 2021; Ruggles et al., 2016). Also, as required by the Ghana Civil Aviation Authority all drone flights are limited to a maximum height of 122 metres above ground level. Prior to the flights, black and white Ground Control Points (GCP) targets were placed at targeted points within the study area and their geographical locations were measured using Dual Frequency GPS with an accuracy of 2cm (Plate 3.2). The GCPs were used in georeferencing and mosaicking of imagery in order to ensure accuracy by geo-rectifying the orthophoto and digital surface models.



Plate 3.1: Micasense camera-equipped UAV used for aerial photography. Source: Author (2023)



**Plate 3.2: Measuring the geographic location of Ground Control Point (GCP) Source: Author (2023)** 

#### **3.2.1 Social survey**

The social survey consists of questionnaire surveys and Focus Group Discussions (FDG) and observation. Community entry was undertaken in each community to brief the traditional authorities on the purpose of the study and also seek permission to collect data from the residents. An initial draft of the instrument was designed and pretested to see the practicalities of administering the instrument and identify possible challenges that could be faced. The structured questionnaire was administered using KoBoTool box mobile application. The instrument was mainly designed based on the work of Song & Peng, (2017) and also information from the three Focus Group Discussions (FDG) conducted in the study communities. The first section of the questionnaire addressed respondents' background characteristics. This information was relevant because it has been noted that it is a factor which influences residents' perceptions. The second section assessed the sensitivity and adaptive capacity of the residents to SLR risk whilst the third section investigated the respondents' behaviour towards relocation. Research. Four research assistants were employed to aid in the data collection exercise. They were also taken through the questions for uniform understanding and interpretation.

Out of a total population of 1,468 household heads, 359 respondents were chosen at random using the sampling method outlined in Dusick's 2014 work. The survey targeted heads of households in various communities. Out of a total population of 1,468 household heads, 359 respondents were chosen at random using the sampling method outlined in Dusick, (2014) sampling calculation. The study utilized a multistage sampling technique to select participants. In the initial phase, a cluster sampling method was employed, wherein the study areas were categorized into clusters using a georeferenced hexagonal grid, each covering an area of 2000 square meters (Figure 3.1). The unit for allocating respondents in the hexagon grid was determined based on the number of buildings identified in the 2021 UAV image, which were digitized on-screen. Grids with only one building were not included in the sample. In the third stage, a specific building within each grid was selected using a simple random sampling method. To identify and locate these selected buildings, the spatial extent was converted to a shapefile and loaded onto the SW Map App on a mobile phone, allowing the researcher to pinpoint their exact location within the group. Subsequently, a convenience sampling approach was employed to select the household head for interviews in the selected buildings. However, buildings without occupants during the interview or lacking an adult in charge of the household in the absence of the household head were excluded from the study. In such cases, the next building with a household head was selected as a replacement. Figure 3.2 provides an overview of all the stages involved in the sampling of household heads.



Figure 3.1: Sample grids for the three study communities. (NB: Numbers in the diagrams represent the respondents selected.) Source: Author (2023)

# **MULTI-STAGE SAMPLING**



# Figure 3.2: Summary of the sampling procedure for the selection of respondents for the study. Source: Author (2023)

One focus group discussion was conducted in every study community, involving purposefully selected individuals, including community chiefs and opinion leaders. Prior to gathering any information, consent was secured from all participants in the social data collection, and their confidentiality throughout the study was guaranteed. The discussion centred on the impacts of Sea Level Rise (SLR) within local communities and the corresponding plans for the adaptation. Participants were chosen through purposive sampling, specifically targeting community members with a minimum residency of five years who expressed interest in joining the study. In each community, one focused group discussion (FGD) was held, comprising 8 to 12 individuals. To ensure diverse perspectives on the nuances of sea level rise and adaptation strategies, considerations were made regarding the age and gender of the respondents (Plate 3.3).



Plate 3.3: Researcher facilitating focus group discussion session at Sawoma Source: Author (2023)

#### **3.3 Data Analysis**

Data analysis involves the analysis of the historical shorelines for the communities, the generating of the Digital Terrain Model, and analysis of the Land use/cover map. All these products were required as inputs in the SLAMM model to estimate the impact of different sea level scenarios on the communities under study. Non-spatial social data were also analysed in order to perform the risk assessment and assess the factors that influence the respondent relocation intention.

# **3.3.1** Analysis of shoreline data

The erosion and accretion rates in the study communities were determined by analyzing the shorelines obtained from a topographic map from 1974, an orthophoto from 2005, and UAV images from 2021. Shoreline positions in the study communities were determined using both automated extraction and manual digitization techniques. The manual method involved the digitization of shorelines from images using the High Water Line (HWL) proxy, a widely acknowledged and reliable predictor of shoreline location as indicated by Gorman *et al.* (1998), and sometimes the only available indicator. Prior to digitizing the shorelines, the images were georeferenced and projected into the same coordinate system using the Ghana Metre Grid. To analyze shoreline changes in the study area, the Digital Shoreline Analysis Software (DSAS) was employed to calculate the Linear Regression Rate (LRR) and Endpoint Rate (EPR) statistics. Thieler *et al.* (2009) provided a comprehensive guide on how to use DSAS for shoreline change analysis.

#### **3.3.2** Generation of mosaicked orthophoto and digital terrain model

The Pix4D Mapper software version 4.1 was utilized to process all acquired images and generate the Digital Terrain Model (DTM) and Ortho mosaicked images. These products were created using the Structure from Motion (SfM) photogrammetric processing workflow, which involves aligning and matching key points from individual images, georeferencing images using Ground Control Points (GCPs) to optimize camera position and orientation and densifying the point cloud while filtering the ground to facilitate product generation. Ground filtering is a crucial step in DTM generation, classifying point clouds into ground points and above-ground objects like vegetation and buildings. In this study, noise points were manually eliminated following dense point cloud classification. Subsequently, the DTM was produced by interpolating the ground points representing the bare earth surface. Lastly, the Digital Surface Model (DSM) was utilized to generate the mosaicked orthophoto.

## 3.3.3 Land use/cover mapping

The primary purpose of land use/cover mapping in this study was to provide input data for the SLAMM model. To achieve this, we initially processed the downloaded Sentinel satellite images using ERDAS Imagine 2015 software. This involved stacking bands 2, 3, 4, and 5 to create a multispectral image and then cropping the image to match the specific communities covered by the UAV flight, as the original satellite image extended beyond this area. Additionally, we conducted radiometric correction to eliminate atmospheric and lighting effects, enhancing the accuracy of image classification. This correction process addressed issues like haze and noise for each band of the Sentinel-2 datasets. Furthermore, we performed geometric correction to enable integration with other spatial data. This step involved geo-referencing the image since the original Sentinel-2 images were in a global coordinate system (UTM zone 30/WGS 84) and needed transformation to a local projected coordinate system known as the Ghana Metre Grid. For image classification, we used bands 2, 3, 4, and 5 with a 10-meter resolution. Both unsupervised and supervised classification methods were applied, with the Support Vector Machine (SVM) classifier serving as the decision rule for supervised classification. The categorization of land use/cover types was based on SLAMM's predefined categories, which include mangrove, regularly flooded marsh, open beach, and open ocean, as outlined in the SLAMM manual (Clough, 2010). The Normalized Vegetation Index (NDVI) and the Normalized Difference Moisture Index (NDMI) generated from the satellite images to aid in distinguishing mangrove and wetland areas.

# 3.3.4 Sea-level rise risk assessment

Sea level rise risk assessment was performed using the IPCC, the conceptual framework that indicates that climatic risks are a function of hazard, exposure and vulnerability features (IPCC 2014). Data obtained from both primary and secondary were analysed to generate scores for each component of risk which were then aggregated to obtain risk level scores for each study community.

## 3.3.4.1 Sea-level rise hazard modelling

The Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM) was employed to simulate the effects of various sea level rise scenarios on rural coastal communities. The model reveals the processes in the conversion of coastal land use/cover and modification of shorelines over long SLR scenarios. SLR impact analysis was done based on the AR5 IPCC RCP 8.5 projections up to 2090 to assess SLR scenarios. Sea level rise risk modelling was conducted for four different high sea level scenarios, corresponding to the upper limit of expected levels in 2030, 2050, 2070, and 2090, as defined by IPCC AR5. Additionally, a baseline scenario representing conditions in 2021 was used. The UAV survey produced a Digital Terrain Model (DTM), which we used to calculate slope angles in degrees using the spatial analyst extension in ArcGIS Pro. The land use/cover, DTM, and slope files were then converted from raster data format to ASCII Text format. The converted files, including a site environment parameter (erosion and accretion rates) for the study communities were used in the SLAMM Model software version 6.7 to develop the SLR impacts maps. A change detection technique was conducted to identify the changes in the extent, locations, and trajectory of change within the LULC categories. Scores for coastal hazards (erosion and inundation) as stimulated by the SLAMM model were derived from the SLR impacts maps (0.2m, 0.5m, 0.9 m, and 1.4m) for each of the study communities. Figure 3.3 shows a summary of the methodological workflow for Sea-level rise impact modelling.



Figure 3.3: Methodological workflow for Sea-level rise impact modelling Source: Author (2023)

# 3.3.4.2 Mapping elements exposed to sea level rise

Three main indicators were used to estimate the community's exposure to SLR impacts namely land use/cover (LULC), people and residents who have had experience with SLR impacts. The Land use/covers (LULC) in study communities exposed to different SLR scenarios was determined through the post-classification change detection method. This method involved overlaying independently classified images. The SLR impact maps (0.2m, 0.5m, 0.9 m, and 1.4m) simulated in the SLAMM model and 2021 LULC map of the study communities were loaded in combinatorial and spatial analyst tool in ArcGIS Pro 2.7 to indicate LULC that will be likely exposed to SLR impacts. This analysis produces two results, comprising maps and change matrix tables, which were subsequently employed for further analysis. In order to determine the population likely to be exposed to projected SLR impacts, an overlay analysis was performed which involved overlaying the SLR impact maps (generated from the SLAMM model) and buildings (digitized from the 2021 UAV image) in ArcGIS Pro software 2.7 software. Next, a spatial inquiry was carried

out to visually choose the structures within the affect impact area. The number of buildings impacted was then multiplied by the average house size for each community obtained through the questionnaire survey to arrive at the number of people likely to be exposed to SLR impacts. Number of people in the study community who have experienced coastal hazards was obtained from the questionnaire survey.

# 3.3.4.3 Socio-ecological vulnerability assessment

The assessment of socio-ecological vulnerability focused on two primary elements: socioeconomic vulnerability and ecological vulnerability. In terms of the socio-economic vulnerability to the impacts of SLR, six key indicators were selected for both sensitivity and adaptive capacity based on literature and verification from focus group discussions that were conducted in the community communities. The values for the indicators were obtained from the analysis of the questionnaire data. In analysing socio-economic vulnerability within the study communities, the communities were divided into clusters using a georeferenced hexagon with a side of a 2000 square meter grid. Since socioeconomic vulnerability levels vary within a community, the delineation was to assist in identifying which grids were more vulnerable. The advantage of using the spatial hexagonal pattern model in territorial analysis is the ability to perform complex calculations quickly and automatically and also improves the visualization of the results (Birch et al., 2007). The indicators were normalized to come up with standard values between 0 and 1 using Eq. (1) in Table 3.2. Cumulative indicators Eq. (2) (Table 3.2) were also used to calculate the sensitivity and the adaptive capacity index.

SLR Impacts on the coastal ecosystems as stimulated by the SLAMM model and the expert scores on the ecosystem services of the selected ecosystem were used to measure ecological vulnerability. The study adopted the workflow proposed by Cabral et al., (2015) ecological vulnerability assessment, but introduced some modifications in the calculations. Unlike the workflow from Cabral et al., (2015), the ecological vulnerability in this study was assessed using the potential impact of SLR on the coastal ecosystem (cumulative risk) and the ecosystem service provided by the coastal habitat as indicators. Based on land cover map generated for the study communities, ecosystem services provided by the selected ecosystems that support livelihood in the communities were identified and listed. They included mangroves, regularly flooded marsh and open beaches. The CICES scheme was employed to classify 10 ecosystem services to enhance the assessment (refer to Table 2.1). This concept also categorised support and regulatory services under the heading regulating and maintenance. The assessment of the coastal ecosystem involved expert judgment and the determination of the availability of ecosystem services was based on a four-point scale:

- i. A score of 0 indicated that the ecosystem's contribution to providing the service was unknown to the expert group.
- ii. A score of 1 indicated that the contribution to this ecosystem service was minimal, irrelevant, or low.
- iii. A score of 2 indicated a moderate contribution, which was important but substantially less than other habitats.
- iv. A score of 3 indicated a high contribution, considerably above the average.

The assessments of ecosystem availability were based on the average of expert scores. Average scores were computed for the categories of Provisioning, Maintenance,

68

Regulating, and Cultural ecosystem services, and all scores were standardized to a range of 0 to 1. Lastly, the information on selected coastal ecosystem changes and ecosystem service availability were standardized and aggregated using a modified vulnerability quadrant matrix from Ha-Mim *et al.* (2020) to quantify ecosystem vulnerability to sea-level rise impacts (Figure 3.4). Thus, coastal ecosystems with high exposure to SLR and high ecosystem available have a high ecological vulnerability and vice versa. Figure 3.5 shows a summary of the methodological workflow for the vulnerability assessment.



Figure 3.4: Quadrant framework for ecological vulnerability assessment Source: Adapted from Ha-Mim *et al.*, (2020)



Figure 3.5: Methodological workflow for socio-ecological vulnerability assessment Source: Author (2023)

# 3.3.4.4 Sea- level rise risk level assessment

Weighted arithmetic mean (Eq. (3) (Table 3.2) was used to aggregate the three risk components hazard, vulnerability and exposure into a single composite risk indicator and categorized using Zebisch *et al.* (2017) risk level classification, the output was divided into five categories very low (0-0.2), Low (>0.2-0.4), medium (>0.4-0.6), high (>0.6-0.8) and very high (>0.8-1).

Equations	Variable definition	Purpose
Equation (1)		
	$I_i$ =Normalized value of indicator	Standardization of indicators
	$Max_i =$ Maximum value of threshold	
$I_i = (x_i - Min_i)/(Max_i - Min_i)$	$Min_i$ = Minimum value of threshold	
	$x_i$ = value of an indicator	
Equation (2)		
	CI= Cumulative indicator	Aggregating single indicators to sub component
CI = (I * w + I * w + I * w)	$I_i$ =Normalized value of indicator	
$\sum_{i}^{n} w$	$W_i$ =Weight for indicator	
Equation (3)		
	H = Cumulative indicator for hazard	Aggregation of risk components
	V = Cumulative indicator for vulnerability	
$\mathbf{CI} = \underline{(\mathbf{H} * \mathbf{W}_{\underline{\mathbf{H}}} + \mathbf{V} * \mathbf{W}_{\underline{\mathbf{V}}} + \mathbf{E} * \mathbf{W}_{\underline{\mathbf{E}}})}$		
$W_{H} + W_{v} + W_{E}$	E = Cumulative indicator for exposure	
	$W_H$ =Weight for hazard indicator	
	$W_V$ =Weight for vulnerability indicator	
	$W_E$ =Weight for exposure indicator	

# Table 3.2: Equation for calculating risk components

Source: Author (2023)

#### 3.3.5 Assessment of respondent's relocation intention

Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to quantitatively describe and summarize the characteristics of the components (factors). Secondly, the cognitive factors (risk perception, threat appraisal and coping appraisal) were subjected to Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) to examine the strength and relationship between measured variables before including them in the model. The KMO value (Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin) was 0.782, which was higher than the accepted limit of 0.7 (Hair and Black, 2010). The KMO test measures sampling adequacy for each variable in the model and for the complete model. The Barlett sphericity test yielded a significant value of p = 0.000, rejecting the null hypothesis that the correlation matrix is an identity matrix. The Barlett sphericity checks to see if there is a certain redundancy between the variables that can summarize with a few factors that the original dataset was suitable for factor analysis.

In the EFA process, constructs were extracted from all original items using principal component analysis with varimax rotation and factor loadings greater than 0.6. As shown in Table 3.3, three factors, items TA3, TA5 and CA1, which had a factor loading lower than 0.6, were deleted. Cronbach's values for internal validity were determined to test the revised scale's reliability. The values of all derived constructs were greater than 0.7, ranging from 0.801 to 0.901 (See Table 3.3). Cronbach's Alpha value should be higher than 0.7, according to Hair and Black (2010). Thus, it can be inferred that all the cognitive variables in the modified scale were internally consistent and reliable enough to be included in the model. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out to examine the factors that have an influence on the scores of the three cognitive factors. Binary logistic regression was then employed to identify the factors that predict residents' intention to relocate. All

statistical analyses were carried out under a significance test value of 0.05. All the data analyses were done using IBM SPSS version 24.

Constructs	Items		Main factors		Cronbach Alpha
		1	2	3	
	RP1	0.907			
<b>Risk perception</b>	RP2	0.906			0.901
	RP3	0.915			
Threat	TA1		0.893		
appraisal	TA2		0.922		0.861
	TA4		0.847		
Coping	CA2			0.835	
appraisal	CA3			0.817	0.801
	CA4			0.765	

Table 3.3: Varimax-rotated component analysis factor matrix and Cronbach's α values for the cognitive variables

Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy= 0.782 and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity p= 0.000

Source: Author (2023)

# **3.4 Method of Data Presentation**

The analyzed data were presented using maps, tables, graphs, pictures and narrations. The usefulness of these formats is they are easy to read and understand. Spatial data such as SLR impacts, and social-economic vulnerability were presented using maps. Other qualitative data were presented using tables and graphs. Qualitative data which included the results from the interviews and focus group discussion, which were put into themes were presented using narrations.

## **CHAPTER FOUR**

# 4.0 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS**

#### 4.1 Results

#### 4.1.1 Impacts of coastal hazards on rural coastal communities in Ghana

Sea level rise has several impacts on coastal communities such as erosion of beaches, inundation, saltwater intrusion and storm surges. However, in this study, the Digital Shoreline Analysis Software (DSAS) and Sea Level Affecting Marshes Model (SLAMM) were used to model the impacts of erosion and inundation on the coastal communities. Section 4.1.1 looks at the historical erosion and accretion rates in the various study communities which also served as an input in the SLAMM model. Section 4.1.2 also focuses on the impact of different sea level rise scenarios on study communities.

#### 4.1.1.1 Shoreline changes between 1974 and 2021

Quantification of shoreline changes rate in the study communities was accomplished using End point rate (EPR) and Linear Regression Rates (LRR) statistics to describe the shoreline changes in the study communities. Figures 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3, show the shoreline changes in the various communities from 1974 and 2021. The results show that, from 1974 to 2021, Anlo Beach Community experienced the most consistent shoreline changes, while Sawoma and Glefe-Wiaboman Communities recorded more unpredictable changes. Sawoma experienced changes in shoreline with average EPR ranging from a high of -2.4 m to a low of 0.36 m. The average LRR over the years 1974 to 2021 was 0.86 m/yr  $\pm$  0.12 m (Figure 4.1). Trends in the results indicated that shoreline changes were highest around the builtup area. Within the Anlo Beach community, the area close to the Pra River estuary experienced the highest change in coastline extent, with the loss of approximately 100 m of land. This can be attributed to the interaction between the Pra River and sea. The area east of the estuary recorded the lowest changes over the 47-year period. Averagely, the community recorded EPR ranging from a high of -3.95 m to a low of -0.56 m and LRR of  $1.21 \text{ m/yr} \pm 0.10 \text{ m}$  (Figure 4.2). Glefe-wiaboman generally, also recorded general land loss trends during the period 1974-2021. The greatest shoreline changes were recorded at the westernmost part towards the Densu River estuary and a few areas in the middle portion of the beach. The community recorded an average EPR ranging from a high of -1.75 m to a low of -0.52 m and an LRR of 0.7 m/yr  $\pm$  0.04 m over the 47-year period (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.1: Shoreline change and trends in the Sawoma community for the period 1974-2021



Figure 4.2: Shoreline change and trends in the Anlo Beach community for the period 1974-2021



Figure 4.3: Shoreline change and trends in the Glefe-wiaboman community for the period 1974-2021

#### 4.1.1.2 Impact of different sea level rise scenarios on the study communities

The calculation of the combined land area impacted by various hazards such as erosion/accretion and inundation for each sea-level rise scenario, as well as the cumulative impact over time in each community, are depicted in Figures 4.4, 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7. This provided a better understanding of how sea level-related phenomena affect rural coastal communities in terms of their geographical reach. As shown in Figure 4.4a and Figure 4.5, the land area impacted by erosion/accretion resulting from SLR indicates that Glefewiaboman will likely experience the largest impact of erosion/accretion, at a growth rate that substantially exceeds the other communities. A rise in SLR from 0.2 m to 1.4 m will likely lead to an additional  $0.8 \pm 5.9 \text{ km}^2$  of land impacted by erosion/accretion on Sawoma  $(0.11 \pm 0.02 \text{ km}^2)$ , Anlo Beach  $(0.18 \pm 0.03 \text{ km}^2)$  and Glefe-wiaboman  $(0.53 \pm 0.12 \text{ km}^2)$ combined ( $\pm$  values are standard errors). It is anticipated that each community's land area that will likely be inundated will likely increase by roughly the same amount over time except for an exacerbated increase in Glefe-wiaboman by 2090 (Figure. 4.4b). With SLR up 1.4m, approximately  $0.86 \pm 0.42$  km<sup>2</sup> of land will be impacted by inundation in the rural communities of Sawoma (0.01  $\pm$  0.01 km<sup>2</sup>), Anlo Beach (0.19  $\pm$  0.09 km<sup>2</sup>) and Glefewiaboman  $(0.6 \pm 0.42 \text{ km}^2)$  combined. Cumulative impacts resulting from both erosion/accretion and inundation (Figure. 4.4c) indicate that on average of about  $1.67 \pm$ 0.72 km<sup>2</sup> of rural coastal community land will likely be impacted for up to 1.4 m SLR scenario for Sawoma (0.11  $\pm$  0.03 km<sup>2</sup>), Anlo Beach (0.38  $\pm$  0.12 km<sup>2</sup>) and Glefewiaboman ( $0.18 \pm 0.56 \text{ km}^2$ ). Although further research is needed to fully understand the specific mechanisms behind the variations among communities, it is possible that the lowlying topography of Glefe-wiaboman resulted in the increase SLR impacts in this community.



Figure 4.4: Quantification of the land area impacted by (a) Erosion (b) Inundation and (c) Cumulative hazard



Figure 4.5: Land area impacted by coastal erosion/inundation due to increased SLR in Sawoma



Figure 4.6: Land area impacted by coastal erosion/inundation due to increased SLR in Anlo Beach



Figure 4.7: Land area impacted by coastal erosion/inundation due to increased SLR in Glefe-wiaboman
#### **4.1.2** Mapping elements exposure to sea level rise impacts

Elements exposed to climate hazards as explained by IPCC (2014) are the people, livelihood, ecosystem, etc. that could be adversely affected by the hazards. In order to know and quantify these exposed elements in the study communities, it was necessary to model the land use/ cover within the rural coastal community's landscape, map the buildings within the study communities and estimate the population exposed to SLR impacts.

# 4.1.2.1 Land use/cover (LULC) in study communities exposed to different SLR scenarios

The Land use/covers (LULC) in study communities exposed to different SLR scenarios was generated through the post-classification change detection technique. The analysis involved overlay of the SLR impact maps (0.2m, 0.5m, 0.9 m, and 1.4m) simulated in the SLAMM model and 2021 LULC map of the study communities. Table 1-3 in Appendix D contains details results for the analysis.

#### (a) Proportion of land use/covers in study communities in 2021

In the context of this study, the 2021 land use/cover maps for the study communities, served as the baseline for sea level rise modelling. As shown in Table 4.1, in 2021 the most predominant LULC in Sawoma was the developed/undeveloped which occupied 0.963 km<sup>2</sup> (70.3 percent) of the study community. Open ocean including the river estuary occupied 0.186 km<sup>2</sup> (13.6 percent) of the area. Regularly flooded marshes occupied approximately 0.148 km<sup>2</sup> representing 10.8 percent of the total study area. The rest of the study area was occupied by open beach which represented 0.073 km<sup>2</sup> (5.3 percent) of the total wetland area. It is worth mentioning that the mangrove strand located about a kilometre from the Sawoma community was not captured as part of the study area.

In Anlo Beach, Results from the LULC classification shown in Table 4.1 reveals that the land area under study is covered in descending order by regularly flooded marsh 2.527 km<sup>2</sup> (38.7 percent), mangrove 2.152 km<sup>2</sup> (32.9 percent), developed/undeveloped land 0.811 (12.4 percent), open ocean (including the river estuary) 0.772 km<sup>2</sup> (11.8 percent), and ocean beach 0.274 (4.2 percent). It was found that regularly flooded marsh was the major land cover whereas the least was ocean beach in 2021.

Open ocean was the most prevalent land cover class in Glefe-wiaboman in 2021 as a result of the dendritic nature of the Densu River estuary taking up about  $1.877 \text{ km}^2$  (38.3 percent). The rest of the study area was covered in descending order by regularly flooded marsh 2.527 km<sup>2</sup> (30.5 percent), mangrove 0.838 km<sup>2</sup> (13.6 percent), developed/undeveloped land 0.676 km<sup>2</sup> (11.0 percent), and ocean beach 0.411 km<sup>2</sup> (6.7 percent) (Table 4.1).

	Sawor	na	Anlo Bea	ach	Glefe-wiab	oman
LULC class	Area (km <sup>2</sup> )		Area (km <sup>2</sup> )		Area (km <sup>2</sup> )	
		percen		percen		perce
		t		t		nt
Developed/undeveloped						
land	0.963	70.3	0.811	12.4	0.676	11.0
Regularly flooded marsh	0.148	10.8	2.527	38.7	1.877	30.5
Mangrove	-	-	2.152	32.9	0.838	13.6
Ocean beach	0.073	5.3	0.274	4.2	0.411	6.7
Open ocean	0.186	13.6	0.772	11.8	2.356	38.3
Total	1.371	100	6.5366	100	6.157	100
Common Arithan (2022)						

Table 4.1: Proportion of land use/covers in study communities in 2021

Source: Author (2023)

#### (b) Proportion of LULC likely to be exposed to different SLR scenarios (2030-2090)

Figures 4.8a-c indicate the land use/cover types that will likely be exposed to different SLR scenarios simulated by the SLAMM Model. With the assumption of no protection in the model procedure, the areas of developed dry land and undeveloped will change significantly in all the communities. Figure 4.8a shows that with an increase in the SLR to 0.9 m, about 17.0 percent of the developed/undeveloped lands and ocean beach areas in Sawoma are likely to be exposed to SLR impacts. If the sea level rises up to 1.4 m in the study area, 10.8 percent of only developed/undeveloped land areas are likely to be exposed to SLR impacts.

With an increase of 0.5m rise in sea level in 2050, 4.1 percent of developed/undeveloped land, mangrove and ocean beach areas will likely be exposed to coastal erosion/inundation in Anlo Beach. Also, about 3.0 percent of regularly flooded marsh, developed/undeveloped land and ocean beach areas are likely to be exposed to SLR impacts at a rise of 1.4m. Approximately 2.3 percent and 0.9 percent of developed/undeveloped land and ocean beach will likely be exposed with a SLR of 1.4m (Figure 4.8b).

As indicated in Figure 4.8c, ocean beach, developed/undeveloped land, and regularly flooded marsh areas in Glefe-wiaboman covering 1.6 percent, 1.4 percent and 0.8 percent respectively will likely be exposed to an SLR of 0.2m. When the sea level rises between 0.5-1.4 m above the present Mean Sea Level (MSL), about 35.7 percent of developed/undeveloped land, and regularly flooded marsh in Glefe-wiaboman will likely be exposed to sea level rise impacts.



■ Developed/undeveloped land ■ Regularly flooded marsh ■ Mangrove ■ Ocean beach



Figure 4.8: Percentage of Land use/cover likely to be exposed to SLR impacts in (a) Sawoma (b) Anlo Beach and (c) Glefe-wiaboman

#### 4.1.2.2 People likely to be exposed to different SLR scenarios

The results of the SLR scenarios indicated that the number of buildings likely to be exposed are 129, 368 and 1610 for Sawoma, Anlo Beach and Glefe-Wiaboman respectively (Figure 9). These values were then multiplied by the average household size (obtained through the questionnaire survey) in each community. Figure 4.9 shows that with an increase in SLR between 0.2-1.4m about 761, 2024 and 8211 people in Sawoma, Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman respectively are likely to be exposed to SLR impacts.



Figure 4.9: Number of people likely to be exposed to SLR impacts

#### 4.1.2.3 People with experience of sea-level impacts

People with experience in dealing with hazards could potentially increase the area's readiness or preparedness for the impacts of sea level rise. They might have insights into how to manage or mitigate the effects of SLR due to their prior experiences with other hazards. As a result, areas that are more likely to be exposed to SLR may be better equipped

to handle the consequences. Of the 359 people surveyed, 293 indicated that they have experienced hazards resulting from sea-level rise (Figure 4.10). Of these, 185 (63.1 percent) were reported in Anlo Beach while 57 (19.5 percent) and 51 (17.4 percent) were in Sawoma and Glefe-Wiaboman, respectively.



Figure 4.10: Respondents' experience of sea-level impacts (Coastal erosion/flooding) in the study communities

# **4.1.3.** Assessment of the vulnerability of the rural coastal socio-ecological systems to Sea-Level Rise (SLR) impacts

Socio-ecological vulnerability (SEV) assessment is essential to better inform management interventions for community resilience in SLR. Socio-ecological vulnerability takes into account both social factors (access to resources, livelihoods) and ecological factors (such as ecosystem degradation and ecosystem service availability). These factors can interact and exacerbate each other, leading to increased vulnerability. The analysis in this study was based on two main components socio-economic (sensitivity and adaptive capacity) and ecological vulnerability (Change in area and ecosystem service availability).

#### 4.1.3.1 Socio-economic vulnerability components

Socio-economic vulnerability takes into account the interplay between social factors, such as gender, age, ethnicity, and education, and economic factors, including income, employment, and access to basic services. It recognizes that communities facing multiple disadvantages are more likely to be vulnerable. In analysing socio-economic vulnerability, six (6) sensitivity and adaptive capacity, key indicators were used to quantify socio-economic vulnerability.

#### (a) Community sensitivity components

According to IPCC (2014), sensitivity refers to attributes of the system that directly affect the consequences of a hazard. It may include physical attributes of a system or social, economic and cultural attributes. In this study, six attributes that were used to assess the sensitivity level of the communities included gender, age structure, income structure, employment status, dependence on natural resources and quality of building material (Table 4.2).

Indicator		Com	munity	
		Sawoma (N=64)	Anlo Beach (N=193)	Glefe- wiaboman (N=102)
Gender	Percentage			· · · · ·
	Male	36.5	50.3	55.3
	Female	63.5	49.7	44.7
Age	Years Minimum	18	18	18
	Maximum	67	73	74
	Mean	40.5	42.9	35.5
Income (Monthly)	Ghc Minimum	0	0	0
	Maximum	1200	2500	3000
	Mean	378.1	556.0	681.7
Employment status	Percentage			
	Yes	93.7	98.4	91.3
	No	6.3	1.6	8.7
Dependence on natural resource	Percentage			
	Yes	71.4	89.1	24.3
	No	28.6	10.9	75.7
Building quality				
Foundation material	C .	27.0	22.0	24.0
	Concrete	27.0	23.8	34.0
	Block	60.3	57.5	66.0
	Clay	-	11.9	-
	Rafia	12.7	6.7	-
Wall material	Percentage			
	Block	31.7	69.9	99.0
	Clay	1.6	17.6	1.0
	Rafia	66.7	12.4	

<b>Table 4.2:</b>	<b>Characteristics of</b>	community	sensitivity	level
-------------------	---------------------------	-----------	-------------	-------

As indicated in Table 4.2 out of the 359 respondents from the three coastal rural communities, 64 (17.8 percent) were from Sawoma, 193 (53.8 percent) from Anlo Beach and 102 (28.4 percent) from Glefe-Wiaboman. The percentages of male and female respondents were nearly equal among communities except Sawoma which had more females (63.5 percent) than males (36.5 percent). The average age of the household heads was between 35.5 and 40.5 years. In analysing the income levels, the mean income for respondents was between 378.1 and 681.7 Ghana cedis with Sawoma having the lowest maximum income of 1200 Ghana cedis. The income disparity can be attributed to the fact that most respondents were engaged in fishing and subsistence agriculture. Household heads who are unemployed were categorized as having high sensitivity to SLR impacts compared to household heads employed and most of the respondents in the study community were employed. Most of the respondents in Sawoma (71.4 percent) and Anlo Beach (89.1 percent) depended solely on natural resources for their livelihoods compared to the respondents in Glefe-wiaboman community which is close to the capital city Accra. Vulnerability to the impacts of SLR also depends on the quality of the materials used to build the houses. Compared to buildings with mud foundations, buildings with block or concrete foundations are likely to be more resistant to the impacts of SLR. As depicted in Table 1, about 50 percent of the respondents in each of the study communities had buildings with block foundations. Building with a block foundation is common since is more affordable compared to the concrete foundation. Understanding the physical fragility of buildings and structures to SLR impacts requires knowledge of their wall materials (Tiepolo, 2014). Table 4.2 shows that the main wall material for most of the buildings in Sawoma was raffia (66.7) as compared to Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman with 69.9 percent and 99.0 percent of buildings with block as wall material.

Indicators such as gender, age, income structure, employment status, dependence on natural resources for livelihood and quality of building materials were combined to generate the sensitivity map for the study communities (Figure 11). The grids were categorized into low (0 < VI < 0.45), medium (0.45 < VI < 0.70), and high (0.70 < VI < 1.00) sensitivity by their sensitivity index. Sawoma community had approximately 71.4 percent, 20.6 percent and 7.9 percent of the respondents in the medium, high, and low sensitivity levels respectively. Most of the respondents who scored medium sensitivity levels were located within the Sawoma old close to the Ankobra River estuary. Similar trends were recorded in Anlo Beach with about 81.3 percent, 11.9 percent and 6.2 percent in the medium, high and low sensitivity levels respectively. Glefe-wiaboman on the other hand about 50.5 percent of the respondents scored low sensitivity, followed by 48.5 percent and 1 percent in medium and high sensitivity levels respectively.



Figure 4.11: Sensitivity levels of the study communities

#### (b) Community adaptative capacity level

Adaptive capacity refers to the capability of systems, institutions, individuals, and other living entities to adapt in the face of potential harm, seize opportunities, or react to outcomes (IPCC, 2014). Six indicators obtained from the questionnaire survey were used the measure the capacity level of the communities. They included access to loans, availability of saving facilities, alternative livelihood, other income sources available to the respondent, membership in the health insurance scheme and respondent's involvement in social groups (Figure 4.12 a, b and c).

With regard to access to loans, more than half of the respondents in Anlo Beach responded in the affirmative. Sawoma and Glefe-wiaboman communities were almost at pal with 19 percent and 19.4 percent of the total respondents having access to loans. About 68.4 percent of respondents in Anlo Beach community have access to saving facilities followed by Sawoma community with 36.5 percent and Glefe-wiaboman community with 25.2 percent. percent. Furthermore, the majority of respondents in Anlo Beach (63.2 percent) had alternative livelihoods compared to Sawoma (38.1 percent) and Glefe-wiboman (19.4 percent). Among all the three communities, there was generally a low number of respondents who had other sources of income. The percentage of respondents who had access to health insurance was in the same range of 78.2 percent, 71.7 percent and 61.9 percent for Anlo Beach, Glefe-wiaboman and Sawoma respectively. In terms of affiliation to social groups, the majority of the respondents in Anlo Beach (78.2 percent) responded in the affirmative. This is followed by Sawoma (28.6 percent) and Glefe-wiaboman (17.5 percent) of respondents that belong to the social group.





c.







∎Yes ■No

∎Yes ■No

Figure 4.12: Percentage of response for the adaptive capacity indicator in (a) Sawoma (b) Anlo Beach and (c) Glefe-wiaboman

The indicators were aggregated to measure the adaptive capacity of the communities, a spatial map was created as shown in Figure 4.13. Sawoma community had approximately 79.4 percent, 19.0 percent and 1.6 percent of the respondents were in the low, medium, and high adaptive capacity levels respectively. Unlike Sawoma community, Anlo Beach had about 48.2 percent 32.6 percent and 19.2 percent in the low and high adaptive capacity levels. In Glefe-wiaboman, a similar trend as in the Sawoma community was observed: 80.6 percent of the respondents had adaptive capacity, followed by 16.5 percent and 2.9 percent with medium and high adaptive capacity levels respectively.



Figure 4.13: Adaptive capacity levels of the study communities

#### (c) Socio-economic vulnerability

Socio-economic vulnerability maps were generated by combining the sensitivity and adaptive capacity maps of the study communities. The maps were categorized into low (0 < VI > 0.45), medium (0.45 < VI > 0.70), and high (0.70 < VI > 1.00) socio-economic vulnerability. Figure 4.14a-4.14c depicts the socio-economic vulnerability levels in Sawoma, Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman respectively. Sawoma community had approximately 50.8 percent, 47.6 percent and 1.6 percent of the respondents were in medium, high and low socio-economic vulnerability respectively. Anlo Beach also had about 75.6 percent, 12.4 percent and 11.9 percent in the medium, high and low socio-economic vulnerability levels. Glefe-wiaboman had a similar trend compared to the other two communities with about 76.7 percent, 19.4 percent and 3.9 percent of the respondents in medium, high and low socio-economic vulnerability.



Figure 4.12: Socio-economic vulnerability levels of the study communities

#### 4.1.3.2 Ecological vulnerability

Several studies have been conducted on ecological vulnerability from the perspectives of exposure, sensitivity, and adaptability of ecosystems to climate change (Kling *et al.*, 2020; Metcalf *et al.*, 2015). In this study, ecological vulnerability was assessed using the potential impact of SLR on the coastal ecosystem and the ecosystem service provided by the coastal habitat. The area changes stimulated by the SLAMM model and the expert assessments of the ecosystem services of the selected ecosystems were used as a proxy for measuring the vulnerability of the ecosystem to the impacts of sea level rise.

#### (a) Changes in coastal ecosystems induced by SLR

Table 4.3 indicates the coastal ecosystems in the study communities that are likely to be impacted by different SLR scenarios. With the assumption of no protection in the model procedure, the proportion of different coastal ecosystems changed significantly compared to the present day. The modelling results show that with an increase in SLR of 0.2m open beach areas are likely to be reduced in all the study communities with Glefe-wiaboman having the highest reduction of 1.601km<sup>2</sup>. Regularly flooded marsh will likely increase in Anlo beach and Sawoma but reduce substantially in Glefe-wiaboman. Mangrove area will likely reduce slightly in Anlo beach but increase in Glefe-wiaboman.

Open beach area will likely decrease significantly in all the study communities with a 0.5m SLR. Regularly flooded marsh will likely increase slightly in Anlo Beach and Sawoma but will likely reduce Glefe-wiaboman. Mangrove areas will likely increase significantly in Glefe-wiaboman, it will, however, remain unchanged in Anlo beach. With an increase of 0.9m rise in sea level, open beach will likely be reduced in Sawoma and Anlo Beach but will likely increase significantly in GLefe-wiaboman. Both Anlo Beach and Glefe-

Wiaboman will likely see a decrease in regularly flooded marsh. In Glefe-wiaboman, mangrove areas will likely increase, whereas, in Anlo Beach, they will likely decline. The open beach area will likely increase to occupy about 2.683 km<sup>2</sup> and 1.919 km<sup>2</sup> in Glefe-wiaboman and Sawoma as accretion will likely occur with a SLR of 1.4m. However, open beach area in Anlo Beach will likely decrease. Regularly flooded marsh will increase in Anlo beach and Sawoma but will likely reduce considerably in Glefe-wiaboman. The braided deltaic nature of the Densu estuary, which allows for a large portion of the land to be covered by seawater, maybe attributed to the decline in regularly flooded marsh in Glefe-wiaboman. As a result of increasing soil salinity caused by SLR flooding, and favouring mangroves, mangrove areas in Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman are likely to increase.

	0.2m	0.5m	0.9m	1.4m		
Coastal ecosystems	Sawoma					
<b>Regularly flooded</b>	+0.277	+0.350	+0.562	+2.197		
marsh						
Open beach	-3.715	-3.883	-3.197	+1.919		
		Anlo ]	Beach			
<b>Regularly flooded</b>	+0.138	+0.173	-0.370	+0.115		
marsh						
Mangrove	-0.101	-0.115	+	+0.439		
-			0.586			
Open beach	-1.495	-1.854	-1.632	-0.907		
		Glefe-wi	iaboman			
<b>Regularly flooded</b>	-0.737	-1.369	-2.212	-12.186		
marsh						
Mangrove	+0.750	+1.384	+2.451	+12.974		
Open beach	-1.601	-0.174	+2.599	+2.683		

 Table 4.3: Change in area (Km<sup>2</sup>) coastal ecosystems induced by different SLR scenarios

+ = Increase, - = Decrease

Source: Author (2022)

#### (b) Coastal ecosystems service availability

Table 4.4 shows the correspondence matrix between the most relevant coastal ecosystems in the study communities and the expert assessment of the selected coastal ecosystem services availability. Mangroves and regularly flooded marshes are the ecosystems that provide the highest availability of provisioning, regulating and maintenance services. Cultural services are mostly provided by the open beach ecosystem.

Coastal ecosystems	Provisioning	Regulating and	Cultural
		maintenance	
Mangrove	0.6	0.9	0.4
Regularly flooded marsh	0.5	0.7	0.3
Open beach	0.2	0.3	0.6

Table 4.4: Ecosystem service availability by habitat

#### Source: Author (2023)

#### (c) Cumulative ecological vulnerability

A modified vulnerability quadrant matrix from Ha-Mim *et al.*, (2020) was used to aggregate the scores obtained for SLR impact on the coastal ecosystem and its resultant ecosystem service availability in the study communities (See Figure 3.4). As depicted in Table 4.5, coastal ecosystems in Anlo beach and Sawoma will likely be moderately vulnerable to sea level rise impacts whilst that of Glefe-wiaboman will likely be highly vulnerable to an increase in sea level rise.

Ecological vulnerability
0.5
0.6
0.3

Table 4.5: Cumulative ecological vulnerability index for the study communities

Source: Author (2023)

#### 4.1.4 Assessment of risk levels of the rural coastal communities to sea-level rise

#### (SLR) impacts

In order to generate the SLR risk levels for the communities, the conceptual framework for climate risk which was adapted from IPCC (2014) was used. This framework outlines risk as being dependent on factors such as hazards (impacts), exposure, and vulnerability. Table 4.6 shows the index for the risk component. Each component of risk as discussed below is categorized using Zebisch et al., (2017) classification of risk level using the relative scores for each component. Also, see Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 for the descriptive statistics on hazard, exposure, and vulnerability scores.

Community	Hazard	Exposure	Vulnerability	Risk	
Sawoma	0.01	0.31	0.49	0.27	
Anlo Beach	0.25	0.48	0.60	0.44	
Glefe-wiaboman	1	0.7	0.43	0.71	

Table 4.6: Indices for hazard, exposure, vulnerability, and risk for the study communities

Source: Author (2023)

#### 4.1.4.1 Impacts of coastal hazards on study communities

The coastal hazards modelled in this study included erosion and inundation and helped to understand how different SLR scenarios can influence community risk. The hazard index ranges from 0.01 to 1 with Glefe-wiaboman recording the highest hazard score of 1 and can be attributed to the low-lying topography of Glefe-wiaboman. Anlo Beach recorded 0.25 whilst Sawoma recorded the least of 0.01 (Table 4.6). The scores show how the three rural communities are exposed to different levels of coastal hazards.

#### 4.1.4.2 Community exposure to SLR

In general, the exposure of the rural coastal communities to the impacts of SLR ranged from high to medium, as the characteristics of the communities were not the same. Information derived from people's experiences of SLR impacts also accounts for the differences in exposure levels. As shown in Table 4.6, Glefe-wiaboman scored the high (0.7) whilst Anlo Beach and Sawoma recorded 0.48 and 0.31 respectively.

#### 4.1.4.3 Socio-ecological vulnerability of the study communities

Table 4.6 shows the socio-ecological profiles of all the study communities. The socioecological vulnerability ranged from 0.43 to 0.60 with Anlo Beach recording the highest score of 0.60. This was expected as Anlo beach community recorded the highest ecological vulnerability score (Section 4.3.2). Sawoma and Glefe-wiaboman recorded 0.43 and 0.49 respectively. With majority of the respondents scoring medium sensitivity level and low adaptive capacity level significantly contributed to low to medium Socio-ecological vulnerability levels.

#### 4.1.4.4 SLR risk levels in the study communities

To determine the SLR risk for the study communities, the weighted arithmetic mean was used which involved aggregating the three risk components of hazard, exposure and vulnerability into a single risk indicator. Using Zebisch *et al.*, (2017) classification, the risk levels of the study communities ranged from low to high risk, with Glefe-wiaboman having a high risk of 0.71 while Anlo beach and Sawoma had medium and low-risk levels of 0.27 and 0.44 respectively (Table 4.6). The case of Glefe-wiaboman was not surprising as it recorded the highest hazard and exposure score. Although it recorded the lowest vulnerability level it was not enough to offset these scores.

# 4.1.5. Factors influencing household's relocation intention in response to anticipation of sea-level rise

Understanding individual adaptation and community behaviour is critical in implementing climate change adaptation strategies. This section draws on the Protection Motivation Theory (PMT) to assess the factors influencing the relocation intention of study communities. It employs both descriptive and inferential statistics to assess key factors that influence residents' readiness to relocate in anticipation of sea level rise.

#### 4.1.5.1 Descriptive statistics of variables used in the study

Table 4.7 summarizes the respondent's socio-demographic characteristics. The communities studied are not homogeneous, it is, therefore, important to understand their socio-economic composition in order to assess their behaviour towards climate adaptation measures. Other variables considered in the study are also summarized using figures.

#### (a) Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Respondents

Of the 359 respondents from the three coastal rural communities, 64 (17.8 percent) were from Sawoma, 193 (53.8 percent) from Anlo Beach and 102 (28.4 percent) from Glefewiaboman (Table 3). The percentages of male and female respondents were 46.0 percent and 54 percent, respectively. The majority of respondents (49.0 percent) were between the ages of 35 and 55. In terms of educational level, the majority of the respondents had completed middle school/junior high school (42.9 percent). Most of the respondents (53.2 percent) earned GHC101-500 every month. Only 10 percent of the respondents earned less than GHC 100 per month.

	Community							
	Saw	voma	Anlo	Beach	Gl	efe-	To	tal
Background					Wiał	oman		
cnaracteristics	N	0/2	N	0/2	N	0⁄2	N	0/2
Community	64	17.8	193	53.8	102	28.4	359	100
Sex	0.	1110	170	0010	102	2011		100
Male	23	13.9	96	58.2	48	27.9	165	46.0
Female	41	21.1	97	50.0	58	28.9	194	54.0
Age (years)								
<35 (Young adult)	22	17.2	55	43.0	51	39.8	128	35.7
35-55 (middle aged	33	18.8	98	55.7	45	25.6	176	49.0
adult)								
>55 (older adult)	9	16.4	40	72.7	6	10.9	55	15.3
Educational level								
No formal	13	20.0	46	70.8	6	9.2	65	18.1
education								
Primary	19	19.4	67	68.4	12	12.2	98	27.3
JHS/Middle	25	16.2	66	42.9	63	40.9	154	42.9
SHS/Voc/Tech	7	16.7	14	33.3	21	50.0	42	11.7
Average monthly								
income								
> GHC 100	8	22.2	17	47.2	11	30.6	36	10
GHC101-500	44	23.0	104	54.5	43	22.5	191	53.2
GHC 501-999	8	10.3	48	61.5	22	28.2	78	21.7
<ghc 1000<="" td=""><td>4</td><td>7.4</td><td>24</td><td>44.4</td><td>26</td><td>48.1</td><td>54</td><td>15.0</td></ghc>	4	7.4	24	44.4	26	48.1	54	15.0

 Table 4.7: Socio-demographic characteristics of respondents

Source: Author (2022)

#### (b) Risk perception, Threat and Coping Appraisal

As shown in Figure 4.15, the communities had some differences in terms of cognitive factors. Anlo Beach and Sawoma had a score greater than 4.0 for all factors of threat appraisal except for TA3 (Neighborhood, friends, and/or family decide to leave the area) which Sawoma scored less than 4.0. Glefe-Wiaboman, on the other, had a score of less than 4.0 for all the threat appraisal factors (Figure 4.14a). For coping appraisal factors, Anlo Beach had a score greater than 4.0 for all the factors. Sawoma had a score of less than 4.0 except for CA1 (Relocation cost), with a score of 4 (Figure 4.14b). Anlo Beach and Sawoma scored the highest mean score greater than 3 in all the risk perception factors whilst Glefe had a mean score less than 3 (Figure 4.14c).



Figure 4.15: Scored values of factors associated with (a) Threat Appraisal (TA) (b) Coping Appraisal (CA) and (c) Risk Perception (RP)

#### (c) Hazard experience

Out of 359 respondents interviewed, 293 indicated that they have experience hazards resulting from sea-level rise (Figure 4.16). Of these, 185 (63.1 percent) were reported in Anlo beach whilst 57 (19.5 percent) and 51 (17.4 percent) were in Sawoma and Glefe-Wiaboman, respectively.



#### Figure 4.16: Respondents' experience of sea-level impacts (Coastal erosion/flooding) in the study communities

#### (d) Proximity to hazard areas.

Studies have revealed that proximity to hazard can influence risk perception and people living close to hazard areas will likely adopt coping strategies to mitigate the risk (Arias *et al.*, 2017; Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Most of the respondents in study communities were affected by the flood and/or erosion depending on their proximity to these hazards. The results presented in Figure 4.17 indicated that, in terms of erosion, 40 percent of the respondents in Sawoma were located 101- 400 m to the erosion risk areas and 5 percent were located 700 m and beyond away from the erosion risk areas. In the Anlo beach community, 88 percent of the respondents were less than 100 m from the erosion risk areas and 5 percent

were within 401-700 m of the erosion risk areas. A vast difference was noted in Glefewiaboman community, half of the respondents (51 percent) were located less than 100 m from the erosion risk areas. With regards to proximity to flood risk areas, as shown in Figure 4.17, the majority of the respondents in Sawoma (39 percent) were within 401-700 m close to the flood risk areas. All the respondents in Anlo beach were located less than 100 m to the flood risk areas. In Glefe-wiaboman, the majority of the respondents (73 percent) were within less than 100m of the flood risk areas.



Figure 4.15: Respondents proximity to shoreline in the study communities

#### 4.1.5.2 Measures of association between factors considered in the study

Post Hoc Tests were conducted to find the difference between the compositional/contextual factors and the cognitive factors (Table 4 in Appendix E). The results indicated that the age group middle-aged adults and older adults were statistically associated with risk perception (P < 0.008 and P < 0.005 respectively) compared to young adults. In terms of the level of education of the respondents with primary education had a statistically significant influence on coping appraisal (P < 0.027) compared to respondents with no formal education. Respondents within the income category GHC 101-500 and GHC 501-999 had a statistically significant influence on both threat appraisal and coping appraisal. Hazard experience of the respondents had a statistically significant influence on risk perception (P < 0.000) and threat appraisal (P < 0.019). Respondents living at a distance between 100 and 300 metres from showed a statistically significant association with risk perception (P < 0.000), threat appraisal (P < 0.009), and coping appraisal (P < 0.015). Distance to flood risk areas of the respondents had a statistically significant influence on both threat appraisal (P < 0.002) and coping appraisal (P < 0.036). ANOVA was conducted to examine the association between the cognitive factors and relocation intention whilst Pearson chisquare and Cramer's V statistics were employed to assess the relationship between compositional/ contextual factors and relocation intention.

The results of the one-way ANOVA (Table 4.8) show that among the three cognitive factors, risk perception had a statistically significant relationship with relocation intention. Additionally, the Pearson chi-square and Cramer's V statistics results (Table 4.9) indicated there is no association between relocation intention and the compositional and contextual factors.

<b>Table 4.8:</b>	Analysis of var	iance (ANOV	A) results of	Cognitive f	actors and	relocation
intention						

Variable	P-value
Risk perception	0.000*
Threat Appraisal	0.084
Coping Appraisal	0.040*

Source: Author (2022)

Table 4.9: Distribution of	compositional	and contextual	variables by	predictor
variables.				

	<b>Relocation Intention</b>		
Variable			
	Will relocate	Will not	Inferential statistics
		relocate	
Sex of respondent			
Male	147	18	$\chi^2$ =0.79, p-value =0.456; Cramér's V =
Female	171	23	0.15
Age of respondent			
Young adult	117	11	$\chi^2$ =1.879, p-value =0.391; Cramér's V =
Middle-aged adult	152	24	0.72
Older Adult	49	6	
Educational level			
No formal education	55	10	χ <sup>2</sup> =2.700, p-value =0.440; Cramér's V =
Primary	85	13	0.087
JHS/Middle	141	13	
SHS/Voc/Tech and above	37	5	
Average monthly income			
> GHC 100	33	3	$\chi^2$ = 3.524, p-value = 0.318; Cramér's V
GHC101-500	170	21	= 0.099
GHC 501-999	71	7	
<ghc 1000<="" td=""><td>44</td><td>10</td><td></td></ghc>	44	10	
Elevation			
>4m	233	30	$\chi^2$ =1.780, p-value =0.411; Cramér's V =
4-9m	73	11	0.070
<9m	12	0	
Distance to shoreline			
>100m	134	12	$\chi^2$ =3.671, p-value =0.160; Cramér's V =
100-400m	159	27	0.101
<400	25	2	
Hazard experience			$\chi^2$ = 3.654, p-value =0.440; Cramér's V =
Yes	264	29	0.101
No	54	12	

Source: Author (2022)

#### 4.1.5.3 Factors affecting relocation decision

The relationship between relocation intention and the key predictors (cognitive factors), compositional and contextual were examined using four different models in the multivariate analysis. The models employed were cognitive factors (model 1), biosocial factors (model 2), sociocultural factors (model 3), and contextual factors (model 4). Table 4.10 presents the proportional odds ratios, robust standard errors, probability values, and confidence intervals for the cognitive factors, compositional, and contextual components.

Variables	Odds	Robust SE	P-value	Conf. Interval	
	ratio				
Model 1: Cognitive Factors	1 405	0.170	0.001	1 100	1.000
Risk perception	1.495	0.179	0.001	1.182	1.890
Threat Appraisal	1.334	0.160	0.017	1.054	1.688
Coping Appraisal	1.304	0.190	0.068	0.980	1./34
Model 2: Model 1 + Biosocial factors	1.570	0.200	0.000	1 225	2 0 1 0
Risk perception	1.572	0.200	0.000	1.225	2.018
Coming Americal	1.327	0.103	0.023	1.040	1.092
Copiling Appraisal Say (ref: Famala)	1.290	0.182	0.071	0.979	1.700
Male	1 202	0.350	0.527	0.679	2 1 2 8
Age (ref: Young adult)	1.202	0.550	0.527	0.077	2.120
Middle-aged adult	0.440	0.155	0.020	0.221	0.876
Older adult	0.919	0.490	0.825	0.323	2.614
Model 3: Model 2 + Socio-cultural factors	0.919	0.190	0.075	0.525	2.011
Risk perception	1 633	0.215	0.000	1 261	2 115
Threat Appraisal	1.359	0.177	0.019	1.052	1.754
Coping Appraisal	1.208	0.178	0.198	0.906	1.611
Sex (ref: Female)	1.200	0.170	0.170	0.200	
Male	1.141	0.346	0.664	0.629	2.068
Age (ref: Young adult)					
Middle-aged adult	0.397	0.154	0.017	0.185	0.850
Older adult	0.725	0.402	0.562	0.245	2.148
Education (ref: No formal education)					
Primary	1.370	0.608	0.478	0.574	3.270
Middle School/JHS	1.383	0.615	0.467	0.578	3.308
Secondary School and above	1.290	0.717	0.646	0.434	3.832
Household monthly income (GHC) (ref: below 100)					
101-500	0.394	0.218	0.093	0.133	1.167
501-999	1.014	0.692	0.984	0.266	3.862
1000 and above	0.303	0.189	0.056	0.089	1.030
Model 4: Model 3+ Contextual factors					
Risk perception	1.421	0.223	0.025	1.045	1.933
Threat Appraisal	1.316	0.175	0.039	1.014	1.707
Coping Appraisal	1.178	0.171	0.260	0.886	1.565
Sex (ref: Female)					
Male	1.141	0.352	0.668	0.623	2.090
Age (ref: Young adult)					
Middle-aged adult	0.403	0.155	0.018	0.190	0.857
Older adult	0.693	0.380	0.504	0.237	2.030
Education (ref: No formal education)	1 150	0.676	0.000	0.500	2 (20
Primary Milling L. Margarette	1.473	0.676	0.398	0.599	3.620
Middle School/JHS	1.547	0.702	0.336	0.636	3.765
Secondary School and above	1.519	0.908	0.485	0.471	4.900
Household monthly income (GHC) (ref: below 100)	0.275	0.200	0.047	0.122	1.000
1V1-3VV 501.000	0.3/5	0.200	0.007	0.152	1.009
201-222 1000 and above	0.995	0.001	0.994	0.271	3.03/ 0.005
Hazard Experience (ref: No)	0.502	0.184	0.049	0.092	0.995
Vac	1 704	0.683	0.184	0 777	3 730
r co Flevation	1.704	0.065	0.104	0.777	1 226
Distance of house from Shoreline (ref: below 100m)	1.010	0.100	0.710	0.052	1.220
100-300m	0.655	0.238	0 244	0 321	1 335
Above 300m	0.862	0.469	0.785	0.297	2.502

### Table 4.10: Ordered logistic regression model showing the relation between relocation intention and household characteristics.

The results of model 1 indicate that risk perception (p-value < 0.005) and threat appraisal (p-value < 0.05) among the cognitive factors have a positive significant relationship with relocation intention. This suggests that households who believe that sea-level rise is taking place and poses a danger to both natural and built environments are more likely to consider relocating. In Model 2, where we controlled for biosocial factors, found that risk perception and threat appraisal continued to have a positive significant relationship with relocation intention. Furthermore, households headed by middle-aged adults were found to be 56 percent (p-value < 0.05) less likely to relocate compared to households with young adult heads. However, there was no significant relationship between sex and relocation intention. The results of Model 3 (sociocultural) showed no substantial differences from

Model 2 concerning risk perception, threat appraisal, sex, and age, except for minor variations in the proportional odds ratios. Moreover, the sociocultural factors, including education and household income, had no significant relationship with relocation intention. In the final model, where contextual factors including hazard experience and distance of house from shoreline were controlled for, there were slight changes in the proportional odds ratios for the variables, including risk perception, threat appraisal, and age, that had a significant relationship with relocation intention in Model 3. Besides, the study found that household monthly income, which was not significant in Model 3, became a significant predictor in the contextual model. Households with a monthly income of 1000 cedis and above were 70 percent less likely to relocate (p-value < 0.05) compared to those with a monthly income below 100 cedis. However, neither of the two contextual factors exhibited any significant association with relocation intention.

#### 4.2. Discussion of Results

Sea Level Rise (SLR) impacts have been a major issue in Ghana in recent years and it has triggered a lot of studies and management interventions. Evidence from this study as well as other recent studies, (Amoani et al., 2012; Addo, 2009, Addo, 2015; Jayson-Quashigah et al., 2013; Jonah et al., 2016b) have shown the physical, social, economic and ecological consequences of the impacts of SLR of coastal communities in Ghana. Low-lying coastal areas, including urban centers like Accra and Sekondi-Takoradi, are susceptible to being submerged or flooded with rising sea levels. This would result in the loss of valuable land, infrastructure, and property, displacing communities and disrupting economic activities. Most of the studies, as well as adaptation interventions, largely focused on coastal cities and towns (The World Bank, 2017), where the greatest losses occur, however, rural coastal communities are confronted with unique adaptation challenges to sea level rise which are far more than that of the urban areas (Dasgupta et al., 2015). For instance, the average erosion rate in Anlo Beach community over the years 1974 to 2021 was  $1.21 \text{ m/yr} \pm 0.10$ m (Figure 4.2) which is slightly greater than that of Accra and Elimina-Cape Coast as reported by Addo, (2015) and Jonah et al., (2016) respectively. The area close to the Pra River estuary experienced the highest change in coastline extent, with the loss of approximately 100  $m^2$  of land. This can be attributed to the interaction between the Pra River and the sea. Coastal areas are dynamic in nature and the wave actions in response to ocean tides and climate change will continue to threaten life and properties in those vulnerable communities, hence the need for urgent proactive mitigation actions by both local and national governments.

According to Jonah *et al.* (2016), open ocean sandy beaches are more prone to erosion than other coastal landforms. In this study, for instance, all the study communities have a continuous stretch of sandy open ocean beaches and which accounts for the high erosion rates. This explains why coastal rural settlements are increasingly being destroyed and the inhabitants displaced (CRC, 2013; Addo *et al.*, 2018). Also, the erosion of beaches, which act as the fish landing sites for the rural coastal communities are crumbling the local fishing sector and has worsened the unemployment and the related issues in these communities. Since the vulnerability of those communities is a function of their livelihood and the instability of the coastal ecological services is not sustainable, there is, therefore, a need for rural empowerment programmes that meet the needs of the local condition in that region. Mitigation activities that harness indigenous knowledge will be a major strategy for these communities. Inclusive planning approaches as indicated in the SDGs target 'leave no one behind' will be very apt in policy formation in this region and for the entire country.

SLR scenarios as stimulated by the SLAMM model, reveal the spatial extent to which sea level-related processes will likely affect coastal rural communities. As shown in Figure 4.3c, the coastal land area impacted by erosion/accretion and inundation resulting from a rise in sea-level from 0.2 m to 1.4 m, indicates that Glefe-wiaboman will likely experience the loss of land area at a rate that substantially exceeds the other communities. The observed trend is consistent with the study by Amoani *et al.*, 2012) which established that continuous increase in sea level, will likely have a significant impact on the Densu wetlands, a wetland of international importance and serves as the habitat for waterfowl and some important migratory birds. The study pointed out that the existing unemployment

issue in the Glefe-wiaboman will worsen if the saltpans for the salt industry nearby are flooded. Besides, human activities such as physical development and deforestation have also interfered with the natural coastal processes will likely aggravate the impact of SLR. For example, the widespread sand mining activities in Glefe-wiaboman will likely reduce the beach elevation and allow more water into the beach. Rising sea levels combined with sand mining made communities more susceptible to erosion and inundation leading to the destruction of settlements and properties. Sand mining as an anthropogenic activity in the coastal areas of Ghana should receive major planning attention in the country. Although, sand mining is a major source of construction material in the building industry, the Ministry of Environmental agencies and other related MDAs must carry out action and subject plan mappings to delineate marginal coastal lands for conservation and preservation activities.

Also, a detailed vulnerability assessment of the salt factory and its Environmental Impact Audit should be carried out on a specified regular time frame. A loss of the industry to SLR without adequate preparation will have a ripple effect on the region and the nation in the form of rural-urban migration that is already a challenge to urban managers. More so, unemployment and poverty have been adjudged as the incubators of conflict in its entire ramification, hence the need for all hands to be on deck.

According to Kuenzer and Renaud, (2012), deltaic areas are dynamic, low-lying zones formed by the interplay of rivers and the ocean. These areas are frequently hubs of biodiversity, as well as centres of intensive agricultural activity and high population due to their abundant natural resources like water and fertile soils. However, they are also highly susceptible to environmental threats such as rising sea levels. (Wong *et al.*, 2014). As shown in Figure 4.8 with an increase in the SLR up to 1.4 m, more than 10 percent of the
land use/cover in study communities will likely be exposed to SLR impacts and may significantly affect the livelihoods as the economies of coastal rural communities are heavily dependent on local natural resources, which sea level rise may have the potential to deplete. The presence of saltwater in groundwater can have a substantial impact on crop yields and product quality (Xiao et al., 2021). Despite the numerous benefits that are derived from mangroves such as coastal safeguard, habitat for wildlife and fishes, carbon sequestration, and pollution filtering (Ellison, 2015), mangrove ecosystems in the Anlo Beach and Glefe-wiaboman will likely reduce with a rise of 0.9m in Sea level (Figure 4.8b, Figure 4.6c and Table 4.3). Some studies have shown that the relationship between the growth of coastal wetland vegetation and hydro-geomorphology will assist coastal wetlands survive despite the devastating impacts of SLR (Kirwan and Megonigal, 2013) and Ellison, 2015). As shown in Figure 4.6c and Table 4.3 mangrove ecosystem in Glefewiaboman will likely increase in extent with the continuous increase in SLR. This may be attributed to the availability of suitable topography and area which allow the net vertical marsh movement to match with the relative SLR. A typical example can be found in North America, where several coastal vegetations are reacting to the rise in sea level and climate change through variations in composition and structure (Bhattachan et al., 2018).

With the socio-ecological security being threatened by climate change extreme events. Most rural households in Ghana are below the poverty line and have extremely limited access to resources and infrastructure, making it difficult for them to deal with any kind of climate change extreme events (GSS, 2013). Over the years, there have been significant economic and social changes in the three study communities. The decline in fish productivity has left many families unemployed. About three hundred residents in the three communities have been displaced due to coastal erosion and inundation (Figure 4.10). This has resulted in residents migrating from the communities, especially in Anlo beach and Sawoma communities (CRC, 2013; Osman *et al.*, 2016). With the anticipation of sea level rise significant number of residents in the study communities will likely be exposed to the impact of SLR as indicated in Figure 4.7. The socio-economic situation is an important factor in the vulnerability of rural coastal communities to the impacts of sea level rise. The socioeconomic situation is a major factor in the coastal rural communities' susceptibility to the impacts of sea level rise. The findings of the study have shown that the communities have high to medium sensitivity and low adaptation to the impacts of SLR. These account for the medium socio-economic vulnerability recorded (see Figures 4.11. 4.12 and 4.13). This finding is consistent with a study by Tessler *et al.* (2015) who conducted a study on 48 major deltaic areas and found that low GDP is the primary cause of the high vulnerability in the deltaic areas in developing countries.

The assessment of climate risk is urgently needed to enhance knowledge of the risk of climate change and develop effective adaptation strategies. In this study, SLR risk assessment was conducted for coastal rural communities by combining three categories of hazard, exposure and vulnerability. According to Nguyen *et al.*, (2019), it is very important to combine the three categories of climate risk assessment in order to have a good understanding of the situation. The results of this study indicate that the coastal rural communities face different levels of SLR risk and the impact on these communities with higher risk levels is likely to be exacerbated in the future considering different SLR scenarios. For instance, Glefe-wiaboman with a high population density and comparatively good economy was identified as a high-risk community whilst Anlo beach and Sawoma

recorded medium and low risk levels of 0.27 and 0.44 respectively (Table 4.6). Apart from sea level rise, which is a proven contributor to coastal erosion and inundation along the majority of Ghana's beaches, sand mining is a common activity along most Ghanaian coastlines (Amoani et al., 2012; Addo, 2009; Boateng et al., 2017; Jonah, et al., 2016) and is also true for the Glefe-wiaboman and its surrounding beaches. There are many construction-related factors that contribute to excessive sand mining, including the development of new buildings to meet the growing population. Beach sand mining operations are prohibited by law, and strong restrictions have been put in place to ensure local-level compliance, (Wiafe, 2010). Nevertheless, the lack of enforcement tempts people to continue to engage in this illegal activity along the beaches of Ghana. Also, the low-lying topography of Glefe-wiaboman compared to other study communities also makes the areas susceptible to SLR impacts as stipulated by (Wong *et al.*, 2014). They found that communities with low-lying topography are more vulnerable to the impacts of SLR. Proper coastal zone management, provision of infrastructural development, and sufficient institutional arrangement are effective management strategies for reducing community's SLR risk levels (Dasgupta et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2014)

The study reveals some new trends in how different types of coastal rural communities react to long-term threats arising from the impacts of climate change. This provides insights into the behavioural aspect of implementing managed retreat as an adaptation strategy to curb the impacts of sea-level rise. According to protection Motivation Theory (Rogers, 1975, Rogers, 1983) and other previous studies (e.g., Koerth *et al.*, 2013), adaptation behaviour is linked to cognitive variables such as risk perception, threat and coping appraisal. In this study, risk perception appears to be a significant factor in explaining

relocation intention. The prominent role of perceived sea level rise risk in promoting adaptation has been found by Koerth *et al.*, (2013) and Song and Peng (2017). Since risk perception increases the intensity of adaptation, it is important to emphasize this to encourage the coastal rural households to take protective measures and one way to improve risk assessment would be to educate them on the impending sea level rise impacts. Contrary to the study by Zheng *et al.*, (2016) risk perception as shown in this study is a better predictor of climate change adaptation compared to adaptation appraisal. In addition, the study also established that threat appraisal is a better predictor for relocation intention than coping appraisal. This echoes the findings of (Song and Peng, 2017).

As shown in Table 4.10, model 1 shows that the perceived risk and the perceived expectation of being exposed to the risk in the study communities positively influence respondents' intentions to relocate, but the capacity to perform risk preventive behaviours does not significantly influence these intentions. The study also confirms the conclusion drawn by researchers such as Kellens *et al.*, (2011) and Song and Peng, (2017) that the influence of biosocial factors on climate change adaptation action is mixed and varies between contexts. In this study, age appears not to be a significant factor in explaining adaptation behaviour. Age, on the other hand, was found to have a strong positive association with risk perception (Table 4 Appendix E). In general, the older the respondents, the higher the sea level rise risk perception level they have. This may be because older respondents have experienced many historical sea-level rise impacts and they are accountable for the safety of their families. Song and Peng (2017) further argued that in the event of a sea-level rise disaster, young people are more likely to stay since they

have stable income sources and strong social ties. As a result, letting go of these areas of one's life and relocating to a new location might be difficult.

People with higher education should be more likely to pursue individual-level adaptation strategies in theory, however, the results in Table 4.10 indicated no association between relocation intention and education in the three rural coastal communities. However, studies have also reported a strong association between education and mitigation behaviour (Qasim et al., 2015; Song and Peng, 2017) and climate change action (Bryan et al., 2009; González-Hernández et al., 2019). According to these studies, higher-educated persons were less likely to adapt to climate change because they were more likely to understand issues of climate change and they also believe it is the government obligation to undertake high-cost adaptation strategies and while they are able to implement low-cost and low-effort preventative steps. In terms of the respondents' monthly income, there was a significant relationship between income and relocation intention. This study revealed that highincome households were more likely to relocate compared to lower-income households as they can afford the cost of relocation and also take other adaptation measures since they have more assets to protect themselves from sea-level rise disasters. Similar conclusions were also drawn by (González-Hernández et al., 2019).

As seen in Figures 4.14 and 4.15 majority of the respondents have experienced hazards in their lifetime and also live within erosion and flood risk areas. This was not surprising as these communities were situated along major estuaries and wetlands, making them highly susceptible to impacts from sea level rise. In Anlo Beach, for example, the community is flooded for several weeks by seawater twice every year, destroying properties and obstructing economic activities. In July 2009 alone, 78 houses were destroyed, rendering

several inhabitants homeless (CRC, 2013). Despite these events, these hazard experiences and proximity to risk areas do not seem to influence their intention to relocate to a new area. However, these factors significantly influence the cognitive factors, as indicated in Table 4 in Appendix E.

#### 4.3. Summary of Findings

The following are summaries of the findings of the study;

The study reveals that not all the study communities are equally susceptible to the impacts of SLR. With an increase of SLR up to 1.4m, about 3.8 km<sup>2</sup> area will likely be affected by erosion and inundation induced by SLR. Glefe-wiaboman community will likely experience a high cumulative impact resulting from both erosion and inundation due to its low topography. Anlo beach with open sandy beaches will also experience higher coastal erosion compared to urban areas.

Secondly, a significant number of people and coastal ecosystems will be exposed to SLR impacts especially in Glefe-wiaboman community. With a sea level rise of 0.5-1.4 meters above the current Mean Sea Level (MSL), approximately 35.7 percent of the total land area and 8211 residents in Glefe-wiaboman will likely be exposed to sea level rise impacts. This area also inhabits the Densu wetland, which is a wetland of international importance which provides numerous supports for biological diversity including migratory birds.

Socio-ecological vulnerability levels were high in areas where there were human settlements and critical ecosystems. The levels varied between 0.43 and 0.60, with Anlo Beach recording the highest score of 0.60, as anticipated due to its highest ecological vulnerability score. Sawoma and Glefe-wiaboman reported vulnerability scores of 0.43 and 0.49, respectively. The prevalence of respondents scoring at the medium sensitivity level

127

and low adaptive capacity level significantly contributed to the overall low to medium levels of socio-ecological vulnerability.

Glefe-wiaboman community was identified as a high-risk to SLR impacts, despite its high socioeconomic structure and population density. Glefe-wiaboman having a high risk of 0.71 while Anlo beach and Sawoma had medium and low-risk levels of 0.27 and 0.44 respectively.

The study reveals that apart from the cognitive factors, compositional factors such as household age and income were more important for predicting the relocation intention of coastal rural communities in Ghana. Contextual factors such as hazard experience and proximity to shoreline did not appear to be significant in influencing residents' relocation intention, which was explained by the fact that most of the households were already used to sea-level rise impacts such as erosion and flooding.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

### 5.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **5.1 Conclusions**

The study involved the assessment of risk levels and adaptation behaviour within three coastal rural communities in Ghana. Understanding future sea-level rise risk levels and community adaptation behaviour is critical in implementing climate change adaptation strategies. This study was premised on the concept of climate risk that explained climate risk as a function of impacts, exposure and vulnerability. While prior studies have mostly concentrated on the impacts of sea level rise on urban coastal regions, coastal rural areas confront a unique set of risks given their socioeconomic structure, particularly in regard to their dependence on natural resources. The finding of the study indicated that about 3.8 km<sup>2</sup> area will likely be affected by erosion and inundation induced by SLR. As a result, a significant number of people and coastal ecosystems will likely be exposed to these impacts and will have a significant negative effect on the livelihood of the communities. With the socio-ecological integrity being threatened by climate change extreme events, the livelihood of the coastal community will likely worsen with the increase in SLR. The socioeconomic situation is a major factor contributing to the vulnerability of the coastal rural communities. The study examined risk levels of the rural coastal communities under study to impacts of projected sea-level rise by aggregating indices from the risk component. Although Glefe-wiaboman had a high socioeconomic structure and population density than the other communities, it was identified as a high-risk community due to its location as a

low-lying area.

The study further provided insights into the behavioural aspect of implementing managed retreat as an adaptation strategy to curb the impacts of sea-level rise. The results of this study showed that apart from the cognitive factors, compositional factors such as household age and income were found to be more important for predicting the relocation intention of coastal rural communities in Ghana. Contextual factors such as hazard experience and proximity to shoreline did not appear to be significant in influencing resident relocation intention, which was explained by the fact that most of the households were already used to sea level rise impacts such as erosion and flooding.

#### **5.2 Recommendations**

The following recommendations are based on the conclusions and major findings of the study.

#### **5.2.1 Recommendations on policy improvement**

The findings of this study have significant implications for current policy processes, specifically regarding the development of locally based strategies and plans for adapting to sea level rise. Although the individual indicators of different components show different trends for different communities understudy the overall risk indexes indicated that residents of Glefe-wiaboman are at high risk of increasing sea level. Therefore, this study calls for stakeholders such as the Land Use and Spatial Planning Authority (LUSPA) and National Disaster Management Organization (NADMO) to prepare a disaster risk management plan which involves strict zoning regulations that prohibit or restrict construction within a 30m from the coastline as stipulated in The Environmental Assessment Regulations, LI 1652. This can help maintain a buffer zone and prevent encroachment into hazardous areas prone to erosion, storm surge, or sea-level rise.

Assessing the level of risk due to SLR is an important study for policy design and national sustainable development more especially Sustainable Cities and Communities (Goal 11) and Climate Action (Goal 13). The findings from the study have provided important information for community-level SLR risk assessment along the coast of Ghana. As a matter of national interest, relevant government institutions can replicate the methodology used in this study, to identify high-risk and vulnerable coastal communities within the country and such information can also be integrated and used in the policy formulation.

Strategies to relocate these rural communities should target cognitive characteristics and, in particular, promote household-level adaptation as a viable and cost-effective approach to responding to sea-level rise impacts. Increased information dissemination by the government and civil society organizations could motivate households to prepare for floods even more. The campaigns should emphasize the effects of future sea-level rise impacts on communities, increasing household self-confidence in adaption strategies and educating people about the benefits of relocation at the community level.

#### 5.2.2 Recommendations on performance improvement

This study found that a significant number of socio-ecological systems in the study area will likely be exposed to sea-level impacts. It is expected that risk/vulnerability maps as well as the inundation maps will be useful for the district assemblies to develop sustainable land use planning and zoning for the communities. This will restrict development in high-risk areas, such as floodplains and low-lying areas. The assemblies should encourage the relocation of infrastructure and new settlements to safer locations. Reducing the price of land in these areas by the chiefs in communities could prove successful in enticing people to relocate to low-risk zones.

Structural and non-structural measures are required to improve the physical and socioeconomic resilience capacity of coastal rural communities in order to cope with rising sea levels. For instance, rural communities should be encouraged to diversify their economic activities beyond sectors vulnerable to sea level rise, such as agriculture or tourism. The Ministry of Trade and Industry should promote the development of sustainable industries and provide support for business transitions.

Also, the communities should be encouraged to adopt nature-based solutions to the SLR impacts which involve educating the communities on protecting and restoring natural barriers, such as mangrove forests, salt marshes, and dune systems. These ecosystems provide valuable protection against erosion, storm surges, and flooding.

#### **5.2.3.** Suggestions for further research

This study focused on sea rise level risk due to erosion and inundation. Other impacts of SLR that were not considered in the study but are relevant to the understanding of dynamics along the coast of Ghana include storm surges as well as saltwater intrusion of estuaries and groundwater. Additional measurements on the phenomena should be carried out to gain a deeper understanding of SLR risk and adaptation measures for the entire coast of Ghana.

132

#### 5.3 Contributions to the Body of Knowledge

- The study advances the coastal resilience literature by illuminating the impacts of different SLR scenarios on coastal rural communities.
- 2. It contributes to the climate adaptation literature through the application of the Protection Motivation Theory (PMT).
- 3. The methodology employed in the study demonstrates how remote sensing can be linked to social science to understand human-environment interactions.
- 4. The study shed light on how UAV technology can used in flood risk assessments.
- 5. Lastly, it intervenes in ongoing debates on climate change adaptation planning. The analysis indicates that a mix of infrastructure and behavioural change is required to adapt to the impacts of climate change.

#### REFERENCES

- Abel, N., Gorddard, R., Harman, B., Leitch, A., Langridge, J., Ryan, A., & Heyenga, S. (2011). Sea level rise, coastal development and planned retreat: Analytical framework, governance principles and an Australian case study. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 14(3), 279–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2010.12.002</u>
- Adade, R., Aibinu, A. M., Ekumah, B., & Asaana, J. (2021). Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) applications in coastal zone management—A review. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 193, 1-12.
- Addo, K. A. (2009). Detection of coastal erosion hotspots in Accra, Ghana. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa*, 11(4), 253-265.
- Addo, K. A., & Lamptey, E. (2012). Innovative technique of predicting shoreline change in developing countries: Case of Accra Erosion and causal factors. In *Coastal Hazards* (pp. 367-402). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Addo, K. A., (2013). Assessing Coastal Vulnerability Index to Climate Change: The Case of Accra – Ghana. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 165(65), 1892–1897. <u>https://doi.org/10.2112/si65-320.1</u>
- Addo, K. A., (2014). Managing Shoreline Change Under Increasing Sea-Level Rise in Ghana. *Coastal Management*, 42(6), 555–567. https://doi.org/10.10 80/08920753.2014.964820
- Addo, K. A., (2015). Monitoring sea level rise-induced hazards along the coast of Accra in Ghana. *Natural Hazards*, 78(2), 1293–1307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-015-1771-1
- Addo, K.A., Jayson-Quashigah, P. N., Codjoe, S. N. A., & Martey, F. (2018). Drone as a tool for coastal flood monitoring in the Volta Delta, Ghana. *Geoenvironmental Disasters*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40677-018-0108-2
- Adger, W. N. (2006). Vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change*, 16(3), 268–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.02.006
- Adger, W. N., & Agnew, M. (2004). *New indicators of vulnerability and adaptive capacity* (Vol. 122). Norwich: Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research.
- Alwang, J., Siegel, P. B., & Jørgensen, S. L. (2001). Vulnerability: a view from different disciplines. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.195.270&rep=rep1&type =pdf
- Amoani, K. Y., Appeaning-Addo, K., & Laryea, W. S. (2012). Short-term shoreline evolution trend assessment: A case study in Glefe, Ghana. *Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies*, 4(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.4102/jamba.v4i1.45

- Amos, E., Akpan, U., Environment, K. O. (2015). Households' perception and livelihood vulnerability to climate change in a coastal area of Akwa Ibom State, Nigeria. *Springer*, 17(4), 887–908. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10668-014-9580-3
- Angnuureng, B. D., Appeaning-Addo, K., & Wiafe, G. (2013). Impact of sea defense structures on downdrift coasts: The case of Keta in Ghana. Academia Journal of Environmental Sciences, 1(6), 104-121.
- Appeaning-Addo, K., Brempong, E. K., & Jayson-Quashigah, P. N. (2020). Assessment of the dynamics of the Volta River estuary shorelines in Ghana. *Geoenvironmental Disasters*, 7, 1-11.
- Appeaning-Addo, K., Walkden, M., & Mills, J. P. (2008). Detection, measurement and prediction of shoreline recession in Accra, Ghana. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry* and Remote Sensing, 63(5), 543–558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2008.04.001</u>
- Arias, J. P., Bronfman, N. C., Cisternas, P. C., & Repetto, P. B. (2017). Hazard proximity and risk perception of tsunamis in coastal cities: Are people able to identify their risk? *PLoS one*, 12(10), e0186455.
- Armah, A. K., Amlalo, D. S., & Ghana. Ministry of Environment, S. & Technology. (1998). *Coastal zone profile of Ghana*. Ministry of Environment, Science and Technology.
- Ashley, C., & Hussein, K. (2000). Developing methodologies for livelihood impact assessment: Experience of the African Wildlife Foundation in East Africa.
- Benzeev, R., Hutchinson, N., & Friess, D. A. (2017). Quantifying fisheries ecosystem services of mangroves and tropical artificial urban shorelines. *Hydrobiologia*, 803(1), 225–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10750-017-3299-8
- Berkes, F. (2007). Understanding uncertainty and reducing vulnerability: Lessons from resilience thinking. *Natural Hazards*, 41(2), 283–295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069 -006-9036-7
- Bhattachan, A., Jurjonas, M. D., Moody, A. C., Morris, P. R., Sanchez, G. M., Smart, L. S., & Seekamp, E. L. (2018). Sea level rise impacts on rural coastal social-ecological systems and the implications for decision making. *Environmental science & policy*, 90, 122-134.
- Birch, C. P., Oom, S. P., & Beecham, J. A. (2007). Rectangular and hexagonal grids used for observation, experiment and simulation in ecology. *Ecological modelling*, 206(3-4), 347-359.
- Birkmann, J. (2006). Measuring vulnerability to promote disaster-resilient societies: Conceptual frameworks and definitions. *Measuring vulnerability to natural hazards: Towards disaster resilient societies*, 1(9), 3-7.

- Birkmann, J. (2011). First-and second-order adaptation to natural hazards and extreme events in the context of climate change. *Natural Hazards*, 58(2), 811-840.
- Boateng, I. (2006, March). Shoreline management planning can it benefit Ghana? A case study of UK SMPs and their potential relevance in Ghana. In *International Federation of Surveyors 5th FIG Regional Conference-Promoting Land administration and Good Governance*. International Federation of Surveyors (FIG)..
- Boateng, I., Wiafe, G., & Jayson-Quashigah, P. N. (2017). Mapping Vulnerability and Risk of Ghana's Coastline to Sea Level Rise. *Marine Geodesy*, 40(1), 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490419.2016.1261745
- Bohle, H. G. (2001). Vulnerability and criticality: perspectives from social geography. *IHDP update*, 2(01), 3-5.
- Bott, L. M., & Braun, B. (2019). How do households respond to coastal hazards? A framework for accommodating strategies using the example of Semarang Bay, Indonesia. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 37, 101177. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJDRR.2019.101177
- Boyer-Villemaire, U., Bernatchez, P., Benavente, J., & Cooper, J. A. G. (2014). Quantifying community's functional awareness of coastal changes and hazards from citizen perception analysis in Canada, UK and Spain. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 93, 106–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.OCECOAMAN.2014.03.016
- Bridges, T. S., E. M. Bourne, J. K. King, H. K. Kuzmitski, E. B. Moynihan, & B. C. Suedel (2018). Engineering with nature: an atlas. In Army Engineer Research Development Center VICKSBURG United States. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi. org/10.21079/11681/27929.
- Brooks, N. (2003). Vulnerability, risk and adaptation: A conceptual framework. In *climatelearningplatform.org* (Issue 38).
- Bryan, E., Deressa, T. T., Gbetibouo, G. A., & Ringler, C. (2009). Adaptation to climate change in Ethiopia and South Africa: options and constraints. *Environmental Science* and Policy, 12(4), 413–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2008.11.002
- Bubeck, P., Botzen, W. J. W., Kreibich, H., & Aerts, J. C. J. H. (2013). Detailed insights into the influence of flood-coping appraisals on mitigation behaviour. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(5), 1327–1338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.</u> 2013.05.009
- Cabral, P., Levrel, H., Schoenn, J., Thiébaut, E., Le Mao, P., Mongruel, R., & Daures, F. (2015). Marine habitats ecosystem service potential: A vulnerability approach in the Normand-Breton (Saint Malo) Gulf, France. *Ecosystem services*, 16, 306-318.

- Cardona, O. D. (2003). The Need for Rethinking the Concepts of Vulnerability and Risk from a Holistic Perspective: A Necessary Review and Criticism for Effective Risk Management. *Routledge.*, *3*, 37–51.
- Casella, E., Collin, A., Harris, D., Ferse, S., Bejarano, S., Parravicini, V., Hench, J. L., & Rovere, A. (2016). Mapping coral reefs using consumer-grade drones and structure from motion photogrammetry techniques. *Coral Reefs*, 36(1), 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-016-1522-0
- Cazenave, A., & Cozannet, G. Le. (2014). Sea level rise and its coastal impacts. *Earth's Future*, 2(2), 15–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/2013ef000188
- Chen, X., Zhang, X., Church, J. A., Watson, C. S., King, M. A., Monselesan, D., Legresy, B., & Harig, C. (2017). The increasing rate of global mean sea-level rise during 1993-2014. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(7), 492–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3325
- Church, J. A., Clark, P. U., Cazenave, A., Gregory, J. M., Jevrejeva, S., Levermann, A., & Unnikrishnan, A. S. (2013). Sea-level rise by 2100. *Science*, *342*(6165), 1445-1445.
- Church, J. A., & White, N. J. (2011). Sea-Level Rise from the Late 19th to the Early 21st Century. *Surveys in Geophysics*, 32(4–5), 585–602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10712-011-9119-1
- Church, J. A., White, N. J., Coleman, R., Lambeck, K., & Mitrovica, J. X. (2004). Estimates of the regional distribution of sea level rise over the 1950-2000 period. *Journal of Climate*, 17(13), 2609–2625. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0442(2004)017
- Church, J. A., White, N. J., Domingues, C. M., Monselesan, D. P., & Miles, E. R. (2013). Sea-level and ocean heat-content change. *International Geophysics*, *103*, 697–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-391851-2.00027-1
- Clark, J. S., Bell, D. M., Hersh, M. H., & Nichols, L. (2011). Climate change vulnerability of forest biodiversity: climate and competition tracking of demographic rates. *Global Change Biology*, *17*(5), 1834-1849.
- Clough, J. S. (2010). SLAMM Technical Documentation.
- Clough, J.S., Park, R.A., Propato, M., Polaczyk, A., Brennan, M., Behrens, D., Battalio, B., Fuller, R. (2016). SLAMM 6.7 Technical Documentation. Warren Pinnacle Consulting Inc., July, 97. http://warrenpinnacle.com/prof/SLA MM6/SLAMM \_6.7\_ Technical\_Documentation.pdf
- Collins, M., & Evans, G. (1986). The influence of fluvial sediment supply on coastal erosion in West and Central Africa. *Journal of Shoreline Management*, 2, 5-12.
- Costanza, R. (1997). Modeling complex ecological economic systems: toward an evolutionary, dynamic understanding of people and nature. In *Frontiers in Ecological Economics* (pp. 330-340). Edward Elgar Publishing.

- CRC (Coastal Resources Centre). (2013). Shama District Integrated Coastal Management Toolkit. Integrated Coastal and Fisheries Governance Initiative (Hen Mpoano).
- Crossland, C. J., Baird, D., Ducrotoy, J.-P., Lindeboom, H., Buddemeier, R. W., Dennison, W. C., Maxwell, B. A., Smith, S. V., & Swaney, D. P. (2005). *The Coastal Zone — a Domain of Global Interactions. Oecd 2001*, 1–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-27851-6\_1
- Cutter, S. L. (1996). Vulnerability to environmental hazards. *Progress in Human Geography*, 20(4), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1177/030913259602000407
- Dangendorf, S., Marcos, M., Wöppelmann, G., Conrad, C. P., Frederikse, T., & Riva, R. (2017). Reassessment of 20th century global mean sea level rise. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(23), 5946–5951. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1616007114</u>
- Dasgupta, S., Laplante, B., Meisner, C., Wheeler, D., & Yan, J. (2009). The impact of sea level rise on developing countries: a comparative analysis. *Climatic change*, 93(3-4), 379-388.
- Dasgupta, P., Morton, J. F., Dodman, D., Karapinar, B., Meza, F., Rivera-Ferre, M. G., Sarr, A. T., Vincent, K. E., Carr, E. R., Raholijao, N., & Broecker, H. (2015). Rural areas. In *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects* (pp. 613–658). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415379.014
- DeConto, R. M., & Pollard, D. (2016). Contribution of Antarctica to past and future sealevel rise. *Nature*, 531(7596), 591–597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17145</u>
- De Silva, D. G., & Pownall, R. A. (2014). Going green: does it depend on education, gender or income? *Applied Economics*, 46(5), 573-586.
- Dereli, M. A., & Tercan, E. (2020). Assessment of Shoreline Changes using Historical Satellite Images and Geospatial Analysis along the Lake Salda in Turkey. *Earth Science Informatics*, 13(3), 709–718. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12145-020-00460-x
- Di Nitto, D., Neukermans, G., Koedam, N., Defever, H., Pattyn, F., Kairo, J. G., & Dahdouh-Guebas, F. (2014). Mangroves facing climate change: Landward migration potential in response to projected scenarios of sea level rise. *Biogeosciences*, 11(3), 857–871. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-857-2014
- Díaz-Delgado, R., Cazacu, C., & Adamescu, M. (2018). Rapid Assessment of Ecological Integrity for LTER Wetland Sites by Using UAV Multispectral Mapping. *Drones*, 3(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones3010003
- Dieng, H. B., Cazenave, A., Meyssignac, B., & Ablain, M. (2017). New estimate of the current rate of sea level rise from a sea level budget approach. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 44(8), 3744–3751. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL073308

- Ding, Y., Nath, S., Elgohry, M., Jia, Y., Altinakar, M. S., & Yeh, K. (2013). Impact assessment of sea-level rise and hazardous storms on coasts and estuaries using integrated processes model. *Ocean Engineering*, 71, 74–95. https://doi.org/10.101 6/j.oceaneng.2013.01.015
- Doughty, C. L., & Cavanaugh, K. C. (2019). Mapping coastal wetland biomass from high resolution unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) imagery. *Remote Sensing*, 11(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11050540
- Doughty, C. L., Cavanaugh, K. C., Hall, C. R., Feller, I. C., & Chapman, S. K. (2017). Impacts of mangrove encroachment and mosquito impoundment management on coastal protection services. *Hydrobiologia* 2017 803:1, 803(1), 105–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10750-017-3225-0
- Doyle, T. W., Chivoiu, B., & Enwright, N. M. (2015). Sea-Level Rise Modeling Handbook: Resource Guide for Coastal Land Managers, Engineers, and Scientists. https://doi.org/10.3133/pp1815
- Dusick, D. M. (2014). *Sample size calculator*. https://www.calculator.net/sample-sizecalculator.html?type=1&cl=95&ci=5&pp=50&ps=55&x=119&y=16 percent0Ahttp://www.raosoft.com/samplesize.html
- Eisenhauer, E. (2014). *Socio-ecological Vulnerability to Climate Change in South Florida*. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/1269/
- Ellison, J. C. (2015). Vulnerability assessment of mangroves to climate change and sealevel rise impacts. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 23(2), 115–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11273-014-9397-8
- Ellison, J. C., & Zouh, I. (2012). Vulnerability to climate change of mangroves: Assessment from Cameroon, Central Africa. *Biology*, 1(3), 617–638. https://doi.org /10.3390/biology1030617
- Evadzi, P. I. K., Zorita, E., & Hünicke, B. (2017). Quantifying and Predicting the Contribution of Sea-Level Rise to Shoreline Change in Ghana: Information for Coastal Adaptation Strategies. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 336, 1283–1291. https://doi.org/10.2112/jcoastres-d-16-00119.1
- Few, R. (2003). Flooding, vulnerability and coping strategies: Local responses to a global threat. *Progress in Development Studies*, 3(1), 43–58. https://doi.org/10. 1191/1464993403PS049RA
- Field, C. B., & Barros, V. R. (Eds.). (2014). Climate change 2014–Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: Regional aspects. Cambridge University Press.
- Field, C. B. (Ed.). (2012). *Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change*. Cambridge University Press.

- Finch, C., Emrich, C. T., & Cutter, S. L. (2010). Disaster disparities and differential recovery in New Orleans. *Population and Environment*, 31(4), 179–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11111-009-0099-8
- FitzGerald, D. M., Fenster, M. S., Argow, B. A., & Buynevich, I. V. (2008). Coastal impacts due to sea-level rise. *Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci.*, *36*, 601-647.
- Floyd, D. L., Prentice-Dunn, S., & Rogers, R. W. (2000). A meta-analysis of research on protection motivation theory. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 30(2), 407–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1559-1816.2000.TB02323.X
- Fosu-Mensah, B. Y., Vlek, P. L. G., & MacCarthy, D. S. (2012). Farmers' perception and adaptation to climate change: A case study of Sekyedumase district in Ghana. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 14(4), 495–505. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10668-012-9339-7
- Frondel, M., Simora, M., & Sommer, S. (2017). Risk Perception of Climate Change: Empirical Evidence for Germany. *Ecological Economics*, 137, 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.02.019
- Garrison, T. S. (2012). Oceanography: an invitation to marine science. Cengage Learning.
- Gebrehiwot, T., & Van Der Veen, A. (2013). Farm level adaptation to climate change: The case of farmer's in the Ethiopian highlands. *Environmental Management*, 52(1), 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-013-0039-3
- Genua-Olmedo, A., Alcaraz, C., Caiola, N., & Ibáñez, C. (2016). Sea level rise impacts on rice production: The Ebro Delta as an example. *Science of the Total Environment*, 571, 1200–1210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.136
- Ghana Statistical Service (GSS). (2013). 2010 Population & Housing Census National Analytical Report. In *Ghana Statistical Service*.
- Gallopín, G. (2007). Formal Approach to Vulnerability. In Proc. of the Linkages Between Vulnerability, Resilience, and Adaptive Capacity Workshop, Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research, Potsdam (pp. 13-14).
- González-Hernández, D. L., Meijles, E. W., & Vanclay, F. (2019). Factors that influence climate change mitigation and adaptation action: A household study in the Nuevo Leon Region, Mexico. *Climate*, 7(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cli7060074</u>
- Gorman, L., Morang, A., & Larson, R. (1998). Monitoring the coastal environment; Part IV: Mapping, shoreline changes, and bathymetric analysis. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 61-92.
- Griggs, G., & Reguero, B. G. (2021). Coastal adaptation to climate change and sea-level rise. *Water*, 13(16), 2151.

- Haines-Young, R., & Potschin, M. B. (2018). Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES) V5.1 Guidance on the Application of the Revised Structure.
- Haines-Young, R., & Potschin-Young, M. B. (2018). Revision of the common international classification for ecosystem services (CICES V5.1): A policy brief. *One Ecosystem*, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3897/oneeco.3.e27108</u>
- Hair, J. F., & Black, W. C. (2010). *B*, *J. Babin, and R.E. Anderson, Multivariate Data Analysis*. Prentice Hall: New Jersey
- Ha-Mim, N. M., Hossain, M. Z., Rahaman, K. R., & Mallick, B. (2020). Exploring vulnerability–resilience–livelihood nexus in the face of climate change: A multicriteria analysis for Mongla, Bangladesh. *Sustainability*, 12(17), 7054.
- Hino, M., Field, C. B., & Mach, K. J. (2017). Managed retreat as a response to natural hazard risk. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(5), 364-370.
- Houston, J. (2008). The economic value of beaches-A 2008 update. *Shore & Beach*, 76(3), 22–26.
- IPCC, (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp.
- Jayson-Quashigah, P. N., Addo, K. A., & Kodzo, K. S. (2013). Medium resolution satellite imagery as a tool for monitoring shoreline change. Case study of the Eastern coast of Ghana. *Journal of Coastal Research*, SPEC. ISSUE 65, 511–516. https://doi.org/ 10.2112/SI65-087
- Jayson-Quashigah, P. N., Appeaning Addo, K., Amisigo, B., & Wiafe, G. (2019). Assessment of short-term beach sediment change in the Volta Delta coast in Ghana using data from Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (Drone). Ocean and Coastal Management, 182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2019.104952
- Jevrejeva, S., Moore, J. C., & Grinsted, A. (2010). How will sea level respond to changes in natural and anthropogenic forcings by 2100? *Geophysical Research Letters*, 37(7), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL042947
- Jonah, F. E., Boateng, I., Osman, A., Shimba, M. J., Mensah, E. A., Adu-Boahen, K., Chuku, E. O., & Effah, E. (2016). Shoreline change analysis using end point rate and net shoreline movement statistics: An application to Elmina, Cape Coast and Moree section of Ghana's coast. *Regional Studies in Marine Science*, 7, 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rsma.2016.05.003

- Jonah, F. E., Mensah, E. A., Edziyie, R. E., Agbo, N. W., & Adjei-Boateng, D. (2016). Coastal Erosion in Ghana: Causes, Policies, and Management. *Coastal Management*, 44(2), 116–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/08920753.2016.1135273
- Jongman, B., Ward, P. J., & Aerts, J. C. J. H. (2012). Global exposure to river and coastal flooding: Long term trends and changes. *Global Environmental Change*, 22(4), 823– 835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.07.004
- Kankam, S., Mensah, C. J., Owusu, A. A., & Gormey, B. (2016). Ankobra Vulnerability Assessment Information Dissemination Workshop Report. The USAID/Ghana Sustainable Fisheries Management Project (SFMP), Hen Mpoano, Windy Ridge Extension, Takoradi. and Coastal Resources Center, Graduate School of Oceanography, University of Rhode Island. Narragansett, RI. GH2014\_ACT051\_HM.
- Kaplan, M. (2011). Agent-based modeling of land-use changes and vulnerability assessment in a coupled socio-ecological system in the coastal zone of Sri Lanka (Doctoral dissertation, Universitäts-und Landesbibliothek Bonn).
- Kellens, W., Zaalberg, R., Neutens, T., Vanneuville, W., & De Maeyer, P. (2011). An Analysis of the Public Perception of Flood Risk on the Belgian Coast. *Risk Analysis*, 31(7), 1055–1068. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1539-6924.2010.01571.X
- Kling, M. M., Auer, S. L., Comer, P. J., Ackerly, D. D., & Hamilton, H. (2020). Multiple axes of ecological vulnerability to climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 26(5), 2798–2813. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15008
- Koerth, J., Vafeidis, A. T., Carretero, S., Sterr, H., & Hinkel, J. (2014). A typology of household-level adaptation to coastal flooding and its spatio-temporal patterns. *SpringerPlus*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-3-466
- Koerth, J., Vafeidis, A. T., Hinkel, J., & Sterr, H. (2013). What motivates coastal households to adapt pro-actively to sea-level rise and increasing flood risk? *Regional Environmental Change*, 13(4), 897–909. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-012-0399-x
- Konko, Y., Bagaram, B., Julien, F., Akpamou, K. G., & Kokou, K. (2018). Multitemporal Analysis of Coastal Erosion Based on Multisource Satellite Images in the South of the Mono Transboundary Biosphere Reserve in Togo (West Africa). *OALib*, 05(04), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/oalib.1104526</u>
- Kuenzer, C., & Renaud, F. G. (2012). Climate and environmental change in river deltas globally: expected impacts, resilience, and adaptation. In *The Mekong delta system: Interdisciplinary analyses of a river delta* (pp. 7-46). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- Lawrence, J., Quade, D., & Becker, J. (2014). Integrating the effects of flood experience on risk perception with responses to changing climate risk. *Natural Hazards*, 74, 1773-1794.

- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, appraisal, and coping*. Springer publishing company.
- Lebbe, B. T., Rey-Valette, H., Chaumillon, É., Camus, G., Almar, R., Cazenave, A., & Euzen, A. (2021). Designing coastal adaptation strategies to tackle sea level rise. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 1640.
- Ling, F. H., Tamura, M., Yasuhara, K., Ajima, K., & Trinh, C. Van. (2015). Reducing flood risks in rural households: survey of perception and adaptation in the Mekong delta. *Climatic Change*, 132(2), 209–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10584-015-1416-0
- Lovelock, C. E., Feller, I. C., Reef, R., Hickey, S., & Ball, M. C. (2017). Mangrove dieback during fluctuating sea levels. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org /10.1038/s41598-017-01927-6
- Ly, C. K. (1980). The role of the Akosombo Dam on the Volta river in causing coastal erosion in central and eastern Ghana (West Africa). *Marine Geology*, 37(3–4), 323–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-3227(80)90108-5
- Margulis, S., Hughes, G., Schneider, R., & Pandey, K. (2010). *Economics of adaptation to climate change: Synthesis report*.
- Marshall, N. A., Tobin, R. C., Marshall, P. A., Gooch, M., & Hobday, A. J. (2013). Social Vulnerability of Marine Resource Users to Extreme Weather Events. *Ecosystems*, 16(5), 797–809. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-013-9651-6
- McAdam, J., & Ferris, E. (2015). Planned relocations in the context of climate change: Unpacking the legal and conceptual issues. *Cambridge International Law Journal*, 4(1), 137-166.
- McGranahan, G., Balk, D., & Anderson, B. (2007). The rising tide: Assessing the risks of climate change and human settlements in low elevation coastal zones. *Environment* and Urbanization, 19(1), 17–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247807076960
- Metcalf, S. J., van Putten, E. I., Frusher, S., Marshall, N. A., Tull, M., Caputi, N., Haward, M., Hobday, A. J., Holbrook, N. J., Jennings, S. M., Pecl, G. T., & Shaw, J. (2015). Measuring the vulnerability of marine social-ecological systems: A prerequisite for the identification of climate change adaptations. *Ecology and Society*, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-07509-200235.
- Ghana. Ministry of Environment, Science, Technology and Innovation. (2013). *Ghana national climate change policy*. Ministry of Environment, Science, Technology and Innovation.
- Moore, W. S., & Joye, S. B. (2021). Saltwater Intrusion and Submarine Groundwater Discharge: Acceleration of Biogeochemical Reactions in Changing Coastal Aquifers.

In *Frontiers in Earth Science* (Vol. 9). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2021.600710.

- Morgan, M. G., Henrion, M., & Small, M. (1990). Uncertainty: A guide to dealing with uncertainty in quantitative risk and policy analysis. Cambridge University Press.
- Musa, Z. N., Popescu, I., & Mynett, A. E. (2014). Modeling the effects sea level rise on flooding in the lower Niger River.11th International Conference on Hydroinformatics HIC 2014, New York City, USA
- Mwinkom, F. X. K., Damnyag, L., Abugre, S., & Alhassan, S. I. (2021). Factors influencing climate change adaptation strategies in North-Western Ghana: evidence of farmers in the Black Volta Basin in Upper West region. SN Applied Sciences, 3(5), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/S42452-021-04503-W/TABLES/11
- Nerem, R. S., Beckley, B. D., Fasullo, J. T., Hamlington, B. D., Masters, D., & Mitchum, G. T. (2018). Climate-change–driven accelerated sea-level rise detected in the altimeter era. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 115(9), 2022–2025. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1717312115
- Neumann, B., Vafeidis, A. T., Zimmermann, J., & Nicholls, R. J. (2015). Future coastal population growth and exposure to sea-level rise and coastal flooding A global assessment. *PLoS ONE*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118571
- Nguyen, K. A., Liou, Y. A., & Terry, J. P. (2019). Vulnerability of Vietnam to typhoons: A spatial assessment based on hazards, exposure and adaptive capacity. *Science of the Total Environment*, 682, 31-46.
- Nicholls, R. J., & Klein, R. J. T. (2005). Climate change and coastal management on Europe's coast. *Managing European Coasts*, 199–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-27150-3\_11
- Nwankwegu, A. S., Li, Y., Huang, Y., Wei, J., Norgbey, E., Sarpong, L., Lai, Q., & Wang, K. (2019). Harmful algal blooms under changing climate and constantly increasing anthropogenic actions: the review of management implications. *Biotech*, 9(12), 449. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13205-019-1976-1
- O'Brien, K., Leichenko, R., Kelkar, U., Venema, H., Aandahl, G., Tompkins, H., Javed, A., Bhadwal, S., Barg, S., Nygaard, L., & West, J. (2004). Mapping vulnerability to multiple stressors: Climate change and globalization in India. *Global Environmental Change*, 14(4), 303–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.01.001
- Osman, A., Nyarko, B. K., & Mariwah, S. (2016). Vulnerability and risk levels of communities within Ankobra estuary of Ghana. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 19, 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2016.08.016

- Palacios, M. L., & Cantera, J. R. (2017). Mangrove timber use as an ecosystem service in the Colombian Pacific. *Hydrobiologia*, 803(1), 345–358. https://doi.org/10.1007 /S10750-017-3309-X
- Peacock, W. G., Gladwin, H., & Morrow, B. H. (2012). *Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, gender and the sociology of disasters.* Routledge.
- Poussin, J. K., Botzen, W. J. W., & Aerts, J. C. J. H. (2014). Factors of influence on flood damage mitigation behaviour by households. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 40, 69–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2014.01.013</u>
- Poussin, J. K., Botzen, W. W., & Aerts, J. C. (2014). Factors of influence on flood damage mitigation behaviour by households. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 40, 69-77.
- Qasim, S., Nawaz Khan, A., Prasad Shrestha, R., & Qasim, M. (2015). Risk perception of the people in the flood prone Khyber Pukhthunkhwa province of Pakistan. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 14, 373–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2015.09.001
- Reguero, B. G., Storlazzi, C. D., Gibbs, A. E., Shope, J. B., Cole, A. D., Cumming, K. A., & Beck, M. W. (2021). The value of US coral reefs for flood risk reduction. *Nature Sustainability 2021 4:8*, 4(8), 688–698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00706-6
- Reynaud, A., Aubert, C., & Nguyen, M. H. (2013). Living with floods: Protective behaviours and risk perception of Vietnamese households. *Geneva Papers on Risk* and Insurance: Issues and Practice, 38(3), 547–579. https://doi.org/10.1057/GPP.2013.16
- Rogers, R. W. (1975). A protection motivation theory of fear appeals and attitude change1. *The journal of psychology*, *91*(1), 93-114.
- Rogers W., R. (1983). Cognitive and physiological processes in fear appeals and attitude change: a revised theory of protection motivation. In *Social Psychophysiology: A Sourcebook* (pp. 153–177). <u>https://ci.nii.ac.jp/naid/10004535663/</u>
- Rothman, D. S., & Robinson, J. B. (1997). Growing pains: a conceptual framework for considering integrated assessments. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 46, 23-43.
- Ruggles, K. V., Tang, Z., Wang, X., Grover, H., Askenazi, M., Teubl, J., ... & Fenyő, D. (2016). An analysis of the sensitivity of proteogenomic mapping of somatic mutations and novel splicing events in cancer. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 15(3), 1060-1071.
- Shameem, M. I. M., Momtaz, S., & Rauscher, R. (2014). Vulnerability of rural livelihoods to multiple stressors: A case study from the southwest coastal region of Bangladesh. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 102(PA), 79–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2014.09.002</u>

- Simmering, V. R., & Perone, S. (2013). Working memory capacity as a dynamic process. *Frontiers in psychology*, *3*, 567.
- Smart, L. (2019). *Rising Seas and the Changing Coastal Landscape: Modeling Land Change Pattern and Social Process to Quantify the Socio-Ecological Impacts of Sea Level.*
- Snoussi, M., Ouchani, T., & Niazi, S. (2008). Vulnerability assessment of the impact of sea-level rise and flooding on the Moroccan coast: The case of the Mediterranean eastern zone. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 77(2), 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2007.09.024
- Soetanto, R., Mullins, A., Achour, N., & Soetanto RSoetanto, R. (2017). The perceptions of social responsibility for community resilience to flooding: the impact of past experience, age, gender and ethnicity. *Springer*, 86, 1105–1126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-016-2732-z
- Song, J., & Peng, B. (2017). Should we leave? Attitudes towards relocation in response to sea level rise. *Water (Switzerland)*, 9(12), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9120941
- Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., & Midgley, P. M. (2013). Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of IPCC the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Tessler, Z. D., Vörösmarty, C. J., Grossberg, M., Gladkova, I., Aizenman, H., Syvitski, J. P., & Foufoula-Georgiou, E. (2015). Profiling risk and sustainability in coastal deltas of the world. *Science*, 349(6248), 638-643.
- Tiepolo, M. (2014). Climate change vulnerability in Southern African cities. *Dar es Salaam*.
- The World Bank. (2017). Stakeholder and Political Economy Analysis for Ghana.
- Thieler, E. R., Himmelstoss, E. A., Zichichi, J. L., & Ergul, A. (2009). *The Digital Shoreline Analysis System (DSAS) version 4.0-an ArcGIS extension for calculating shoreline change* (No. 2008-1278). US Geological Survey.
- Thywissen, K. (2006). Components of Risk. A Comparative Glossary. UNU-EHS Publications, Germany. https://doi.org/10.1093/iclqaj/24.3.577
- Tol, R., Bohn, M., T. D.-J. of risk, & 2006, U. (2005). Adaptation To Five Metres Of Sea Level Rise Richard S.J. Tol. *Atomic Energy*. https://www.tandfonline. com/doi/abs/10.1080/13669870600717632
- Uehara, K., Sojisuporn, P., Saito, Y., & Jarupongsakul, T. (2010). Erosion and accretion processes in a muddy dissipative coast, the Chao Phraya River delta, Thailand. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, 35(14), 1701–1711. <u>https://doi.org/10.</u> 1002/esp.2012

- United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction. (2009). UNISDR terminology on disaster risk reduction / UNDRR. https://www.undrr.org/publication/2009-unisdr-terminology-disaster-risk-reduction
- UN-Habitat. (2009). Regional Cities Reports: State of the World's Cities 2008/2009 Harmonious Cities. http://ebooks.worldscinet.com/ ISBN/9789814280730/9789 814280730.html
- DHA, U. (1992). Internationally agreed glossary of basic terms related to disaster management. UN DHA (United Nations Department of Humanitarian Affairs), Geneva. United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction. (2009). UNISDR terminology on disaster risk reduction / UNDRR. https://www.undrr.org/publication/2009-unisdr-terminology-disaster-risk-reduction
- Vogel, C., & O'Brien, K. (2004). Vulnerability and global environmental change: rhetoric and reality. Aviso: an information bulletin on global environmental change and human security, issue no. 13, March 2004.
- Waddington, C. (2003). Livelihood outcomes of migration for poor people. Development Research Centre on Migration, Globalisation and Poverty, Brighton, UK.
- Warner, K., Kälin, W., Martin, S., Nassef, Y., Lee, S., Melde, S., & Afifi, T. (2014). Integrating human mobility issues within national adaption plans. *Integrating human mobility issues within national adaptation plans*, 9(9), 38-45.
- Watson, C. S., White, N. J., Church, J. A., King, M. A., Burgette, R. J., & Legresy, B. (2015). Unabated global mean sea-level rise over the satellite altimeter era. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(6), 565–568. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2635
- Weinstein, N. D. (1989). Effects of Personal Experience on Self-Protective Behavior. In Psychological Bulletin (Vol. 105, Issue 1, pp. 31–50). <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.105.1.31</u>
- Wiafe, G. (2010). *Coastal and continental shelf processes in Ghana*. NTIS Technical Report. University of Ghana, Accra, Ghana.
- Wisner, B., Blaikie, P., Cannon, T., & Davis, I. (2014). At risk: natural hazards, peoples vulnerability and disasters. At Risk: Natural Hazards Peoples Vulnerability and Disasters, 1–471. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203714775
- Wong, P. P., Losada, I. J., Gattuso, J.-P., Hinkel, J., Khattabi, A., McInnes, K. L., Saito, Y., & Sallenger, A. (2014). Coastal Systems and Low-Lying Areas Coordinating. In *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (pp. 361–409).

- Wouter Botzen, W. J., & Van Den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2012). Monetary valuation of insurance against flood risk under climate change. *International Economic Review*, 53(3), 1005–1026. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1468-2354.2012.00709.X</u>
- Xiao, H., Tang, Y., Li, H., Zhang, L., Ngo-Duc, T., Chen, D., & Tang, Q. (2021). Saltwater intrusion into groundwater systems in the Mekong Delta and links to global change. *Advances in Climate Change Research*, *12*(3), 342-352.
- Yankson, P. W. K., Owusu, A. B., Owusu, G., Boakye-Danquah, J., & Tetteh, J. D. (2017). Assessment of coastal communities' vulnerability to floods using indicator-based approach: a case study of Greater Accra Metropolitan Area, Ghana. *Natural Hazards*, 89(2), 661–689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-017-2985-1
- Yasir, M., Sheng, H., Fan, H., Nazir, S., Niang, A. J., Salauddin, M., & Khan, S. (2020). Automatic Coastline Extraction and Changes Analysis Using Remote Sensing and GIS Technology. *IEEE Access*, 8(September), 180156–180170. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3027881
- Yates, M. L., & Le Cozannet, G. (2012). Brief communication" Evaluating European Coastal Evolution using Bayesian Networks". *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 12(4), 1173-1177.
- Yin, J., Xu, S., Wang, J., Zhong, H., Hu, Y., Yin, Z., Wang, K., & Zhang, X. (2010). Vulnerability assessment of combined impacts of sea level rise and coastal flooding for China's coastal region using remote sensing and GIS. 2010 18th International Conference on Geoinformatics, https://doi.org/10.1109/2010.5567562
- Zaalberg, R., Midden, C., Meijnders, A., & McCalley, T. (2009). Prevention, adaptation, and threat denial: Flooding experiences in the Netherlands. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 29(12), 1759-1778.
- Zebisch, M., Schneiderbauer, S., Renner, K., Below, T., Brossmann, M., Ederer, W., & Schwan, S. (2017). *Risk Supplement to the Vulnerability Sourcebook*. <u>http://www.adaptationcommunity.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/GIZ-2017\_Risk-Supplement-to-the-Vulnerability-Sourcebook.pdf</u>
- Zhang, Y., Hwang, S. N., & Lindell, M. K. (2010). Hazard proximity or risk perception? Evaluating effects of natural and technological hazards on housing values. *Environment and Behavior*, 42(5), 597-624.
- Zheng, Y., & Dallimer, M. (2016). What motivates rural households to adapt to climate change? *Climate and Development*, 8(2), 110–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1 7565529.2015.1005037

#### **APPENDICES**

Appendix A – Questionnaire for household respondents in the study communities

# FEDERAL UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY, MINNA. GRADUATE RESEARCH IN CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN HABITAT SCHOOL OF PHYSICAL SCIENCE

## SEA-LEVEL RISE: RISK AND ADAPTATION STRATEGIES IN RURAL COASTAL COMMUNITIES IN GHANA

#### **QUESTIONNAIRE FOR HOUSEHOLD HEAD**

The main objective of this study is to assess the risk levels of some selected rural coastal communities in Ghana under different sea-level rise scenarios. The information you provide is purely for academic purposes. You are assured of full confidentiality, privacy and anonymity of all the information that will be given by you. Kindly express your candid opinion which would serve as a source of vital information for this study. Thank you.

# Please, tick here if you have been provided with all the information you need and agree to participate [ ]

Community:	Grid no
GPS coordinate: Longitude	Latitude
Interviewer ID	

### Please tick $[\sqrt{}]$ where applicable.

- 1. Sex a. Male [ ] b. Female [ ]
- 2. Age at last birthday (Please specify) .....
- 3. Education: Primary [ ] Middle School/JHS [ ] Secondary/SHS [ ]

Post-secondary/Tertiary [ ] No formal education [ ] Other, please specify.....

4. For how long have you been living in the area?

Below 5years [ ] 5-10 years [ ] 10-15 years [ ] 15-20 years [ ] more than 20 years [ ]

5. Household size
6. Primary occupation
7. Secondary occupation
8. Household monthly income (GHS)
9. Household monthly expenditure
10. Other source of income aside from the primary/secondary occupation?
None [ ] Pension allowances [ ] Remittances [ ] Other, please specify
11. Do you have saving? Yes [ ] No [ ]
12. If Yes, where
Bank [] Community group [] House [] Other, please specify
13. If no, why
14. Do you have access to any loan groups, organizations, or companies?
Yes [] No []

15. Do you belong to any social group/association?

Yes [ ] No [ ]

16. Do you have any specialized skill?

Yes [ ] No [ ]

17. If Yes, please specify the kind of skill

.....

18. Are you registered member of National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS)?

Yes [ ] No [ ]

19. Which of these natural assets do you depend on for your livelihood?

Arable land [ ]	Sea [ ]	River [ ]	Mangrove forest [	]	Fishing grounds [ ]	I
Other, please speci	fy					

20. Do you have unrestricted access to these natural assets?

Yes [	1	No	Γ	1
100	1	110	L	1

21. If	No,	please	explain
how			

22. Physical characteristics of building

Foundation	Blocks	Concrete	Rafia	Other
Material				
Floor Material	Sand	Cement	Rafia	Other
				•••••
Wall Material	Block	Clay	Rafia	Other

Roof	Zinc	Thatch	Asbestos	Other
Material				
				•••••

23. To what extent do you agree with the following hypothesis

Hypothesis	Strongly agree	Agree	Neither agree nor disagree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
Sea-level rise is taking place					
Sea level rise pose a danger to the natural environment					
sea level rise pose a danger to the built environment					

# Please Skip to Question 26 if you disagree with each of the hypothesis in Question 23.

24. In your opinion, what is the cause of sea level rise?

.....

25. Which kind of damage have you experienced as a result of sea-level rise?

.....

26. If your house is locate in or close to areas that are likely to be inundated or eroded owing to sea level rise, how likely would you move to a new location?

Very likely [] Likely [] Neutral [] Unlikely [] Very unlikely []

- 27. In your opinion, which of these options would be the best to prevent future impacts from sea-level rise in your community? (**Please tick only one**)
  - a. Artificial protective barriers (sea defense and levees) [ ]
  - b. Artificial protective barriers (Sand nourishment and wetland) [ ]
  - c. Relocation []
  - d. Increased housing elevation [ ]
  - e. Do nothing [ ]
  - f. Other measures.....

Factors	Very Unimportant	Not important	No opinion	Important	Very Important
	1	2	3	4	5
Sea level rise impacts become too frequent and destructive					
Safety of myself and/or my family					
Neighborhood, friends, and/or family decide to leave the area					
Property is severely damaged					
Noprovisionofadaptationmeasures(eg.shorelineprotection)					
Other, please specify:					

28. How important are the following factors in your decision to prompt you to move to a new safer location?

Factors	very unimportant	Not important	No opinion	Important	Very Important
	1	2	3	4	5
Relocation cost					
Distance to current workplace					
Job opportunities at the new location					
Availability of social amenities at the new location					
Social and family ties					
Other, please specify:					

29. How important are the following factors in your decision to move to a new safer location?

30. What type of assistance should government offer to support relocation?

.....

# THANK YOU FOR COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE!

## Appendix *B* – Questionnaire for experts in coastal ecosystems

# **Coastal Ecosystem Service Supply Assessment.**

This assessment is part of a PhD which seeks to assess sea-level rise risk in three coastal rural communities in Ghana. We would be grateful if you could rate the supply of Ecosystem Services (ES) for the selected coastal habitats using four evaluation classes: 0- Unknown, when the contribution of the habitat to provide the ES is unknown to you, 1-low, when the contribution to this ES is low or irrelevant,

2- Moderate, when the contribution is considered important but in a substantially lower magnitude than other habitats,

3- High, when the contribution is elevate and considerably higher than the average. Your expert opinion which would serve as a source of vital information for this study. Thank you.

S/N	Mangrove forest	Unknown	Low	Moderate	High
1.	Food				
2.	Material eg. fuel				
3.	Flood regulation				
4.	Water purification				
5.	Climate regulation				
6.	Nutrient recycling				
7.	Soil formation				
8.	Spiritual/religious experience				
9.	Education/Research				
10.	Recreation/Tourism				
S/N	Regularly flooded marsh (Intertidal)	Unknown	Low	Moderate	High
1.	Food				
2.	Material eg. fuel				
3.	Flood regulation				

1	Water purification				
4.					
5.	Climate regulation				
6.	Nutrient recycling				
7.	Soil formation				
8.	Spiritual/religious experience				
9.	Education/Research				
10.	Recreation/Tourism				
S/N	Coastal dunes/sandy beaches	Unknown	Low	Moderate	High
1.	Food				
2.	Material eg. fuel				
3.	Flood regulation				
4.	Water purification				
5.	Climate regulation				
6.	Nutrient recycling				
7.	Soil formation				
8.	Spiritual/religious experience				
9.	Education/Research				
10.	Recreation/Tourism				
## **Appendix** *C* – **Focus Group Discussion Guide**

## Sea level rise impacts

How has the sea level and other climatic variables changed over the past 10 year, 20 years and 30 years?

How will the sea-level change in the future?

What are the current and potential sea-level rise impacts in the community?

What is the frequency/rate of these impacts?

Do you see the sea-level rise as a threat to the community?

What are livelihood resources affected by the hazards?

## Adaptation

How do you cope or adapt to the impacts of sea-level rise? How effective are these strategies? Are these strategies sustainable? What are the constraints when undertaking adaptation strategies? Is the community prepared to relocate to a different site? If no, what are the reasons for staying in the hazard zone? If yes, what plans are put in place?

			2030				
	Wetland	D/UL	RFM	OB	OO	Total	percent
	Class						
2021	D/UL	0.9465	0.0038	0.0000	0.0129	0.9632	70.29631
	RFM	0.0000	0.1482	0.0000	0.0000	0.1482	10.81594
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.022	0.0509	0.0729	5.320391
	OO	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1859	0.1859	13.56736
	Total	0.9465	0.1520	0.022	0.2497	1.3702	100
	percent	69.0775	11.0932	1.6056	18.2236	100	
			2050				
2021	D/UL	0.9407	0.0048	0.0009	0.0168	0.9632	70.29631
	RFM	0.0000	0.1482	0.0000	0.0000	0.1482	10.81594
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0188	0.0541	0.0729	5.320391
	OO	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1859	0.1859	13.56736
	Total	0.9407	0.1530	0.0197	0.2568	1.3702	100
	percent	68.65421	11.1662	1.437746	18.74179	100	
			2070				
2021	D/UL	0.9164	0.0077	0.0177	0.0214	0.9632	70.29631
	RFM	0.0000	0.1482	0.0000	0.0000	0.1482	10.81594
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0114	0.0615	0.0729	5.320391
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1859	0.1859	13.56736
	Total	0.9164	0.1559	0.0291	0.2688	1.3702	100
	percent	66.88075	11.3779	2.123778	19.61757	100	
			2090				
2021	D/UL	0.8158	0.0301	0.0931	0.0242	0.9632	70.29631
	RFM	0.0000	0.1482	0.0000	0.0000	0.1482	10.81594
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0061	0.0668	0.0729	5.320391
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1859	0.1859	13.56736
	Total	0.8158	0.1783	0.0992	0.2769	1.3702	100
	percent	59.53875	13.0127	7.239819	20.20873	100	

Appendix D – LULC matrix in km<sup>2</sup> for different sea level scenarios in the study area Table 1: Land use/cover change matrix in km<sup>2</sup> for different sea level scenarios in Sawoma

				2030				
	Wetland	D/UL	RFM	Μ	OB	00	Total	percent
	Class							
2021	D/UL	0.8004	0.0017	0.0007	0.0036	0.0054	0.8118	12.4193
	RFM	0.0000	2.5253	0.0019	0.0000	0.0000	2.5272	38.6623
	Μ	0.0000	0.0092	2.1424	0.0000	0.0000	2.1516	32.9162
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1724	0.1013	0.2737	4.1871
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.7723	0.7723	11.8150
	Total	0.8004	2.5362	2.1450	0.1760	0.8790	6.5366	100
	percent	12.2449	38.7999	32.8152	2.6925	13.4473	100	_
				2050				
2021	D/UL	0.7904	0.0023	0.0015	0.0078	0.0098	0.8118	12.4193
	RFM	0.0000	2.5082	0.0190	0.0000	0.0000	2.5272	38.6623
	Μ	0.0000	0.0280	2.1236	0.0000	0.0000	2.1516	32.9162
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1447	0.1290	0.2737	4.1872
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.7723	0.7723	11.8150
	Total	0.7904	2.5385	2.1441	0.1525	0.9111	6.5366	100.0
	percent	12.0919	38.8352	32.8015	2.3330	13.9384	100.00	
				2070				
2021	D/UL	0.7468	0.0028	0.0113	0.0379	0.0130	0.8118	12.4193
	RFM	0.0000	2.4138	0.1134	0.0000	0.0000	2.5272	38.6623
	Μ	0.0000	0.0864	2.0652	0.0000	0.0000	2.1516	32.9162
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1291	0.1446	0.2737	4.1872
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.7723	0.7723	11.8150
	Total	0.7468	2.5030	2.1899	0.1670	0.9299	6.5366	100
	percent	11.4249	38.2921	33.5021	2.5548	14.2261	100	
				2090				
2021	D/UL	0.6592	0.0032	0.0330	0.0991	0.0173	0.8118	12.4193
	RFM	0.0000	2.2974	0.2298	0.0000	0.0000	2.5272	38.6623
	Μ	0.0000	0.2341	1.9175	0.0000	0.0000	2.1516	32.9162
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1153	0.1584	0.2737	4.1872
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.7723	0.7723	11.8150
	Total	0.6592	2.5347	2.1803	0.2144	0.9480	6.5366	100
	percent	10.0848	38.7770	33.3553	3.2800	14.5030	100	

Table 2: Land use/cover change matrix in km<sup>2</sup> for different sea level scenarios in Anlo Beach

				2030				
	Wetland	D/UL	RFM	М	OB	00	Total	percent
	Class							
2021	D/UL	0.5909	0.0006	0.0002	0.0638	0.0201	0.6756	10.9727
	RFM	0.0000	1.8198	0.0570	0.0000	0.0000	1.8768	30.4819
	Μ	0.0000	0.0110	0.8267	0.0000	0.0000	0.8377	13.6054
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.2488	0.1624	0.4112	6.6785
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	2.3558	2.3558	38.2615
	Total	0.5909	1.8314	0.8839	0.3126	2.5383	6.1571	100
	percent	9.5971	29.7445	14.3558	5.0771	41.2256	100	
				2050				
2021	D/UL	0.4949	0.0006	0.0003	0.1562	0.0236	0.6756	10.9727
	RFM	0.0000	1.7802	0.0966	0.0000	0.0000	1.8768	30.4819
	Μ	0.0000	0.0117	0.8260	0.0000	0.0000	0.8377	13.6054
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.2443	0.1669	0.4112	6.6785
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	2.3558	2.3558	38.2615
	Total	0.4949	1.7925	0.9229	0.4005	2.5463	6.1571	100
	percent	8.0379	29.1127	14.9892	6.5047	41.3555	100	
				2070				
2021	D/UL	0.2326	0.0008	0.0139	0.3821	0.0462	0.6756	10.9727
	RFM	0.0000	1.7134	0.1634	0.0000	0.0000	1.8768	30.4819
	Μ	0.0000	0.0264	0.8113	0.0000	0.0000	0.8377	13.6054
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.1891	0.2221	0.4112	6.6785
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	2.3558	2.3558	38.2615
	Total	0.2326	1.7406	0.9886	0.5712	2.6241	6.1571	100
	percent	3.7778	28.2698	16.0563	9.2771	42.6191	100	
				2090				
2021	D/UL	0.0788	0.0008	0.0477	0.5027	0.0456	0.6756	10.9727
	RFM	0.0000	0.4266	1.4502	0.0000	0.0000	1.8768	30.4819
	Μ	0.0000	0.6991	0.1386	0.0000	0.0000	0.8377	13.6054
	OB	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0737	0.3375	0.4112	6.67847
	00	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	2.3558	2.3558	38.2615
	Total	0.0788	1.1265	1.6365	0.5764	2.7389	6.1571	100
	percent	1.2798	18.2960	26.5791	9.3616	44.484	100	

Table 3: Land use/cover change matrix in km<sup>2</sup> for different sea level scenarios in Glefe-wiaboman

Variable	Mean Difference	Std. Error	Sig.	95 percent Confidence Interval	
Risk Perception				Lower Bound	Upper Bound
Sex (ref: Female)					
Male	0.066	0.235	0.797	-0.364	0.559
Age (ref: Young adult)					
Middle-aged adult	0.682	0.254	0.008	0.18	1.18
Older adult	0.986	0.353	0.005	0.29	1.68
Education (ref: No formal education)					
Primary	-0.383	0.354	0.279	-1.08	0.31
Middle School/JHS	-0.387	0.327	0.237	-1.03	0.26
Secondary School and above	-0.870	0.438	0.048	-1.73	-0.01
Household monthly income (GHC) (ref: below 100)					
101-500	0.435	0.403	0.282	-0.36	1.23
501-999	0.434	0.447	0.333	-0.45	1.31
1000 and above	0.324	0.477	0.498	0.61	1.26
Hazard Experience (ref: No)					
Yes	92.289	0.259	0.000	2.434	3.452
Elevation (ref: below 4m)					
4-9m	0.275	0.278	0.323	-0.27	0.82

## Appendix *E*– Multiple Comparisons between compositional/contextual factors and cognitive factors Table 4: Multiple Comparisons between compositional/contextual factors and cognitive factors

<9m	0.513	0.654	0.434	-0.77	1.80
Distance of house from Shoreline (ref: below 100m)					
100-300m	-1.200	0.235	0.000	-1.66	-0.74
Above 300m	0.375	0.445	0.400	-0.50	1.25
Threat Appraisal					
Sex (ref: Female)					
Male	0.886	0.357	0.347	-1.085	0.319
Age (ref: Young adult)					
Middle-aged adult	0.040	0.392	0.919	-0.81	0.73
Older adult	-0.547	0.544	0.316	-1.62	0.52
Education (ref: No formal education)					
Primary	-0.904	0.531	0.089	-1.95	0.14
Middle School/JHS	0.453	0.491	0.357	-0.51	1.42
Secondary School and above	1.072	0.657	0.104	-0.22	2.36
Household monthly income (GHC) (ref: below 100)					
101-500	-1.987	0.601	0.001	-3.17	-0.80
501-999	-2.562	0.667	0.000	-3.87	-1.25
1000 and above	-1.269	0.712	0.076	-2.67	0.13
Hazard Experience (ref: No)					
Yes	5.520	0.453	0.019	-2.430	-0.649

Elevation (ref: below 4m)					
4-9m	0.306	0.423	0.471	-0.53	1.14
<9m	-0.444	0.997	0.656	-2.41	1.52
Distance of house from Shoreline (ref: below 100m)					
100-300m	0.970	0.368	0.009	0.25	1.69
Above 300m	-0.779	0.698	0.265	-2.15	0.59
Coping Appraisal					
Sex (ref: Female)					
Male	1.364	0.343	0.244	-1.050	0.298
Age (ref: Young adult)					
Middle-aged adult	0.157	0.377	0.678	-0.58	0.90
Older adult	0.194	0.523	0.711	-0.84	1.22
Education (ref: No formal education)					
Primary	-1.148	0.516	0.027	-2.16	-0.13
Middle School/JHS	-0.804	0.478	0.093	-1.74	0.13
Secondary School and above	-0.478	0.639	0.455	-1.73	0.78
Household monthly income (GHC) (ref: below 100)					
101-500	-1.381	0.573	0.016	-2.51	-0.25
501-999	-2.585	0.636	0.000	-3.84	-1.34

1000 and above	-0.500	0.679	0.462	-1.83	0.83
Hazard Experience (ref: No)					
Yes	1.129	0.440	0.289	-1.704	0.026
Elevation (ref: below 4m)					
4-9m	0.713	0.405	0.079	-0.08	1.51
<9m	0.011	0.955	0.991	-1.87	1.89
Distance of house from Shoreline (ref: below 100m)					
100-300m	0.866	0.356	0.015	0.17	1.57
Above 300m	0.587	0.675	0.385	-0.74	1.91